

Advances in Respiratory Medicine

Formerly Pneumonologia i Alergologia Polska Edited since 1926

RESEARCH PAPER

- Persistence of post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities during the three-month follow-up
- On-admission versus in-hospital thromboembolism due to COVID-19 infection. What is the particular characteristic of those with early thrombotic events?
- · Influence of obstructive sleep apnea on right heart structure and function

BRIEF COMMUNICATION

• Prediction of three-month readmission based on haematological parameters in patients with severe COPD exacerbation

REVIEW PAPERS

- Progressive fibrosis in interstitial lung diseases proposed definition and management
- Pulmonary blastoma: a comprehensive overview of a rare entity

CASE REPORTS

- Bronchoscopic extraction of multiple endobronchial broncholiths in a patient with active pulmonary tuberculosis
- A very unusual case of interstitial lung disease
- Nintedanib-mediated improvement in CT imaging in pulmonary fibrosis associated with systemic scleroderma
- Pulmonary actinomycosis complicated by fistula of the chest wall

The Journal is indexed in the following databases: Index Medicus/Medline, EMBASE, EBSCO, Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI), Scopus, Index Copernicus 121,38 (2019), MNISW 2019 (40 points)





Advances in Respiratory Medicine

Formerly Pneumonologia i Alergologia Polska

www.journals.viamedica.pl

www.ptchp.org

This issue was prepared entirely by prof. Wojciech Piotrowski and his team. By the decision of the Main Board of the Polish Respiratory Society, prof. Adam Barczyk is the Editor-in-Chief as of 1 October.

Editor-in-Chief:

Wojciech J. Piotrowski — Łódź wojciech.piotrowski@pneumonologia.viamedica.pl

Vice Editor-In-Chief:

Claudio Pedone — Rome claudio.pedone@gmail.com

Contributing Editors:

Katarzyna Górska — Warsaw drkgorska@gmail.com Maciej Kupczyk — Łódź maciej.kupczyk@umed.lodz.pl Sebastian Majewski — Łódź sebastian.majewski@pneumonologia.viamedica.pl Sonu Sahni — New York sahni.sonu@gmail.com

Statistical Editor:

Agnieszka Skoczylas — Warsaw Michał Poznański — Łódź Łukasz Mokros — Łódź

Managing Editor: Anna Młynarczyk

Editorial Advisory Board:

Nicolino Ambrosino — Pavia, Italy Adam Antczak — Łódź, Poland Ewa Augustynowicz-Kopeć — Warsaw, Poland Halina Batura-Gabryel — Poznań, Poland Andrey Belevskiy — Moscow, Russia Wojciech Biernacki — London, Great Britain Anna Bręborowicz — Poznań, Poland Otto Burghuber — Vienna, Austria Ryszarda Chazan — Warsaw, Poland Ivane Chkhaidze — Tbilisi, Georgia Joanna Chorostowska-Wynimko — Warsaw, Poland Elżbieta Chyczewska — Białystok, Poland Enrico Maria Clini — Modena, Italy Brendan Cooper — Birmingham, Great Britain Sven-Erik Dahlén — Solna, Sweden Wilfried De Backer — Antwerp, Belgium

Anna Doboszyńska — Olsztyn, Poland Antonio M. Esquinas — Murcia, Spain Dorota Górecka — Warsaw, Poland Paweł Górski — Łódź, Poland Sylwia Hartl — Vienna, Austria Raffaele Antonelli Incalzi — Rome. Italv Renata Jankowska — Wrocław, Poland Sabina Janciauskiene — Hannover, Germany Christer Janson - Uppsala, Sweden Ewa Jassem — Gdańsk, Poland Kozui Kida — Tokyo, Japan Jerzy Kozielski — Zabrze, Poland Piotr Kuna — Łódź, Poland Jan Kuś — Warsaw, Poland . Henryk Mazurek — Rabka, Poland Florin Mihaltan — Bucharest, Romania Janusz Milanowski — Lublin, Poland Tadeusz Orłowski — Warsaw, Poland Bernard Panaszek — Wrocław, Poland Władysław Pierzchała — Katowice, Poland Tadeusz Płusa — Warsaw, Poland Venerino Poletti — Forli, İtaly Michał Poznański — Lodz, Poland Stephen Rennard — Omaha, United States Kazimierz Roszkowski — Warsaw, Poland Monika Szturmowicz — Warsaw, Poland Paweł Śliwiński — Warsaw, Poland Branislava Savic — Belgrade, Serbia Nikos Siafakas — Heraclion, Greece Dragan Subotic — Belgrad, Serbia Adam Torbicki — Otwock, Poland Michał Unger — Philadelphia, United States Arunas Valiulis — Vilnius, Lithuania Martina Vašáková — Praque, Czech Republic Jadwiga Wędzicha — London, Great Britain Elżbieta Wiatr — Warsaw, Poland Dariusz Ziora — Zabrze, Poland Zofia Zwolska — Warsaw, Poland Past Editors-in-Chief (most recent first)

Monika Szturmowicz — Warsaw Dorota Górecka — Warsaw Elżbieta Wiatr — Warsaw Tadeusz Płusa — Warsaw

Opinions presented in the articles not necessarily represent the opinions of the Editors

Advances in Respiratory Medicine (ISSN 2451–4934) is published by VM Media sp. z o.o. VM Group sp.k., ul. Świętokrzyska 73, 80–180 Gdańsk, phone: +48 58 320 94 94, fax +48 58 320 94 60, e-mail: redakcja@viamedica.pl http://www.viamedica.pl

Editorial Address: Biuro ZG PTChP, ul. Wronia 45, lok. 132, Warszawa, Poland

Advertising: For details on media opportunities within this journal please contact the advertising sales department, ul. Świętokrzyska 73, 80–180 Gdańsk, Poland, phone: +48 58 320 94 94; e-mail: dsk@viamedica.pl

The Editors accept no responsibility for the advertisement contents.

All rights reserved, including translation into foreign languages. No part of this periodical, either text or illustration, may be used in any form whatsoever. It is particularly forbidden for any part of this material to be copied or translated into a mechanical or electronic language and also to be recorded in whatever form, stored in any kind of retrieval system or transmitted, whether in an electronic or mechanical form or with the aid of photocopying, microfilm, recording, scanning or in any other form, without the prior written permission of the publisher. The rights of the publisher are protected by national copyright laws and by international conventions, and their violation will be punishable by penal sanctions.

Editorial policy and information for authors available on https://journals.viamedica.pl/public/journals/30/0B_ARM_2017_1_zasady1.pdf. Polish Ministry of Science and Higher Education score: 40 pts.



Copyright © 2021 PTChP



Formerly Pneumonologia i Alergologia Polska

www.journals.viamedica.pl

www.ptchp.org

Contents

RESEARCH PAPER

Persistence of post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities during the three-month follow-up
Ali Bin Sarwar Zubairi, Anjiya Shaikh, Syed Muhammad Zubair, Akbar Shoukat Ali, Safia Awan, Muhammad Irfan
On-admission versus in-hospital thromboembolism due to COVID-19 infection. What is the particular characteristic of those with early thrombotic events?
Somayeh Sadeghi, Elaheh Keivany, Maryam Nasirian, Peiman Nasri484
Influence of obstructive sleep apnea on right heart structure and function
Michał Harańczyk, Małgorzata Konieczyńska, Wojciech Płazak
BRIEF COMMUNICATION
Prediction of three-month readmission based on haematological parameters in patients with severe COPD exacerbation
Eduardo Garcia-Pachon, Carlos Baeza-Martinez, Sandra Ruiz-Alcaraz, Justo Grau-Delgado
REVIEW PAPERS
Progressive fibrosis in interstitial lung diseases — proposed definition and management
Magdalena Maria Martusewicz-Boros, Wojciech Jerzy Piotrowski505
Pulmonary blastoma: a comprehensive overview of a rare entity
Ioannis Tsamis, Stavroula-Porfyria Chachali, Georgia Gomatou, Ioannis Trontzas, Maria Mitsogianni, Nikolaos Syrigos, Ioannis Vamvakaris, Elias Kotteas511
CASE REPORTS
Bronchoscopic extraction of multiple endobronchial broncholiths in a patient with active pulmonary tuberculosis
Venkata Nagarjuna Maturu, Raghavender Reddy Annela, Narendra Kumar Narahari
A very unusual case of interstitial lung disease
Vikas Marwah, Robin Choudhary, Deepu Peter, Gaurav Bhati524
Nintedanib-mediated improvement in CT imaging in pulmonary fibrosis associated with systemic scleroderma
Kengo Nishino, Yuika Sasatani, Gen Ohara, Katsunori Kagohashi, Hiroaki Satoh
Pulmonary actinomycosis complicated by fistula of the chest wall
Ewa Łyżwa, Izabela Siemion-Szcześniak, Małgorzata Sobiecka, Aneta Kacprzak, Agnieszka Winiarska, Małgorzata Szołkowska, Krzysztof Karuś, Witold Tomkowski532

CLINICAL VIGNETTES

Characteristic imaging finding and spot radiological diagnosis in a young man with acute breathlessness and chest pain	
Mayank Mishra, Subodh Kumar	538
Sclerosing pneumocytoma accompanied with dilated air-containing space	
Kengo Nishino, Kesato Iguchi, Norio Takayashiki, Hiroaki Satoh	540
Unilateral multiple thoracic hydatid cysts: a rare presentation	
El Hassane Kabiri, Massine El Hammoumi, Meryem Kabiri	542
Antitubercular therapy — an uncommon side effect	
Mayank Kapur, Nitesh Gupta, Neeraj Kumar Gupta, Shibdas Chakrabarti, Rohit Kumar, Pranav Ish	544
A young female with polycythemia: Pearls in the lung	
Avneet Garg, Vinita Jindal, Khushdeep Singla, Manjot Kaur	546
LETTERS TO THE EDITOR	
Clinical studies regarding COVID-19 in Belgium	

Jelle Stans, Melina Delanghe	548
High-dose steroids for the treatment of severe COVID-19 pneumonia: the need of the hour?	
Abhishek Tandon, Vedansh Chandra	550
Inhaled budesonide for mild COVID-19. Is there more to it than just airways?	
Sahaj Rathi, Pranav Ish, Ashwini Kalantri, Shriprakash Kalantri	552
Airway management in personal protective equipment conditions	
Zubaid Rafique, Luiza Szarpak, Francesco Chirico³, Łukasz Szarpak⁵	554

Ali Bin Sarwar Zubairi¹, Anjiya Shaikh², Syed Muhammad Zubair¹, Akbar Shoukat Ali¹, Safia Awan¹, Muhammad Irfan¹

¹Department of Medicine, Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan ²Medical College, Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan

Persistence of post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities during the three-month follow-up

Abstract

Introduction: COVID-19-associated pulmonary sequalae have been increasingly reported after recovery from acute infection. Therefore, we aim to explore the charactersitics of persistent lung parenchymal abnormalities in patients with COVID-19.

Material and methods: An observational study was conducted in patients with post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities from April till September 2020. Patients ≥18 years of age with COVID-19 who were diagnosed as post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormality based on respiratory symptoms and HRCT chest imaging after the recovery of acute infection. Data was recorded on a structured pro forma, and descriptive analysis was performed using Stata version 12.1.

Results: A total of 30 patients with post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities were identified. The mean age of patients was 59.1 (SD 12.6), and 27 (90.0%) were males. Four HRCT patterns of lung parenchymal abnormalities were seen; organizing pneumonia in 10 (33.3%), nonspecific interstitial pneumonitis in 17 (56.7%), usual interstitial pneumonitis in 12 (40.0%) and probable usual interstitial pneumonitis in 14 (46.7%). Diffuse involvement was found in 15 (50.0%) patients, while peripheral predominance in 15 (50.0%), and other significant findings were seen in 8 (26.7%) patients. All individuals were treated with corticosteroids. The case fatality rate was 16.7%. Amongst the survivors, 32.0% recovered completely, 36.0% improved, while 32.0% of the patients had static or progressive disease.

Conclusion: This is the first study from Southeast Asia that identified post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities in patients who had no pre-existing lung disease highlighting the importance of timely recognition and treatment of this entity that might lead to fatal outcome.

Key words: COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2, pulmonary sequelae, lung parenchymal abnormalities

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 477-483

Introduction

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) caused by the novel coronavirus severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) has posed a global economic, psychosocial, political and medical challenge. As patients recover from COVID-19 disease, we are approaching an era where physicians would encounter COVID-19-associated pulmonary sequelae. These could be infectious, like COVID-19-associated pulmonary aspergillosis (CAPA) [1]; or noninfectious which could include COVID-19-associated

interstitial lung disease (ILD). The previous epidemics of coronavirus due to severe acute respiratory distress syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV) and middle east respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) also led to the development of pulmonary fibrosis [2, 3].

ILD covers a wide spectrum of pulmonary parenchymal disorders of both known and unknown etiology. Different radiological and histopathologic patterns of ILD have been described, some of them include usual interstitial pneumonitis (UIP), nonspecific interstitial pneumonitis (NSIP), and organizing pneumonia (OP) [4]. Similar patterns

Address for correspondence: Ali Bin Sarwar Zubairi, Section of Adult Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan; e-mail: ali.zubairi@aku.edu D0I: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0090 | Received: 08.03.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451–4934 | e-ISSN 2543–6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

can also occur as a result of pulmonary infections, like pneumocystis pneumonia or cytomegalovirus pneumonitis [5, 6].

The precise diagnosis of lung parenchymal abnormalities during COVID-19 pandemic remains challenging, mainly because invasive testing like bronchoscopies, open lung biopsies or autopsies are rarely performed in COVID-19 patients due to risk of disease transmission. Although there are multiple reports on the importance of CT in diagnosing COVID-19 infection, there is little or no data on the clinical presentation and management of patients with post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities. Mvall et al. described the cohort of pateints with persistent inflammatory interstitial lung disease with remarkable improvement on early initiation of steroids [7]. The rationale of the study was that certain patients after recovery from COVID-19 infection might present with new, persistent or worsening respiratory symptoms due to long-term COVID-19-associated pulmonary sequelae which are usually underdiagnosed. Hence via this study, we aim to emphasize that diagnosing post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities with proper follow-up is of utmost importance so that early and proper management can be facilitated and fatal outcomes can be prevented.

Material and methods

Ethical approval

Approval of the Ethical Review Committee (ERC) of the Aga Khan University Hospital located in Karachi, Pakistan was obtained.

Study design and setting

This single-center observational study was performed between April 1, 2020 and September 15, 2020 at the Aga Khan University Hospital, the largest tertiary care center located in Karachi, Pakistan. We retrospectively collected the demographic, clinical, laboratory and radiological data of patients presenting with post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities from medical records. Disease severity of patients with COVID-19 infection was classified according to the WHO classification [8]. High- resolution computed tomography (HRCT) of the chest findings, treatment and outcomes were recorded.

Study subjects

Patients who were seen in the outpatient Pulmonology clinic or inpatient consultation service at the Aga Khan University Hospital owing to persistent respiratory symptoms after recovery from COVID-19 infection were included in the study. Follow-up imaging was performed 8 to 12 weeks after recovery from acute infection and was compared with previous imaging for disease progression, improvement or resolution.

Identification of post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormality

The identification of post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormality in our study was based on "new, persistent and/or worsening of respiratory symptoms and identification of lung parenchymal abnormality pattern on HRCT imaging of the chest after the initial recovery phase of acute COVID-19 infection defined as 8 to 12 weeks after the onset of infection with no previous history of lung disease. They were identified by specialists in ILD clinic or on inpatient consultation".

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Adult patients (aged 18 and above) who were confirmed for SARS-CoV-2 by nasopharyngeal and/or oropharyngeal swabs for real-time RT-PCR at initial presentation and underwent chest imaging on subsequent follow-up visits were included in our study. The patients with pre-existing lung disease and those with incomplete medical records were excluded.

Operational definition of outcomes

We have defined outcomes as complete recovery, improvement and progression of the disease process. The patients were labelled as completely recovered if they returned to their baseline functional status and chest imaging showed complete clearance of lung infiltrates after the identification of post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities. Improvement was defined as subjective improvement in functional status but not to the baseline and at least 50% clearance of radiological infiltrates. The patients whose symptoms persisted with interval worsening of functional status and no significant improvement or worsening of lung infiltrates were defined as progression of the disease process.

HRCT chest analysis

The key HRCT chest findings of post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities were defined using standard taxonomy described in the literature with interstitial patterns including but not limited to diffuse ground-glass opacities with or without traction bronchiectasis (NSIP), basal and peripheral reticular opacities with honey combing (UIP) and peripheral and peribronchovascular consolidation with or without ground-glass opacities (OP) [9]. The main HRCT findings were described as ground-glass opacities (GGO), consolidation, honeycombing/fibrosis and interlobular septal thickening/reticulation. Other HRCT findings included crazy paving, reverse halo sign, traction bronchiectasis and emphysematous cysts. The distribution of pulmonary involvement was reported as either peripheral or diffuse.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using STATA version 12.1 (StataCorp LLC, College

Table	1.	Clinical and demographic characteristics of	of pa-
		tients with post-COVID lung parenchymal a	abnor-
		malities (n $=$ 30)	

Variables	Findings
Age [years], mean \pm SD	59.1 ± 12.6
Gender, n (%)	
Male	27 (90.0)
Female	3 (10.0)
Comorbidities, n (%)	
Diabetes mellitus	14 (46.7)
Hypertension	13 (43.3)
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	1 (3.3)
Chronic liver disease	1 (3.3)
Malignancy	1 (3.3)
Ischemic heart disease	1 (3.3)
Inflammatory bowel disease	1 (3.3)
Chronic kidney disease	1 (3.3)
Smoking, n (%)	
Current smokers	3 (10.0)
Ex-smokers	8 (26.7)
Non-smokers	19 (63.3)
Symptoms on presentation with COVID-19,	n (%)
Fever	30 (100)
Shortness of breath	23 (76.7)
Cough	19 (63.3)
Fatigue	9 (30.0)
Headache	2 (6.7)
Persistent respiratory symptoms, n (%)	
Poreistant cough	12 (12 2)
Persistent shortness of breath	20 (96 7)
Sourceity of COVID 10 Diagona on initial pro-	25 (50.7)
Sevency of COVID-19 Disease on Inicial pre	Sentation, II (%)
Non-severe	0 (0)
Severe	16 (53.7)
Critically ill	14 (46.7)
Treatment given for post-COVID lung paren abnormalities, n (%)	chymal
Home oxygen	28 (93.3)
Prednisolone	30 (100.0)
Pirfenidone	2 (6.7)

COVID-19 — coronavirus disease 2019; SD — standard deviation

Station, Texas, USA). Quantitative data were presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) or as median with inter-quartile range (IQR), while percentages of the total, unless stated otherwise, were used to represent qualitative (categorical) data.

Results

As shown in Table 1, our cohort included 30 patients, 27 were males (90.0%) with an average age of 59.14 ± 12.60 . Common presenting symptoms of COVID-19 disease were fever (30, 100.0%), cough (19, 63.3%) and shortness of breath (23, 76.7%). During initial COVID-19 disease, 16 (53.3%) patients had severe disease and 14 (46.7%) had critically ill disease. All individuals required supplemental oxygen. Out of 14 critically ill patients, 12 (85.7%) were treated with non-invasive ventilation (NIV) and 2 (14.3%) patients were treated with invasive mechanical ventilation.

All patients in our cohort were found to have bilateral lung disease. Four HRCT patterns of lung parenchymal abnormalities were seen (Table 2). Diffuse involvement was found in 15 (50.0%) patients, while peripheral predominance in 15 (50.0%) and other significant findings were seen in 8 (26.7%) study subjects.

All patients were treated with corticosteroids (0.5–1 mg/kg/day) for average duration of 8 to 12 weeks. Two individuals were treated with pirfenidone for fibrotic lung disease. Home oxygen was needed in 28 (93.3%) patients.

Table 2. Radiological patterns of post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities (n = 30)

Variables	Findings					
Main findings, n (%)						
Patchy consolidation with ground glass	10 (33.3)					
opacity (OP pattern)						
Diffuse ground glass opacities	17 (56.7)					
(NSIP pattern)						
Honeycombing/Fibrosis (UIP pattern)	12 (40.0)					
Interlobular Septal Thickening/Reticulation	14 (46.7)					
(probable UIP)						
Distribution, n (%)						
Peripheral	15 (50.0)					
Diffuse	15 (50.0)					
Other findings, n (%)						
Crazy paving	2 (6.7)					
Reverse halo sign	1 (3.3)					
Traction bronchiectasis	4 (13.3)					
Emphysematous cysts	1 (3.3)					

COVID-19 — coronavirus disease 2019; OP — organizing pneumonia; NSIP — nonspecific interstitial pneumonia; UIP — usual interstitial pneumonia

A total of eight subjects had pulmonary functions test (PFT). Median and IQR of forced vital capacity (FVC) was 92.5% (43.2%–102.7%). Four patients had normal pulmonary functions. However, three persons had reduced FVC. Diffusion capacity of the lungs for carbon monoxide (DL_{CO}) was done in three cases, out of which two patients had moderately reduced and one individual had normal DL_{CO} .

Five patients died during the disease course; 4 (80.0%) patients died due to hypoxic respiratory failure, while 1 (20.0%) succumbed to superimposed aspergillus infection. Majority of the study subjects who died; 3 (60.0%), had progressive disease with UIP pattern. The CT images of 3 patients with different patterns of lung parenchymal abnormalities are shown in Figure 1–3. Out of the 25 alive patients, 8 (32.0%) recovered completely, 9 (36.0%) improved, while 8 (32.0%) patients had static or progressive disease.

Discussion

Our study found four distinct lung parenchymal abnormalities associated with COVID-19 disease. Development of lung parenchymal abnormalities amongst survivors of COVID-19 disease has been reported during the ongoing pandemic, however, data is limited to case reports [10–12]. Literature from the previous outbreaks of viral infections such as SARS and MERS, in 2002 and 2012 respectively, reported that clinico-radiological changes persisted in approximately one-third of patients even after 12 weeks of discharge [2, 3].

The majority of our patients who developed lung parenchymal abnormalities were males, which is reported in literature with certain ILDs-like idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis [13, 14]. COVID-19-associated fibrosis is one of the lung insults already described with previous coronavirus infections [2, 3], and there are emerging studies now reporting COVID-19- associated early pulmonary fibrosis. In the initial papers, Pan et al. and Zhou et al. reported fibrotic changes in the imaging features of patients with COVID-19 pneumonia [15, 16]. Since then, fibrotic lung parenchymal remodelling [17, 18], fibrosing diffuse alveolar damage (DAD) [19] and honeycombing [20] have also been confirmed after invasive testing such as cryobiopsies and autopsies in smaller cohorts. Li Yan et al. described DAD on autopsy of 30 patients with COVID-19, showing 43% developing fibrosing patterns while 25% showing organizing pattern [19].

Post-infectious secondary OP is also a known entity, well described with certain viruses like Cytomegalovirus and Influenza-A (H1N1) [6, 21]. Pathology in patients who recovered from SARS-CoV has shown fibrogranulation tissue proliferation and organizing pneumonia-like patterns [22] while MERS-associated organizing pneumonia has also been documented [23, 24]. Studies of COVID-19 CT imaging, coupled with postmortem lung biopsies and autopsies during the ongoing pandemic, suggest the development of a secondary OP, which at present remains an underrecognized complication [25].

A distinct feature of organizing pneumonia and NSIP is the resolution with corticosteroid treatment. Although the use of corticosteroids has been recommended in the treatment of COVID-19 disease [26], there is limited data on response of prolonged or higher dose corticoste-



Figure 1. HRCT of the chest showing **A**. ground glass opacities (GGOs) and interlobular septal thickening (yellow arrow showing GGOs and septal thickening); and **B**. interval reduction in GGOs and septal thickening after initiation of corticosteroids



Figure 2. HRCT of the chest of showing **A**. peripheral patchy areas ground glass opacities (GGOs) with consolidation consistent with an OP (organizing pneumonia) pattern (yellow arrow pointing towards peripheral patchy GGOs); and **B**. near complete resolution of peripheral patchy consolidation after initiation of corticosteroids



Figure 3. HRCT of the chest showing **A**. honeycombing and reticulation (yellow arrow showing honeycombing); and **B**. persistent and worsening of honeycomb fibrosis (yellow arrow showing honeycombing)

roids in post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities. Myall *et al.* described the cohort of pateints in which thirty individuals with post-COVID organising pneumonia pattern were treated with corticosteroids with significant improvement [7].

In our cohort, most patients developed a predominant OP or NSIP pattern with severe to critically ill disease. Most persons with an OP and NSIP pattern improved significantly with steroids, showing both clinical and radiological improvement. The patients showing UIP pattern, however, largerly remained static or progressed. Majority of the deaths in our cohort were in the patients showing UIP pattern. Disease severity did not seem to have a significant impact on development of any particular pattern of lung parenchymal abnormality. This proves that these reported lung microstructure changes are not only a result of post-ARDS fibrosis or ventilator-induced lung damage, but also a consequence of the direct virus-induced injury and aberrant local immune response leading to lung parenchymal abnormalities. Combet *et al.* recently described a case of a spontaneously breathing patient who developed rapid honeycombing following COVID-19 disease which responded to high-dose steroids and nintedanib [27]. Tale *et al.* also reported a similar case of a patient with

persistent hypoxemia after recovery from moderate COVID-19 disease with 3-week follow-up HRCT showing artitechtural distortion, interlobar septal thickening and traction bronchiectasis [28]. These case reports reiterate our stance that predisposed patients who are moderately ill, and do not require mechanical ventilation can also develop early fibrotic changes. However, study conducted by Han *et al.* had findings contrary to that of ours. They extrapolated that in patients with age greater than 50, increased heart rate on admission, increased duration of hospital stay, non-invasive mechanical ventilation and extensive CT involvement at initial CT were risk factors for fibrotic changes at 6-month follow-up [29]. Post-viral pulmonary fibrosis associated with previous coronaviruses has been seen in patients with critical disease leading to ARDS with longer duration of illness requiring ICU stay and invasive mechanical ventilation [2]. However, SARS-CoV-2 has shown to induce fibrosis in patients who did not require invasive mechanical ventilation or ICU stay in our study.

To the best of our knowledge, this is a first case series emphasizing and presenting data of 30 patients with different patterns of post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities along with their follow-up from a low to middle income country.

Our study has several limitations which include, among others, the absence of histopathologic confirmation of lung parenchymal abnormalities. Transbronchial and open lung biopsies were not performed due to the cost, invasive nature of procedure and risk of transmission of COVID-19; therefore, our patients were diagnosed solely on clinical and radiological grounds. A limited number of PFTs and DL_{CO} were performed to assess the physiologic function.

Conclusion

Post-COVID lung parenchymal abnormalities are an increasingly recognized clinical entity. A close follow-up is essential in these patients, as they may require prolonged treatment with corticosteroids in relatively higher doses. The long-term effects of post-COVID lung sequelae are yet to be determined, and a longitudinal follow-up will help us further explore the nature of the disease.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

Approval of the Ethical Review Committee (ERC) of the Aga Khan University Hospital located in Karachi, Pakistan was obtained (ERC Reference # 2020-5269-11494) and informed consent requirement was waived because of retrospective nature of the study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References:

- Nasir N, Farooqi J, Mahmood SF, et al. COVID-19-associated pulmonary aspergillosis (CAPA) in patients admitted with severe COVID-19 pneumonia: An observational study from Pakistan. Mycoses. 2020; 63(8): 766–770, doi: <u>10.1111/myc.13135</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32585069</u>.
- Das KM, Lee EY, Singh R, et al. Follow-up chest radiographic findings in patients with MERS-CoV after recovery. Indian J Radiol Imaging. 2017; 27(3): 342–349, doi: <u>10.4103/ijri.</u> <u>IJRI_469_16</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29089687</u>.
- Venkataraman T, Frieman MB. The role of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signaling in SARS coronavirus-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Antiviral Res. 2017; 143: 142–150, doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2017.03.022, indexed in Pubmed: 28390872.
- Azadeh N, Limper AH, Carmona EM, et al. The role of infection in interstitial lung diseases: A review. Chest. 2017; 152(4): 842–852, doi: <u>10.1016/j.chest.2017.03.033</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28400116</u>.
- Cuadrado MM, Ahmed A, Carpenter B, et al. Cytomegalovirus pneumonitis complicated by a central peribronchial pattern of organising pneumonia. Respir Med Case Rep. 2017; 20: 184–187, doi: <u>10.1016/j.rmcr.2017.02.005</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28316929</u>.
- Messina M, Scichilone N, Guddo F, et al. Rapidly progressive organising pneumonia associated with cytomegalovirus infection in a patient with psoriasis. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis. 2007; 67(3): 165–168, doi: <u>10.4081/monaldi.2007.489</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>18018757</u>.
- Myall KJ, Mukherjee B, Castanheira AM, et al. Persistent post-COVID-19 interstitial lung disease. An observational study of corticosteroid treatment. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2021; 18(5): 799–806, doi: <u>10.1513/AnnalsATS.202008-1002OC</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33433263</u>.
- WHO. COVID-19 Clinical management: living guidance. 2021. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoVclinical-2021-1.
- Demedts M, Costabel U. ATS/ERS international multidisciplinary consensus classification of the idiopathic interstitial pneumonias. Eur Respir J. 2002; 19(5): 794–796, doi: <u>10.1183/09031936.02.00492002</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>12030715</u>.
- Hani C, Trieu NH, Saab I, et al. COVID-19 pneumonia: A review of typical CT findings and differential diagnosis. Diagn Interv Imaging. 2020; 101(5): 263–268, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>diii.2020.03.014</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32291197</u>.
- Okamori S, Lee Ho, Kondo Y, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019-associated rapidly progressive organizing pneumonia with fibrotic feature: Two case reports. Medicine (Baltimore). 2020; 99(35): e21804, doi: <u>10.1097/MD.00000000021804</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32871900</u>.
- Wu Y, Xie YL, Wang X. Longitudinal CT findings in COVID-19 pneumonia: case presenting organizing pneumonia pattern. Radiol Cardiothorac Imaging. 2020; 2(1): e200031, doi: <u>10.1148/ryct.2020200031</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33778545</u>.
- Kalafatis D, Gao J, Pesonen I, et al. Gender differences at presentation of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis in Sweden. BMC Pulm Med. 2019; 19(1): 222, doi: <u>10.1186/s12890-019-0994-4</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31771560</u>.
- Fernández Pérez ER, Daniels CE, Schroeder DR, et al. Incidence, prevalence, and clinical course of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a population-based study. Chest. 2010; 137(1):

129–137, doi: <u>10.1378/chest.09-1002</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>19749005</u>.

- Pan Y, Guan H, Zhou S, et al. Initial CT findings and temporal changes in patients with the novel coronavirus pneumonia (2019-nCoV): a study of 63 patients in Wuhan, China. Eur Radiol. 2020; 30(6): 3306–3309, doi: <u>10.1007/s00330-020-</u> <u>06731-x</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32055945</u>.
- Zhou S, Zhu T, Wang Y, et al. CT Features of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pneumonia in 62 Patients in Wuhan, China. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2020; 214(6): 1287–1294, doi: <u>10.2214/AJR.20.22975</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32134681</u>.
- Grillo F, Barisione E, Ball L, et al. Lung fibrosis: an undervalued finding in COVID-19 pathological series. Lancet Infect Dis. 2021; 21(4): e72, doi: <u>10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30582-X</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32735785</u>.
- Chen JY, Qiao K, Liu F, et al. Lung transplantation as therapeutic option in acute respiratory distress syndrome for coronavirus disease 2019-related pulmonary fibrosis. Chin Med J (Engl). 2020; 133(12): 1390–1396, doi: 10.1097/ CM9.000000000000839, indexed in Pubmed: 32251003.
- Li Y, Wu J, Wang S, et al. Progression to fibrosing diffuse alveolar damage in a series of 30 minimally invasive autopsies with COVID-19 pneumonia in Wuhan, China. Histopathology. 2021; 78(4): 542–555, doi: <u>10.1111/his.14249</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32926596</u>.
- Schwensen HF, Borreschmidt LK, Storgaard M, et al. Fatal pulmonary fibrosis: a post-COVID-19 autopsy case. J Clin Pathol. 2020 [Epub ahead of print], doi: <u>10.1136/jclinpath-2020-206879</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32723800</u>.
- Torrego A, Pajares V, Mola A, et al. Influenza A (H1N1) organising pneumonia. BMJ Case Rep. 2010; 2010, doi: <u>10.1136/</u> <u>bcr.12.2009.2531</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>22736390</u>.

- Hwang DM, Chamberlain DW, Poutanen SM, et al. Pulmonary pathology of severe acute respiratory syndrome in Toronto. Mod Pathol. 2005; 18(1): 1–10, doi: <u>10.1038/modpathol.3800247</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>15272286</u>.
- Ajlan AM, Ahyad RA, Jamjoom LG, et al. Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) infection: chest CT findings. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2014; 203(4): 782–787, doi: 10.2214/AJR.14.13021, indexed in Pubmed: 24918624.
- 24. Kim I, Lee JE, Kim KH, et al. Successful treatment of suspected organizing pneumonia in a patient with Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection: a case report. J Thorac Dis. 2016; 8(10): E1190–E1194, doi: <u>10.21037/jtd.2016.09.26</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>27867585</u>.
- Kory P, Kanne JP. SARS-CoV-2 organising pneumonia: ,Has there been a widespread failure to identify and treat this prevalent condition in COVID-19?'. BMJ Open Respir Res. 2020; 7(1), doi: 10.1136/bmjresp-2020-000724, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32963028</u>.
- Horby P, Lim WS, Emberson JR, et al. RECOVERY Collaborative Group. Dexamethasone in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. N Engl J Med. 2021; 384(8): 693–704, doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa2021436</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32678530</u>.
- Combet M, Pavot A, Savale L, et al. Rapid onset honeycombing fibrosis in spontaneously breathing patient with COVID-19. Eur Respir J. 2020; 56(2), doi: <u>10.1183/13993003.01808-2020</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32631838</u>.
- Tale S, Ghosh S, Meitei SP, et al. Post-COVID-19 pneumonia pulmonary fibrosis. QJM. 2020; 113(11): 837–838, doi: <u>10.1093/qjmed/hcaa255</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32814978</u>.
- Han X, Fan Y, Alwalid O, et al. Six-month follow-up chest CT findings after severe COVID-19 pneumonia . Radiology. 2021; 299(1): E177–E186, doi: <u>10.1148/radiol.2021203153</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33497317</u>.

Somayeh Sadeghi^{1, 2}, Elaheh Keivany³, Maryam Nasirian^{2, 5}, Peiman Nasri^{4, 5}

¹Acquired Immunodeficiency Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

²Infectious Diseases and Tropical Medicine Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

³Department of Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

⁴Metabolic Liver Disease Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran ⁵Child Growth and Development Research Center, Research Institute for Primordial Prevention of Non-communicable Disease, Emam Hossein Children's Hospital, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

On-admission versus in-hospital thromboembolism due to COVID-19 infection. What is the particular characteristic of those with early thrombotic events?

Abstract

Introduction: Increasing evidence has declared a hypercoagulable state in the coronavirus 2019 infection (COVID-19), while the etiology has remained a question. For the first time, the current study has aimed to compare the contributors of thromboembolism among those whose primary manifestations of COVID-19 were thrombosis vs the patients with a thrombotic event during the period of hospitalization.

Material and methods: This case-control study has been conducted on 267 COVID-19 patients, including 59, 48, and 160 ones with an on-admission, in-hospital, and without a thrombotic event, respectively. The events were defined as deep vein thrombosis (DVT), ischemic cerebrovascular accidents (CVA), pulmonary thromboembolism (PTE), or acute myocardial infarction (AMI). The demographic, physical examination, clinical and laboratory assessments of the groups were compared.

Results: The DVT (OR: 5.18; 95% CI: 1.01–26.7), AMI (OR: 11.1; 95% CI: 2.36–52.3), and arterial thrombosis (OR: 5.93; 95% CI: 0.63–55.8) were significantly associated with an on-admission thrombosis compared to those who presented in-hospital events. Lower levels of oxygen saturation were the only significant predictor index inversely associated with on-admission thrombosis compared to those with an event during the hospital admission period.

Conclusion: PTE development was the most common in-hospital thrombotic event, whereas other thromboembolism types were remarkably more often among cases with on-admission events. Oxygen saturation was the only predictor of premature thrombosis that was inversely associated with outpatient events.

Key words: COVID-19, thrombophilia, thromboembolism, SARS-CoV-2, case-control studies

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 484-492

Introduction

The pandemic of the novel coronavirus infection (COVID-19) is still progressing worldwide and is the underlying etiology of numerous daily deaths since December 2019 [1]. COVID-19 presentation varies from asymptomatic courses in 30–40% of the cases. Of those symptomatic ones, 81% experience a mild disease, 14% are moderate cases, and the remained 5% develop intense endothelial activation with exuberant inflammatory response, a remarkable cytokine release associated with Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) and multiple organ failure (MOF). The overall fatality of COVID-19 accounts for 2.3% [2, 3].

An increasing body of evidence declares that patients with COVID-19 are predisposed to venous and arterial thrombosis [4]. The mecha-

Address for correspondence: Peiman Nasri, Metabolic Liver Disease Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran; e-mail: peiman94157@gmail.com DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0083 | Received: 03.05.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451–4934 | e-ISSN 2543–6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

nism by which the patients are at a hypercoagulable state is not well-recognized; nevertheless, it may link to overactivation of neutrophil traps and platelets, proinflammatory cytokine release, endothelial dysfunction, and complement activation [5–7].

Due to an increasing trend in the number of confirmed cases with severe COVID-19, numerous reports have been emerged suggesting that the patients with severe courses of COVID-19, requiring hospitalization, intensive care unit (ICU) admission, and in general, critically ill patients are at significantly increased risk of thrombotic events development [8, 9]. Nevertheless, a paucity of knowledge is available regarding thrombosis incidence among mild-to-moderate cases who have developed on-admission thrombosis [10].

Thromboprophylaxis is a debating issue among COVID-19 patients; however, inadequate evidence for anticoagulant agents' routine use is available [11–13]. The current study aims to compare the characteristics of the COVID-19 patients with thrombosis on admission, during the period of hospital admission and with no thrombotic event, to make a thorough vision of thromboprophylaxis necessity in target populations.

Material and methods

Study population

The current case-control study has been conducted on 267 patients in three groups, including 59 ones with an on-admission thrombotic event, 48 ones with thrombosis during hospitalization, and 160 ones without any thromboembolism. This multicentric study has been performed among the patients admitted at Amin and Alzahra Hospitals (affiliated at Isfahan University of Medical Sciences) due to SARS-CoV-2 from May to June 2020.

This study met the Helsinki ethics declaration criteria and was derived from the approved proposal by Isfahan University of Medical Sciences Ethics Committed by code IR.MUI.MED. REC.1399.692. Written consent was obtained from the patients if possible; or by their legal guardians.

The case groups were selected from the patients with any thrombotic event, including deep vein thrombosis (DVT), ischemic cerebrovascular accidents (CVA), pulmonary thromboembolism (PTE), or myocardial infarction (MI) whose COVID-19 infection was approved by a positive polymerase chain reaction (PCR) test. The participants who met the inclusion criteria entered into the study using convenience sampling. The cases were divided into two groups, including on-admission thromboembolism, defined as admission due to any of the above events or thrombosis incidence by the first two days of hospitalization; otherwise, assigned as those with thromboembolism during the period of hospital admission.

Similar criteria were adopted for the control group.

Pregnancy, immune deficiency, history of coagulopathies, and a thromboembolic event within a month before the hospitalization regardless of its type (DVT, PTE, CVA, or MI) were determined as the exclusion criteria.

Diagnosis of thrombotic events

Presentations compatible with Well's criteria with a confirmatory Doppler ultrasonography were administered to make a DVT diagnosis [14]. Suspicion of PTE due to clinical manifestation was confirmed using computed tomographic pulmonary angiography (CTPA) [15]. Acute MI was defined as ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) or non-STEMI according to a typical chest pain plus a significant increase in highly-sensitive troponin as a sensitive and specific cardiac biomarker. ST-segment elevation in two or more electrocardiogram leads indicating the involvement of a particular epicardial territorv or new-onset left bundle branch block (LBBB) was defined as STEMI; otherwise, non-STEMI. Hemiplegia, facial hemiparesis, or dysarthria with a CT scan compatible with an ischemic CVA were the CVA determinants.

The included patients received anti-COVID-19 infection and anticoagulation therapies according to Iran's national guidelines.

Data collection

The demographic characteristics, including age, gender, smoking, comorbidities (diabetes mellitus (DM), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), end-stage renal disease (ESRD), any malignancy, cerebrovascular accidents (CVA), ischemic heart disease (IHD), and history of PTE), smoking and medical history, were entered into the study checklist.

On admission, hemodynamic information (oxygen saturation, pulse rate, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, respiratory rate, and mobility) and laboratory assessments (complete blood count, albumin, ferritin, C-reactive protein (CRP), d-dimer, prothrombin time (PT), partial thromboplastin time (PTT), international normalized ratio (INR), fibrinogen, troponin, and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH)) were recorded in the study checklist as well. A reference laboratory did all the assessments to minimize the potential bias.

The course of disease severity was defined according to an on-admission level of oxygen saturation; therefore, oxygen saturation > 93%, 90-93%, and < 90% were determined as mild, moderate, and severe diseases.

Anticoagulation in the studied group was classified as no anticoagulant therapy, prophylactic, intermediate dose, and therapeutic dose. The remedies were initiated before thrombosis incidence. Prophylactic doses included 5000 IU subcutaneous unfractionated heparin (UFH) (3 times a day) [for BMI > 40 kg/m²:7500 IU subcutaneous UFH (three times a day)] or 40 mg subcutaneous enoxaparin (once daily) (for $BMI > 40 \text{ kg/m}^2:40 \text{ mg}$ subcutaneous enoxaparin (twice daily)) was administered. Intermediate doses included 7500 IU subcutaneous UFH (three times a day) or 60 mg subcutaneous enoxaparin (daily). The therapeutic doses were determined as 80 IU/kg UFH bolus infusion followed by 18 IU/kg/h UFH infusion or 1 mg/kg subcutaneous enoxaparin (twice daily). The doses were defined according to national protocols. The anticoagulant-related adverse effects. including gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding, hemoptysis, hematuria, were recorded. The other probable side effects such as easy bruising, petechiae, or purpura were categorized as other.

The latter outcomes were ICU admission requirement, discharge/death, and non-invasive ventilation (NIV)/ intubation.

Data analysis

The obtained data were entered into the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS; version 22.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The descriptive data were presented in mean, standard deviation, median, range for the continuous variable, and frequency and percentages for categorical variables. Regarding the three separate primary case-control studies, we aimed to compare the groups in pairs (without thrombotic event group with thrombose on admission group; without thrombotic event group with thrombosis during hospital group, thrombosis during hospital with thrombose on admission group). As the sample size in the two groups was less than 100, the normality of the data was assessed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests. Since the distribution of some variables was not normal, nonparametric tests were used. The chi-square test or Fisher's exact test was utilized to compare the categorical variables between the groups. The continuous variables were compared using the Mann-Whitney U test. Binary logistic regression analysis was applied to estimate the odds ratio and determine the association between the assessed factors and thrombotic events in the crude and adjusted model. Logistic regression was separately constructed for each of the factors in the crude model, while all variables were entered together in the adjusted model. In addition, logistic regression models were verified in terms of goodness of fit by -2 log-likelihood. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered as a significant level.

Results

The current study has been conducted on 267 COVID-19 patients. In-hospital thromboembolism was significantly more frequent in males than in controls (p = 0.006). Among the hemodynamic parameters, oxygen saturation (p = 0.020) and respiratory rate (p = 0.021) were statistically different between those with thrombosis during the hospitalization period and the controls, but not the other groups. Mobility status was another significant difference among the studied groups. The laboratory parameters assessments revealed a remarkable difference in neutrophil, lymphocyte, and platelet counts, albumin, ferritin, d-dimer, INR, fibrinogen, troponin, and LDH levels. PTE incidence (p < 0.0001) was the primary type of event in those who experienced thromboembolism during hospitalization, whereas AMI was statistically more frequent among those with on-admission thrombosis (p = 0.003). The severity of COVID-19, anticoagulation and respiratory aid type were remarkably associated with thrombosis incidence (p < 0.05) (Table 1).

The time assessments revealed significant correlations between symptom initiation to admission and thrombosis incidence, the period between hospitalization to ICU admission, and the period between hospitalization to discharge or death (p < 0.05) (Table 2).

DVT, MI, and arterial thrombosis were significantly associated with on-admission thrombosis compared to those who presented any thrombotic event during hospitalization. Lower levels of oxygen saturation were the only significant predictor index inversely associated with on-admission thrombosis compared to those with an event during the hospital admission period.

Discussion

Patients with COVID-19 infection are typically admitted to the hospital because of respi-

	Group 1.	Group 2.	Group 3.		P-value	
	coviD-19 with throm- botic events on admission (n = 59)	coviD-19 with throm- botic events during ho- spitalization (n = 48)	without thrombotic events (n = 160)	1.2	1.3	2.3
Demographic						
Age-year mean (SD)	61.8 (17.8)	63.2 (18.8)	58.8 (17.8)	0.690	0.261	0.134
Gender-male, n (%)	37 (62.2)	36 (75.0)	84 (52.5)	0.175	0.178	0.006*
Comorbidities, n (%)						
Diabetes	15 (25.4)	8 (18.2)	37 (23.1)	0.383	0.723	0.484
COPD	1 (1.7)	0 (0)	6 (3.8)	0.381	0.453	0.192
ESRD	2 (3.4)	1 (2.3)	13 (8.1)	0.739	0.218	0.174
Malignancy	1 (1.7)	1 (2.3)	10 (6.3)	0.833	0.171	0.301
CVA	4 (6.8)	3 (6.8)	8 (5.0)	0.994	0.608	0.636
IHD	15 (25.4)	13 (29.6)	25 (15.6)	0.642	0.096	0.036*
PTE history	1 (1.7)	0 (0)	1 (0.63)	0.386	0.460	0.599
Smoking, n (%)	8 (13.6)	3 (6.8)	1 (10.6)	0.273	0.545	0.452
Pre-hospitalization medication — n (%)						
None	35 (59.3)	31 (64.6)	118 (73.8)	0.578	0.039*	0.217
Aspirin	19 (32.2)	10 (20.8)	28 (17.5)	0.188	0.019*	0.600
Clopidogrel	4 (6.8)	1 (2.1)	0 (0)	0.252	0.001*	0.067
Prophylaxis anticoagulant	2 (3.4)	3 (6.3)	3 (1.9)	0.486	0.506	0.112
Anticoagulant therapy	1 (1.7)	0 (0)	3 (1.9)	0.365	0.930	0.339
On-admission clinical presentations						
O2 saturation, mean (SD)	84.2 (10.8)	80.9 (10.8)	86.3 (8.1)	0.620	0.800	0.020*
Pulse rate, mean (SD)	95.3 (21.2)	90.1 (15.2)	92.6 (19.8)	0.376	0.147	0.950
Pulse rate $>$ 100, n (%)	19 (32.2)	12 (25.0)	35 (21.9)	0.414	0.116	0.650
Systolic blood pressure mean (SD)	121.4 (18.1)	125 (19.2)	124 (20.6)	0.851	0.570	0.622
Systolic blood pressure $<$ 90 mm Hg, n (%)	2 (3.4)	0 (0)	4 (2.5)	0.198	0.720	0.269
Diastolic blood pressure, mean (SD)	76.4 (12.7)	78.3 (14.3)	75.6 (14.4)	0.985	0.464	0.249
Diastolic blood pressure $<$ 60 mm Hg, n (%)	4(6.8)	0 (0)	5 (3.1)	0.066	0.227	0.215
Respiratory rate, n (%)	23.3 (7.3)	25.7 (5.4)	23.7 (6.2)	0.078	0.856	0.021*
RBR	17 (28.8)	23 (47.9)	83 (51.9)	0.042*	0.002*	0.630
CBR	48 (81.4)	37 (77.1)	101 (63.1)	0.587	0.010*	0.073
On admission, laboratory characteristics						
Neutrophil count, median (IQR)	8160 (5753–12288)	5760 (5005–9120)	5430 (3289–8562)	0.006*	< 0.0001*	0.656
Lymphocyte count, median (IQR)	1117 (787–1428)	700 (607– 832)	963 (700–1385)	< 0.0001*	0.03 *	< 0.0001*
LNR, median (IQR)	7.3 (4.2–13.3)	8.5 (6.2–13.9)	5.3 (3.17–8.9)	0.434	0.062	0.001*
Hemoglobin (g/dL), median (IQR)	12.4 (10–13.6)	13.1 (11.2–14.8)	13.1 (11.6-14.3)	0.232	0.174	0.984
Platelet× 10 ^ -3, median (IQR)	211 (147–272)	174 (135–240)	171 (137–227)	0.096	0.030*	0.929
Albumin [g/dL], median (IQR)	3.4 (3.0–3.5)	3.1 (2.9–3.6)	3.5 (3.1–3.9)	0.151	0.002*	0.008*

Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristic of the studied population

	Group 1.	Group 2.	Group 3.	P-value		
	COVID-19 with throm- botic events on admission (n = 59)	COVID-19 with throm- botic events during ho- spitalization (n = 48)	COVID-19 without thrombotic events (n = 160)	1.2	1.3	2.3
On admission, laboratory characteristics						
CRP, n (%)	82 (47–111)	96 (40–127)	63 (21–104)	0.768	0.112	0.198
D-dimer [ng/mL], median (IQR)	3307 (2238– 6766)	3500 (1076–6824)	1491 (859–3175)	0.849	< 0.0001*	0.010*
INR, median (IQR)	1.2 (1.1–1.4)	1.2 (1.1–1.4)	0.95 (1.1–1.3)	0.655	< 0.0001*	0.012*
PT [s], median (IQR)	13.5 (11.8–15.3)	13.1 (11.6–15.6)	12.7 (11.4–14.1)	0.928	0.437	0.128
PTT [s], median (IQR)	29 (28–33)	30 (28–35)	31 (28–34)	0.407	0.032*	0.442
FDP [μ g/mL], median (IQR)	25 (25–28)	25 (22–27)	25 (18–36)	0.677	0.588	0.549
Fibrinogen [mg/dL], median (IQR)	339 (224–421)	249 (210–285)	339 (243–415)	0.117	0.923	0.003*
Troponin [ng/mL], median (IQR)	36 (7–942)	9 (1–108)	8 (2–20)	0.147	0.007*	1.000
LDH [IU/L], median (IQR)	897 (622–1331)	951 (668–1208)	725 (576–1024)	0.476	0.105	0.009*
Thrombosis type, n (%)						
PTE	29 (49.2)	43 (89.6)	-	< 0.0001*	-	-
DVT	7 (11.8)	2 (4.2)	-	0.182	-	-
MI	15 (25.4)	2 (4.2)	-	0.003*	-	-
CVA	4 (6.8)	0 (0)	-	0.126	-	-
Arterial	4 (6.8)	1 (2.1)	-	0.377	-	-
Disease severity, n (%)						
Severe	37 (62.7)	41 (85.4)	99 (61.9)	0.022*	0.810	0.009*
Moderate	14 (23.7)	3 (6.3)	34 (21.3)			
Mild	7 (13.6)	4 (8.3)	27 (16.9)			
Anticoagulation before thrombosis incidence	e, n (%)					
None	53 (89.8)	9 (18.8)	30 (18.8)	< 0.0001*	< 0.0001*	0.427
Prophylactic doses	4 (6.8)	24 (50.0)	97 (60.6)			
Intermediate doses	0 (0)	4 (8.3)	11 (6.9)			
Therapeutic doses	2 (3.4)	11 (22.9)	22 (13.8)			
Side effects of Anticoagulants, n (%)						
GI-bleeding	2 (3.4)	6 (12.5)	8 (5.0)	0.075	0.613	0.069
Hemoptysis	2 (3.4)	4 (8.3)	6 (3.4)	0.269	0.900	0.193
Hematuria	0 (0)	3 (6.3)	3 (1.9)	0.051	0.290	0.112
Others	2 (3.4)	4 (8.3)	2 (1.3)	0.269	0.294	0.010*
Hospitalization outcome, n (%)						
ICU admission	28 (47.5)	30 (62.5)	84 (52.5)	0.120	0.508	0.222
NIV	7 (11.9)	17 (35.4)	19 (11.9)	0.004*	0.998	< 0.0001*
Intubation	13 (22.0)	12 (25.0)	38 (23.8)	0.718	0.790	0.859
Discharge	43 (72.9)	36 (75.0)	129 (80.6)	0.804	0.216	0.399
Death	16 (27.1)	12 (25.0)	31 (19.4)			

Table 1. cont. Demographic and clinical characteristic of the studied population

 $\frac{1}{1000}$ Chi²/exact test for categorical variable and Mann-Whitney U for a continuous variable were significant if p < 0.05

	Day median (IQR)			P-value		
	Group 1. COVID-19 with thrombotic events on admission (n = 59)	Group 2. COVID-19 with thrombotic events during hospitalization (n = 48)	Group 3. COVID-19 without thrombotic events (n = 160)	1.2	2.3	1.3
Symptom initiation to admission	7 (2–14)	7.5 (7–14)	7 (3–10)	0.312	0.012*	0.527
Symptom initiation to thrombosis incidence	7 (2–14)	18.5 (12–24.5)	—	< 0.0001*	_	—
Admission to thrombosis incidence	0	7 (4–11.5)	—	< 0.0001*	_	_
Hospital-to-ICU admission	1 (0–2.5)	2.5 (1–6)	2 (1–5)	0.007*	0.051	0.179
Admission to discharge	8 (5–10)	17 (12.5–21)	10 (6–17)	< 0.0001*	0.0001*	0.027*
Admission to death	6.5 (2–14)	13 (8.5–20.5)	16 (9–21)	0.022*	0.115	0.011*

Table 2. Time intervals [day]

 ${\rm Chi}^2$ /exact test for categorical variable and Mann-Whitney U for a continuous variable were significant if p < 0.05

ratory distress, coughing, shortness of breath, and fever. Nevertheless, an increased risk of thrombosis in numerous cases has been noted [16], particularly among critically ill patients [17]. Although numerous studies have notified the significance of anticoagulant prophylaxis or therapy for ill ICU-admitted and even, to lower extents, for hospital admitted patients with COVID-19 pneumonia, risk of thrombosis development due to COVID-19 infection among unadmitted, hospitalized due to thrombosis and the SARS-CoV-2-infected patients without pneumonia had been underestimated.

To the best of our knowledge, no effort has been made to compare the patients with an event before hospital admission versus those who developed it in the hospital. Our study's main scope was to make a thorough vision of thromboprophylaxis necessity in outpatients with mild-to-moderate COVID-19 infections.

In the current 3-armed parallel case-control study, we observed that the patients with on-admission thrombosis were similar to the second group who developed thrombosis in the course of hospitalization, and to the control group who did not experience any event, in terms of demographic, past medical history, smoking and pre-admission medications. These findings were consistent with most of the previous studies in the literature [18–20].

An ineffective role of antiplatelet therapy to prevent thrombosis, either by aspirin or clopi-

dogrel, was a noteworthy finding of our study. Accordingly, we do not recommend antiplatelet treatment initiation for outpatients to minimize the risk of thrombotic events; however, by risk assessment, those on the treatment with these agents should continue [21]. Nevertheless, the insights about the routine administration of antiplatelet agents to prevent COVID-19-related complications are different. On the one hand, some of the researchers favored antiplatelet agents, aspirin in particular, as they present early antiplatelet therapy may be beneficial due to their inhibitory effects on platelet activation and neutrophil-to-platelet aggregation generation; the critical mechanisms for thrombosis formation [22, 23]. It should be noted that most of the studies recommending aspirin administration have targeted patients with cardiovascular disorders. not all types of thrombotic events. On the other hand, growing evidence suggests antiplatelet therapy's inefficacy for the primary prevention of thrombosis. According to the guideline, these agents are recommended regardless of being infected with SARS-CoV-2 to secondarily prevent the events such as AMI, stroke, and peripheral artery disease in intervened cases [21].

Among the on-admission hemodynamic parameters, oxygen saturation and mobility status were the only significant differences among the three studied groups. Oxygen saturation is a determinant of disease severity. Thus those with a more severe course of COVID-19 had worse

	Odds ratio for premature thrombosis (95% CI)			
	Thrombotic events during hospitalization			
	Crude	Adjusted		
Age	0.99 (0.97–1.02)	1.01 (0.97–1.04)	_	
Comorbidity				
0	1	1		
1	1.10 (0.46–2.61)	0.46 (0.12–1.47)		
2	2.03 (0.36–11.3)	1.79 (0.18–17.80)		
3	0.81 (0.10-6.16)	0.37 (0.019–5.35)		
4	No data	No data		
Thrombosis type				
PTE	1	1		
DVT	5.18 (1.01–26.7)*	3.59 (0.21–59.73)		
MI	11.1 (2.36–52.3)*	7.04 (0.95–52.04)		
CVA	No data	No data		
Arterial	5.93 (0.63–55.8)*	1.42 (0.88–23.2)		
On admission clinical or laboratory pr	resentations			
$0_2 sat < 90$	0.28 (0.10-0.74)*	0.13 (0.017–1.04)		
Respiratory rate	0.94 (0.88–1.01)	0.94 (0.83–1.04)		
Lymphocyte count	1.00 (0.99–1.00)	0.99 (0.99–1.01)		
D-dimer [ng/mL]	1.00 (0.99–1.00)	1.00 (1.00–1.00)*		
CRP [mg/L]	0.99 (0.98–1.01)	1.00 (0.98–1.01)		
LDH [IU/L]	1.00 (0.99–1.00)	1.00 (0.99–1.01)		

Table 3. Factors associated with premature thrombosis

Comorbidity: 0 = none, 1, 2, 3 = have at least one, two, or three of underlying disease (DM, COPD, CVA, IHD). Logistic regression was used to estimate the Crude and Adjusted (all variables entered in the model) odds ratio. In the crude model, the goodness fit was good so that the -2 log Likelihood was above 62 for each variable separately. However, in the adjusted model, it was about 44.57; *p < 0.05

oxygenation status that leads to immobility, non-invasive or mechanical ventilation requirement, ICU admission, and therefore, were prone to venous thromboembolic events [24, 25].

Higher levels of absolute neutrophil count among those with on-admission thrombosis in comparison to the two other groups not only reinforced the theory about the rule of neutrophil hyperactivity and neutrophil traps in COVID-19-related hypercoagulability pathogenesis [26] but also ignites a hypothesis in terms of neutrophil count administration to make a decision for thromboprophylaxis administration in outpatient cases [27]. Because of the significance of neutrophil count, Petito et al. have even marked it as a more vital predictor of thrombosis than platelet in COVID-19 [28]. Albumin, d-dimer, platelet, and FDP were the other on-admission laboratory parameters that differed between the patients with on-admission events and the controls but not with the second group. However, we have no appropriate scale to decide for thromboprophylaxis in COVID-19. The similarity of these on-admission parameters regardless of the time of event among the cases with thrombosis versus the control group can help provide a comprehensive view in this term.

On the other hand, a hypothesis is ignited that an appropriate cumulative cut-off value for these parameters may appropriately stratify thrombosis risk. It is worth noting that d-dimer and FDP are well-known representatives of coagulopathy and thrombosis [29], and albumin is an acute phase reactant relating to the severity of an inflammatory process [30]. PTE was the most common type of in-hospital thrombotic event, while the other types were more prominent in the latter group. Forty-three cases developed PTE, while only 24 and 11 were under prophylactic and therapeutic doses of anticoagulants, respectively. In addition, most of the cases with in-hospital events had severe courses of the disease. Thromboembolism in critically ill patients has been reported in numerous studies [31–33], while Mestre-Gómez *et al.* represented a considerable rate of venous thromboembolic events among non-critical cases [19]. Moreover, the incidence of thromboembolism under anticoagulation has been notified as well; findings that promote the theory about the routine therapeutic anticoagulant therapy among hospital admitted patients in general and severe COVID-19 cases in particular [19, 34].

The evaluation of predictors for premature thromboembolism incidence versus in-hospital events revealed that DVT, AMI, and arterial thrombosis incidence were considerably more probable to occur than PTE. None of the demographic, laboratory and hemodynamic parameters other than oxygen saturation was associated with on-admission events. Decreased oxygen saturation was a predicting factor for in-hospital thromboembolism, which is discussed above as a factor associated with disease severity, mobility, and ICU admission; accounted as risks of thrombosis, particularly PTE.

We observed a significant interval between the day of symptom initiation and thrombosis incidence among those with on-admission versus in-hospital events, reinforcing the logic for routine use of anticoagulant agents in outpatients to prevent further events. Most of the studies regarding anticoagulation in outpatient cases have been conducted on hospital discharged subjects who continued their treatment rather than outpatients [35, 36]. However, promising outcomes have been achieved for those outpatients treated with anticoagulant agents; the etiology has not been well investigated yet. According to IMPROVEDD [37] or other validated scoring systems, some of the researchers believe that thromboembolism risk assessment is required, and only moderate-to-high risk cases should be administered the agents [13]. In contrast, the others claimed that anticoagulation is required for inpatients only [38]. However, according to growing data about the increased risk of thrombotic events, the incidence thereof in mild-to-moderate COVID-19 patients have weighed the theory over the routine use of anticoagulants for outpatients [39].

Conclusion

Based on this study, significant differences were observed in clinical and laboratory parameters between the cases with and without thrombotic events, while the patients with on-admission or in-hospital events were not notably different. PTE development was the most common in hospital, whereas other thromboembolism types were remarkably more frequent among cases with on-admission events. Oxygen saturation was the only predictor of premature thrombosis that was inversely associated with outpatient events. To make a decision for routine anticoagulation for patients with mild-to-moderate COVID-19 infection, further studies are required.

Conflict of interests

None declared.

References:

- Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Yu, et al. China Medical Treatment Expert Group for Covid-19. Clinical characteristics of Coronavirus disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med. 2020; 382(18): 1708–1720, doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa2002032</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32109013</u>.
- Driggin E, Madhavan MV, Bikdeli B, et al. Cardiovascular considerations for patients, health care workers, and health systems during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020; 75(18): 2352–2371, doi: <u>10.1016/j.jacc.2020.03.031</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32201335</u>.
- 3. Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in China: summary of a report of 72 314 cases from the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. JAMA. 2020; 323(13): 1239–1242, doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2020.2648</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32091533</u>.
- Varga Z, Flammer AJ, Steiger P, et al. Endothelial cell infection and endotheliitis in COVID-19. Lancet. 2020; 395(10234): 1417–1418, doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30937-5</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32325026</u>.
- Iba T, Levy JH, Levi M, et al. Coagulopathy in COVID-19. J Thromb Haemost. 2020; 18(9): 2103–2109, doi: <u>10.1111/</u> <u>jth.14975</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32558075</u>.
- Violi F, Pastori D, Cangemi R, et al. Hypercoagulation and antithrombotic treatment in Coronavirus 2019: A new challenge. Thromb Haemost. 2020; 120(6): 949–956, doi: <u>10.1055/s-0040-1710317</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32349133</u>.
- Nicolai L, Leunig A, Brambs S, et al. Immunothrombotic dysregulation in COVID-19 pneumonia is associated with respiratory failure and coagulopathy. Circulation. 2020; 142(12): 1176–1189, doi: <u>10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.048488</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32755393</u>.
- 8. Helms J, Tacquard C, Severac F, et al. CRICS TRIGGERSEP Group (Clinical Research in Intensive Care and Sepsis Trial Group for Global Evaluation and Research in Sepsis). High risk of thrombosis in patients with severe SARS-CoV-2 infection: a multicenter prospective cohort study. Intensive Care Med. 2020; 46(6): 1089–1098, doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-06062-x, indexed in Pubmed: 32367170.
- McFadyen JD, Stevens H, Peter K. The emerging threat of (micro)thrombosis in COVID-19 and its therapeutic implications. Circ Res. 2020; 127(4): 571–587, doi: 10.1161/CIRCRE-SAHA.120.317447, indexed in Pubmed: 32586214.
- Ackermann M, Verleden SE, Kuehnel M, et al. Pulmonary vascular endothelialitis, thrombosis, and angiogenesis in Covid-19. N Engl J Med. 2020; 383(2): 120–128, doi: <u>10.1056/</u> <u>NEJMoa2015432</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32437596</u>.
- Thachil J, Tang N, Gando S, et al. ISTH interim guidance on recognition and management of coagulopathy in COVID-19. J Thromb Haemost. 2020; 18(5): 1023–1026, doi: <u>10.1111/</u> <u>jth.14810</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32338827</u>.
- 12. Cattaneo M, Bertinato EM, Birocchi S, et al. Pulmonary embolism or pulmonary thrombosis in COVID-19? Is the recommendation to use high-dose heparin for thromboprophylaxis

justified? Thromb Haemost. 2020; 120(8): 1230–1232, doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1712097, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32349132</u>.

- Zhai Z, Li C, Chen Y, et al. Prevention Treatment of VTE Associated with COVID-19 Infection Consensus Statement Group. Prevention and treatment of venous thromboembolism associated with coronavirus disease 2019 infection: A consensus statement before guidelines. Thromb Haemost. 2020; 120(6): 937–948, doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1710019, indexed in Pubmed: 32316065.
- Kruger PC, Eikelboom JW, Douketis JD, et al. Deep vein thrombosis: update on diagnosis and management. Med J Aust. 2019; 210(11): 516–524, doi: <u>10.5694/mja2.50201</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31155730</u>.
- Nagamalesh UM, Prakash VS, Naidu KC, et al. Acute pulmonary thromboembolism: Epidemiology, predictors, and longterm outcome - A single center experience. Indian Heart J. 2017; 69(2): 160–164, doi: <u>10.1016/j.ihj.2016.08.010</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28460762</u>.
- Ilonzo N, Rao A, Berger K, et al. Acute thrombotic events as initial presentation of patients with COVID-19 infection. J Vasc Surg Cases Innov Tech. 2020; 6(3): 381–383, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> jvscit.2020.05.011, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32704580</u>.
- Cui S, Chen S, Li X, et al. Prevalence of venous thromboembolism in patients with severe novel coronavirus pneumonia. J Thromb Haemost. 2020; 18(6): 1421–1424, doi: <u>10.1111/</u> <u>ith.14830</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32271988</u>.
- Sang L, Chen S, Zheng X, et al. DVT incidence and risk factors in critically ill patients with COVID-19. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 2021; 51(1): 33–39, doi: <u>10.1007/s11239-020-02181-w</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32607652</u>.
- Mestre-Gómez B, Lorente-Ramos RM, Rogado J, et al. Infanta Leonor Thrombosis Research Group. Incidence of pulmonary embolism in non-critically ill COVID-19 patients. Predicting factors for a challenging diagnosis. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 2021; 51(1): 40–46, doi: <u>10.1007/s11239-020-02190-9</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32613385</u>.
- Chen B, Jiang C, Han B, et al. High prevalence of occult thrombosis in cases of mild/moderate COVID-19. Int J Infect Dis. 2021; 104: 77–82, doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijid.2020.12.042</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33352324</u>.
- Watson RA, Johnson DM, Dharia RN, et al. Anti-coagulant and anti-platelet therapy in the COVID-19 patient: a best practices quality initiative across a large health system. Hosp Pract (1995). 2020; 48(4): 169–179, doi: <u>10.1080/21548331.2020.1772639</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32429774</u>.
- Mohamed-Hussein AAR, Aly KME, Ibrahim MEAA. Should aspirin be used for prophylaxis of COVID-19-induced coagulopathy? Med Hypotheses. 2020; 144: 109975, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>mehy.2020.109975</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32531536</u>.
- Yang Q, Zhou X, Li Y. Antiplatelet therapy following percutaneous coronary intervention in patients complicated by COVID-19: implications from clinical features to pathological findings. Circulation. 2020; 141(22): 1736–1738, doi: <u>10.1161/CIRCULATIO-NAHA.120.046988</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32298134</u>.
- Hanff TC, Mohareb AM, Giri J, et al. Thrombosis in COVID-19. Am J Hematol. 2020; 95(12): 1578–1589, doi: <u>10.1002/</u> <u>ajh.25982</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32857878</u>.
- Woodard PK. Pulmonary Thromboembolism in COVID-19. Radiology. 2021; 298(2): E107–E108, doi: <u>10.1148/radiol.2020204175</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33325809</u>.

- Ortega-Paz L, Capodanno D, Montalescot G, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019-associated thrombosis and coagulopathy: review of the pathophysiological characteristics and implications for antithrombotic management. J Am Heart Assoc. 2021; 10(3): e019650, doi: <u>10.1161/JAHA.120.019650</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33228447</u>.
- Zuo Yu, Yalavarthi S, Shi H, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps in COVID-19. JCI Insight. 2020; 5(11), doi: <u>10.1172/jci.</u> <u>insight.138999</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32329756</u>.
- Petito E, Falcinelli E, Paliani U, et al. Neutrophil more than platelet activation associates with thrombotic complications in COVID-19 patients. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2020; 223(6), doi: <u>10.1093/infdis/jiaa756</u>.
- Srivastava S, Garg I, Bansal A, et al. COVID-19 infection and thrombosis. Clin Chim Acta. 2020; 510: 344–346, doi: <u>10.1016/j.cca.2020.07.046</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32712049</u>.
- Li J, Li M, Zheng S, et al. Plasma albumin levels predict risk for nonsurvivors in critically ill patients with COVID-19. Biomark Med. 2020; 14(10): 827–837, doi: <u>10.2217/bmm-2020-0254</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32490680</u>.
- Scialpi M, Scialpi S, Piscioli I, et al. Pulmonary thromboenbolism in critical ill COVID-19 patients. Int J Infect Dis. 2020; 95: 361–362, doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijid.2020.04.056</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32339717</u>.
- 32. Klok FA, Kruip MJ, van der Meer NJM, et al. Confirmation of the high cumulative incidence of thrombotic complications in critically ill ICU patients with COVID-19: An updated analysis. Thromb Res. 2020; 191: 148–150, doi: <u>10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.041</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32381264</u>.
- 33. Longchamp A, Longchamp J, Manzocchi-Besson S, et al. Venous thromboembolism in critically Ill patients with COVID-19: Results of a screening study for deep vein thrombosis. Res Pract Thromb Haemost. 2020; 4(5): 842–847, doi: 10.1002/rth2.12376, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32685893</u>.
- 34. Llitjos JF, Leclerc M, Chochois C, et al. High incidence of venous thromboembolic events in anticoagulated severe COVID-19 patients. J Thromb Haemost. 2020; 18(7): 1743– 1746, doi: 10.1111/jth.14869, indexed in Pubmed: 32320517.
- Amin AN, Varker H, Princic N, et al. Duration of venous thromboembolism risk across a continuum in medically ill hospitalized patients. J Hosp Med. 2012; 7(3): 231–238, doi: <u>10.1002/jhm.1002</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>22190427</u>.
- Darzi AJ, Repp AB, Spencer FA, et al. American Society of Hematology 2018 guidelines for management of venous thromboenbolism: prophylaxis for hospitalized and nonhospitalized medical patients. Blood Adv. 2018; 2(22): 3198–3225, doi: <u>10.1182/bloodadvances.2018022954</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30482763</u>.
- 37. Gibson CM, Spyropoulos AC, Cohen AT, et al. The IM-PROVEDD VTE Risk Score: Incorporation of D-dimer into the IMPROVE score to improve venous thromboembolism risk stratification. TH Open. 2017; 1(1): e56–e65, doi: <u>10.1055/s-0037-1603929</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31249911</u>.
- Phend C. COVID-19: anticoagulation recommended even after discharge. MedPage Today.; 2020.
- Costa A, Weinstein ES, Sahoo DR, et al. How to build the plane while flying: VTE/PE thromboprophylaxis clinical guidelines for COVID-19 patients. Disaster Med Public Health Prep. 2020; 14(3): 391–405, doi: <u>10.1017/dmp.2020.195</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32613929</u>.

Michał Harańczyk¹, Małgorzata Konieczyńska¹, Wojciech Płazak²

¹Department of Diagnostic Medicine, John Paul II Hospital, Kraków, Poland ²Department of Cardiac and Vascular Diseases, John Paul II Hospital, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Kraków, Poland

Influence of obstructive sleep apnea on right heart structure and function

Abstract

Introduction: Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome (OSAS) is a highly prevalent sleep disorder associated with increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. This study aimed to investigate heart structure and function and their correlation with the degree of OSAS and sleep indexes in patients diagnosed with OSAS.

Materials and methods: A cohort of 77patients (48 males, aged 58.1 \pm 11.0 years, body mass index [BMI] = 32.4 \pm 6.2) admitted to the hospital due to suspected OSAS was examined using echocardiography and polysomnography.

Results: Patients with moderate-to-severe OSAS compared to patients without diagnosed OSAS or with mild OSAS had greater right ventricular outflow tract (RVOT) dimensions ($32.6 \pm 3.6 \text{ vs} 30.9 \pm 2.4 \text{ mm}$; p < 0.05), larger right atrial area (RAA; $21.1 \pm 4.8 \text{ vs} 17.2 \pm 3.2 \text{ mm}$; p = 0.002), greater right ventricular mid-cavity diameter (RVD; $35.5 \pm 7.0 \text{ vs} 32.2 \pm 4.7 \text{ mm}$; p = 0.02), and diminished tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion (TAPSE, $21.9 \pm 4.5 \text{ vs} 25.8 \pm 4.4 \text{ mm}$; p = 0.04), while there were no significant differences in tissue doppler imaging (TDI) parameters (S' and E') and in valvular regurgitation gradient for both groups. Moreover, significantly greater RVOT dimensions ($31.6 \pm 2.6 \text{ vs} 30.9 \pm 3.0 \text{ mm}$, p = 0.04), RVD ($39.3 \pm 7.0 \text{ vs} 32.7 \pm 5.2 \text{ mm}$, p = 0.003), and RAA ($21.4 \pm 4.4 \text{ vs} 18.1 \pm 4.2 \text{ mm}$, p = 0.02) as well as reduction in TAPSE ($20.9 \pm 5.3 \text{ vs} 25.0 \pm 4.3 \text{ mm}$, p = 0.01) were observed in patients having ≥ 10 episodes of obstructive apnea (OA) per hour.

Conclusions: In moderate-to-severe OSAS patients, right ventricular (RV) enlargement was observed together with RV dysfunction as measured by TAPSE. Examination using TDI is not superior to standard echocardiography for the detection of heart pathology in OSAS patients. Right heart pathology is present predominantly in patients with obstructive apnea.

Key words: sleep apnea, CPAP, polysomnography, echocardiography, right ventricle

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 493-500

Introduction

Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome (OSAS) is the most common type of sleep-related breathing disorder caused by repetitive airway collapse during sleep, affecting approximately 2–10% of the middle-aged global population [1, 2]. It is characterized by daytime sleepiness; however, serious complications such as hypertension, ischemic heart disease, diabetes, and stroke have also been linked to OSAS [3–6]. Moreover, breathing disturbances may alter pulmonary circulation, resulting in the deterioration of right heart function and structure. As current studies emphasize the influence of RV function on outcomes, accurate RV assessment is essential in OSAS patients [7].

Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome has been linked to alterations in cardiac structure, but the pathophysiologic mechanisms between these cardiac abnormalities and OSAS are not completely understood [8]. It is now considered that recurrent hypoxia in OSAS leads to oxidative stress and increased sympathetic tone, consequently raising the levels of circulating inflammatory markers leading to endothelial dysfunction and elevated blood pressure, which eventually promotes blood-clotting disturbances [9]. As chest pressure becomes highly negative during respi-

Address for correspondence: Wojciech Plazak, Department of Cardiac and Vascular Diseases, John Paul II Hospital, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Kraków, Poland; e-mail: w.plazak@szpitaljp2.krakow.pl

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0095 | Received: 21.04.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

ration in OSAS patients, the decreased pressures according to the respiratory cycle have a negative effect on pulmonary and systemic hemodynamics, mainly by increasing afterload [10]. The relationship between OSAS and RV wall thickness as well as right heart dimensions was previously reported; however, analysis of the data has been inconclusive [11].

The aims of this study were (I) to evaluate heart structure and function in patients diagnosed with OSAS; (II) to assess the influence of the degree of OSAS on changes in the structure and function of the right heart, and finally; (III) to assess the correlation between sleep indexes and right heart structure and function.

Materials and methods

Patients

A cohort of 77 consecutive patients admitted to the Department of Diagnostic Medicine due to suspected OSAS was examined using echocardiography and polysomnography. Patients were eligible if they were over 18 years of age and were able to give informed consent. The exclusion criteria were as follows: inability to perform the testing procedures or to self-operate a continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) device, severe or moderate valvular disease, heart failure of any etiology, diminished ejection fraction (< 50%), congenital heart disease, pulmonary hypertension, history of pulmonary embolism, uncontrolled arterial hypertension, uncontrolled or severe asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) or any other pulmonary disease, other untreated or uncontrolled diseases (diabetes mellitus, hypo/hyperthyroidism, renal failure, hepatic failure), patients treated previously with CPAP or any other effective treatment for OSAS. All procedures performed in this study were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and its later amendments. All subjects gave their written informed consent to participate in the study (Jagiellonian University Ethics Committee approval number 112.6120.2.2016) (Table 1).

Sleep study

The occurrence and severity of daytime sleepiness was assessed using the Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS). All patients enrolled in this study underwent an overnight sleep study. A standardized recording sleep-monitoring system (Embletta MPR, type III according to American

	Patients without OSAS and with mild OSAS (n =27)	Patients with moderate and severe OSAS (n = 50)
Age	53.9 ± 11.0	60.3 ± 10.3
Sex		
Male	16 (20%)	32 (42%)
Female	14 (18%)	15 (20%)
BMI [kg/m ²]	29.1 ± 5.3	34.1 ± 6.0
NT-proBNP [pg/ml]	75.1 ± 70.9	98.8 ± 120.3
Hypertension	16 (59%)	41 (82%)
Diabetes mellitus	2 (7%)	15 (30%)
Prediabetes	7 (26%)	12 (24%)
Dyslipidemia	19 (70%)	42 (84%)
Active smoker	3 (11%)	9 (18%)
Prior smoker	12 (44%)	15 (30%)
Hypothyroidism	5 (19%)	12 (24%)
Medication		
ACEi/ARB	9 (33%)	30 (60%)
ß-blockers	7 (26%)	31 (62%)
ССВ	5 (19%)	18 (36%)
Insulin	0 (0%)	5 (10%)
Diuretics	8 (29%)	18 (36%)
Statin	10 (37%)	24 (48%)

The values for moderate and severe OSAS group do not differ significantly as compared to no and mild OSAS group

Academy of Sleep Medicine, AASM) was used to perform a nocturnal sleep study in all patients and control subjects. Standard recommendations of sleep scoring criteria were used [12]. Electrocardiography, airflow analysis, and pulse oximetry were performed. Ventilatory flows, at both the nose and mouth, were measured with airflow cannulas. Respiratory movements of the chest and abdomen were monitored using inductive plethysmography belts. Body position was determined using a built-in gyro and position sensor, providing the following position outputs: supine, right, left, prone, or upright. Arterial oxygen saturation (SpO₂) was measured transcutaneously with a finger pulse oximeter.

Respiratory events were scored using the 2012 AASM criteria [13]. Obstructive apnea (OA) was defined as $a \ge 90\%$ reduction in the respi-

Table 1.	Baseline	demographic	characteristics	of	the
	study coh	ort			

ratory airflow amplitude lasting at least 10 seconds. Hypopnea (H) was defined as a 30-89% reduction in the respiratory airflow amplitude lasting at least 10 seconds and accompanied by a decrease of at least 3% in oxygen saturation. Apnea was described as central (CA) in the absence of thoracoabdominal motion. Mixed apnea (MIX) was defined as an event which met apnea criteria and was associated with absent respiratory effort in the initial part of the event, followed by resumption of respiratory effort in the second part of the event. The average number of episodes of apnea and hypopnea per hour was defined as the apnea-hypopnea index (AHI). Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome was defined as an AHI of > 5 per hour, when clinical symptoms were present. Desaturation was defined as a decrease in the SpO_2 of 3% or more from baseline, and oxygen desaturation index (ODI) was calculated as the total number of desaturation episodes per hour. Subjects were classified into 4 groups according to AHI: patients without OSAS (AHI < 5/h), patients with mild OSAS (AHI 5-14/h), patients with moderate OSAS (AHI 15-29/h), and patients with severe OSAS (AHI \geq 30/h).

Echocardiography

All patients underwent transthoracic echocardiography using a Philips IE33 device (transducer X5-1; 1.3 to 4.2 MHz). Two-dimensional (2-D) echocardiographic imaging in standard views was conducted, including conventional 2-D, Doppler, Color-Doppler and Tissue Doppler imaging (TDI). Examinations were performed in the left lateral decubitus and supine positions. Echocardiograms were recorded from standard parasternal, suprasternal, subcostal, and apical images. The RV and right atrial (RA) parameters were measured from the right ventricular-focused 4-chamber view. Tissue Doppler imaging was performed from the apical 4-chamber view with the pulse wave directed towards the lateral tricuspid annulus, aligned parallel to the motion of the free lateral wall towards the apex. Assessment of TDI parameters included peak systolic (S') tricuspid annular velocity and peak early (E') diastolic tricuspid annular velocity. The same position was used to assess tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion (TAPSE). Tricuspid valve flow pattern was obtained, determining the regurgitant flow velocity [14]. All echocardiographic measurements were obtained by an observer blinded to sleep test data and other patient characteristics (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Flow-chart of the study design.

Statistical analysis

The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to determine if variables were normally distributed. Continuous variables are presented as means and standard deviations. The Student's t-test for continuous variables was performed to assess for differences between the groups. Chi-square test was used to examine differences in proportion. The accepted statistical significance threshold was established as a p-value of < 0.05.

Results

Patient characteristics

The group consisted of more males (48 patients, 62%) than females and the mean age was 58.1 ± 11.0 years. The average body-mass index (BMI) was 32.4 ± 6.2 . Among the patients, 57 (74%) had hypertension, 17 (22%) had diabetes mellitus type 2, 19 (25%) had prediabetes. 61 (79%) had hypercholesterolemia, 5 (6%) had a history of deep vein thrombosis, and 7 (9%) had superficial venous thrombosis in the past. Asthma was present in 5 (6%) patients, while 12 (16%) patients were active smokers and 27 (35%) were ex-smokers. The following were the most frequently used drugs in the study group: beta-blockers in 38 (49%) patients, statins in 34 (44%) patients, ACE-inhibitors in 23 (30%) patients, ARBs in 16 (21%) patients, and diuretics in 26 (34%) patients. Baseline demographic data for moderate and severe OSAS group did not differ significantly as compared to no and mild OSAS group.

Sleep study

After an overnight complete sleep study, comprising at least 4 hours of sleep, 50 patients were classified as having moderate-to-se-

• •			
	Patients without OSAS and with mild OSAS (n = 27)	Patients with moderate and severe OSAS (n = 50)	P-value
ESS	7.5 ± 4.2	9.3 ± 6	ns
AHI (h⁻¹)	9 ± 3.5	37.4 ± 19.2	< 0.0001
0A (h ⁻¹)	2 ± 1.9	17.1 ± 17.7	< 0.0001
CA (h ⁻¹)	0.5 ± 0.7	1.3 ± 2.6	0.03
MIX (h ⁻¹)	0.1 ± 0.2	3.4 ± 6.3	0.03
H (h [−] 1)	6.5 ± 2.9	15.8 ± 8.5	< 0.0001
SpO ₂ (%)	93.5 ± 18	90.7 ± 3.7	0.0004
ODI (h ⁻¹)	9 ± 4	38.8 ± 3.3	< 0.0001
Advised CPAP treatment	0	38	

Table 2. Sleep study results

ESS — Epworth Sleepiness Scale score; AHI — apnea-hypopnea index; OA — obstructive apnea; CA — central apnea; MIX — mixed apnea; H — hypopnea; mean Sp0₂ — mean blood oxygen saturation; ODI — oxygen desaturation index; CPAP — continuous positive airway pressure; OSAS — obstructive sleep apnea syndrome

vere OSAS (AHI \geq 15/h), while the other 27 patients were classified as having mild or no OSAS (AHI < 15/h) and served as control subjects. Sleep study variables acquired from both groups are shown in Table 2.

Association between OSAS and echocardiographic evaluation

The general quality of echocardiographic images was high (Table 3). All individuals had normal left ventricular (LV) systolic function. Furthermore, the patients did not have significant valvular heart disease, according to the exclusion criteria. Mild mitral regurgitation was present in 63 (81%) patients, mild tricuspid regurgitation was present in 59 (77%) patients, 3 (4%) patients had moderate tricuspid regurgitation, 2 (3%) patients had moderate mitral regurgitation, while mild aortic regurgitation was present in 1 (1%) patient. Additionally, transvalvular gradients measured across the aortic, mitral, tricuspid, and pulmonary valves were within the normal range (Table 4).

Patients with a diagnosis of moderate-to-severe OSAS had greater RVOT dimensions when compared to patients without diagnosed OSAS or patients with mild OSAS. A similar relationship between the examined groups was demonstrated regarding the RAA and RVD dimensions. The analysis of RV systolic function revealed a significant difference in the mean TAPSE, with moderate-to-severe OSAS patients having a decreased TAPSE There were no significant differences in TDI parameters (S' and E') when comparing moderate-to-severe OSAS patients to mild OSAS pa-

Table 3.	Echocardiographic image quality in obstructive
	sleep apnea syndrome (OSAS) patients

	Patients with optimal image quality, n (%)
RVOT	75 (97%)
RVD	70 (91%)
RAA	72 (94%)
S'	73 (95%)
E′	73 (95%)
TAPSE	76 (99%)
TRPG	64 (83%)

E' — peak early diastolic tricuspid annular velocity; RAA — right atrial area; RVD — right ventricular diameter; RVOT — right ventricular outflow tract; S' peak early systolic tricuspid annular velocity; TAPSE — tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion; TRPG — tricuspid regurgitant peak gradient

tients or those without OSAS. Similarly, between the two groups there was no significant difference in valvular regurgitation gradient (Table 5).

In order to examine the impact of OSAS on cardiac function, the association between sleep study variables and several echocardiographic parameters as measured by 2-D, M-mode, and TDI were analyzed. A statistically significant difference in RVOT dimension was demonstrated for patients with severe OSAS (AHI \geq 30/h), indicating RV enlargement. Significantly greater RVOT dimensions, RVD, and RAA were observed in patients with \geq 10 OA episodes per hour, while no significant differences in these parameters were observed depending on the degree of CA and H. Interestingly, the occurrence of at least 1 MIX episode during sleep was associated with a lower

	No OSAS or mild OSAS $(n = 27)$	Moderate-to-severe OSAS (n = 50)	P-value
LVEF [%]	63.7 ± 3.0	63.2 ± 3.8	ns
RVOT [mm]	30.9 ± 2.4	32.6 ± 3.6	0.05
RVD [mm]	32.2 ± 4.7	36.5 ± 7.0	0.02
RAA [cm ²]	17.2 ± 3.2	21.1 ± 4.8	0.002
S'[cm/s]	13.9 ± 2.7	15.0 ± 3.7	ns
E' [cm/s]	10.6 ± 2.5	11.0 ± 3.1	ns
TAPSE [mm]	25.8 ± 4.4	21.9 ± 4.5	0.004
TRPG [mm Hg]	21.2 ± 6.9	23.5 ± 5.7	ns

Table 4. Echocardiographic parameters

LVEF — left ventricular ejection fraction; RVOT — right ventricular outflow tract; RVD — right ventricular diameter; RAA — right atrial area; S' — peak early systolic tricuspid annular velocity; E' — peak early diastolic tricuspid annular velocity; OSAS — obstructive sleep apnea syndrome; TAPSE — tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion; TRPG — tricuspid regurgitant peak gradient

Table 5. OSAS severity and echocardiographic results

	RVOT	RVD	RAA	TAPSE
$AHI < 30 (h^{-1})$ $AHI \ge 30 (h^{-1})$ P-value	$\begin{array}{c} 31.2 \pm 3.2 \\ 33.5 \pm 1.8 \\ 0.05 \end{array}$	33.2 ± 5.8 38.1 ± 6.8 ns	18.5 ± 4.5 20.6 ± 3.9 ns	$\begin{array}{c} 24.7 \pm 4.4 \\ 20.7 \pm 5.7 \\ 0.02 \end{array}$
$OA < 10 (h^{-1})$ $OA \ge 10 (h^{-1})$ P-value	$\begin{array}{c} 30.9\pm3.0\\ 31.6\pm2.6\\ 0.04 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 32.7 \pm 5.2 \\ 39.3 \pm 7.0 \\ 0.003 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 18.1 \pm 4.2 \\ 21.4 \pm 4.4 \\ 0.02 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 25.0 \pm 4.3 \\ 20.9 \pm 5.3 \\ 0.01 \end{array}$
$CA < 1 (h^{-1})$ $CA \ge 1 (h^{-1})$ P-value e	31.3 ± 2.8 32.4 ± 4.0 ns	34.2 ± 5.4 33.9 ± 8.4 ns	18.6 ± 3.8 19.8 ± 6.0 ns	24.2 ± 4.9 24.2 ± 4.9 ns
$\begin{array}{l} MIX < 1 \ (h^{-1}) \\ MIX \geq 1 \ (h^{-1}) \\ P\mbox{-value} \end{array}$	31.2 ± 3.2 33.1 ± 2.3 ns	33.6 ± 5.9 36.5 ± 7.0 ns	18.4 ± 4.5 21.0 ± 4.0 ns	$\begin{array}{c} 24.7 \pm 4.4 \\ 21.1 \pm 5.7 \\ 0.03 \end{array}$
$H < 15 (h^{-1})$ $H \ge 15 (h^{-1})$ P-value	31.2 ± 3.0 33.5 ± 3.1 ns	33.8 ± 6.5 35.7 ± 4.5 ns	18.7 ± 4.7 20.1 ± 2.9 ns	23.9 ± 5.1 24.2 ± 4.0 ns
$\begin{array}{l} SpO_2 < 95\% \\ SpO_2 \geq 95\% \\ P\text{-value} \end{array}$	32.0 ± 3.0 29.9 ± 3.3 ns	34.8 ± 6.0 31.8 ± 6.7 ns	$\begin{array}{c} 19.5 \pm 4.7 \\ 16.2 \pm 1.7 \\ 0.05 \end{array}$	23.7 ± 5.2 25.1 ± 3.4 ns

AHI — apnea-hypopnea index; OA — obstructive apnea; CA — central apnea; MIX — mixed apnea; H — hypopnea; OSAS — obstructive sleep apnea syndrome; SpO₂ — mean blood oxygen saturation; RVOT — right ventricular outflow tract; RVD — right ventricular diameter; RAA — right atrial area; TAPSE — tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion

TAPSE. Moreover, patients with mean saturation levels < 95% during the overnight sleep study had a significantly larger RAA.

Discussion

The main finding of our study was the presence of RV enlargement and dysfunction in OSAS patients, which was diagnosed by standard 2-D echocardiography with M-mode function. We evaluated patients with various stages of OSAS who had symptoms of daytime sleepiness, but not having other significant cardiac or pulmonary diseases, or other comorbidities affecting the pulmonary circulation.

Analysis of individual parameters from the sleep study revealed a significant relationship between OA and right heart structure remodeling, and a reduction in longitudinal RV systolic function presented as TAPSE. This suggests the potential influence of OA episodes on the morphology and function of right heart structure. In

contrast, no difference between the frequency of H and CA in both groups suggests that these types of disorders have no significant correlation with the severity of OSAS and its effects on heart structure. This has been confirmed by several studies, which showed that OA may lead to more severe SpO₂ desaturation when compared to hypopneic episodes [15, 16]. It has been argued that because appeic episodes arise as the result of complete upper airway collapse, they may have a more serious pathophysiologic impact than hypopneas, which are a consequence of partial upper airway collapse. Indeed, apneas should be regarded as more significant than hypopneas when assessing the severity of OSAS and its related impact on long-term cardiac risk.

Numerous studies evaluating right heart structure and function, based on echocardiographic measurements, showed significant changes in both RV morphology and efficiency in OSAS patients [17]. It has recently been demonstrated, that 3-dimensional (3D) echocardiography and speckle tracking echocardiography revealed lower 3D RV ejection fraction and global RV strain in patients with moderate and severe OSAS compared with controls [18]. This is in complete agreement with Shivalkar et al. [19], who found that among 43 patients with severe OSAS there was RV dilatation. Contrary to results reported in our study, they also showed reduced TDI systolic and diastolic velocities in the left and right ventricles. However, several researchers did not demonstrate any differences in RV structure and function, while conventional echocardiography remained the main method of evaluation [20, 21].

Karamanzanis et al. [1] described the correlation between OSAS severity and the degree of RV systolic dysfunction, which was reflected in TAPSE values. Similar conclusions can be drawn from a study by Tugcu et al. [22], which evaluated newly diagnosed OSAS patients. The most commonly used parameter in the quantification of RV function is TAPSE, owing to its ease of interpretation and the fact that the tracing can be acquired quickly [23]. Assessment of TAPSE is based on a one-dimensional measurement, and therefore, represents only a part of global RV function. However, this may represent the majority of total RV function, because longitudinal contraction accounts for up to 80% of shortening of the chamber. Anatomically, this can be explained by the arrangement of muscle fibers, which run mostly longitudinally and obliquely. A potential disadvantage of TAPSE is the fact that it is angle- and load- dependent. In addition, there remains controversy regarding cut-off values and prognostic value in the prediction of cardiovascular events [24].

On the other hand, TAPSE is a reliable echocardiographic tool as it correlates well with RV ejection fraction as determined by radionuclide angiography or cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) [25]. The other advantage of TAPSE, which is confirmed by our study, is the possibly of being derived in the vast majority of patients, regardless of difficulties in acquiring high-quality images of the entire RV free wall. Furthermore, TAPSE is considered to have strong predictive power in various diseases. For example, it is associated with a lower cardiac index and worse survival in patients with several diseases. However, there is a lack of long-term studies examining the impact of this parameter in OSAS patients [26, 27]. Despite its simplicity and some limitations mentioned above, our study shows that TAPSE links sleep study variables to RV systolic function disturbances and appears to confirm the effect of OSAS on RV function.

In contrast, Gulay *et al.* [28] did not detect a significant correlation between TAPSE and polysomnographic variables when studying a group of 60 OSAS patients, although the mean AHI (24.5/h; 6–98) in this study was lower than our observed values. Similarly, Hammerstingl *et al.* [29] observed in a group of 82 patients that RV functional parameters such as TAPSE and RV-MPI were not significantly decreased in patients with increased AHI at baseline and after 6 months of CPAP treatment.

Other echocardiographic techniques frequently used for assessing RV function include the measurement of myocardial strain by two-dimensional speckle tracking echocardiography (STE) and fractional area change (FAC). Strain evaluation requires specialized software. In addition, RV STE assessment should take into account the differences resulting from the various myocardial tracking algorithms used by software producers [30]. On the other hand, conventional measures of RV longitudinal contractility, such as TAPSE or TDI derived S', reflect RV basal function, whereas RV strain and FAC account for a greater area of RV free wall deformation and are not prone to the errors that can occur due to translational motion. However, both of these techniques require good visibility of endocardial borders and may constitute a challenge in the assessment of RV function in patients with OSAS, especially in those who are obese.

Surprisingly, our study showed no significant difference in the assessment of TDI parameters. Similarly, the components of TDI evaluation are susceptible to comparable limitations as those of TAPSE. By analogy, S' measures only a small region of the RV and it cannot be used in patients with regional wall-motion abnormalities. Moreover, it is not dependent on the presence of optimal image quality. S' belongs to the most common parameters describing RV functionality, although there exists much controversy in the literature related to its utility in OSAS patients. Altekin et al. [31] assessed the relationship between AHI and RV function, expressed as S'. In their study, which included a similar group of 79 patients with various stages of OSAS, no correlation was found between those parameters. Similarly, in a study conducted by Zhou et al. [32]. assessment of S' revealed no significant difference between healthy subjects and patients with OSAS. On the other hand, they observed regional RV systolic dysfunction and a diminished inflow EF and global EF as measured by real-time 3-D echocardiography in moderate and severe OSAS patients. Additionally, Kepez et al. [33] did not show a difference in S' values, but they noted that the regional pattern of RV dysfunction correlated with the severity of OSAS, when assessed with strain analysis.

Our study has some limitations. No other measurement of right heart structures was attempted. It should be remembered that CMR imaging is a reference standard for the assessment of cardiac function and structure. However, echocardiographic techniques do have some advantages over CMR, including wider availability, lower cost, less patient distress related to claustrophobia, and the ability to examine patients with contraindications to CMR, such as those with implanted pacemakers or defibrillators. Moreover, our study population was relatively small but proportional to comparable studies performed in OSAS patients.

Conclusions

In summary, RV enlargement along with RV dysfunction, as measured by TAPSE, was observed in moderate-to-severe OSAS patients. Examination with TDI is not superior to standard echocardiography in the detection of heart pathology in OSAS patients. Right heart pathology is present predominantly in patients with obstructive apnea. Further prospective studies using echocardiography are needed to demonstrate the impact of observed changes on the long-term prognosis of OSAS patients.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by grant no. N41/DBS/000521 from the Jagiellonian University Medical College, Kraków, Poland.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References:

- Karamanzanis G, Panou F, Lazaros G, et al. Impact of continuous positive airway pressure treatment on myocardial performance in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. A conventional and tissue Doppler echocardiographic study. Sleep Breath. 2015; 19(1): 343–350, doi: <u>10.1007/s11325-014-1026-5</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>24989483</u>.
- Peppard PE, Young T, Barnet JH, et al. Increased prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing in adults. Am J Epidemiol. 2013; 177(9): 1006–1014, doi: <u>10.1093/aje/kws342</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>23589584</u>.
- Botros N, Concato J, Mohsenin V, et al. Obstructive sleep apnea as a risk factor for type 2 diabetes. Am J Med. 2009; 122(12): 1122–1127, doi: <u>10.1016/j.amjmed.2009.04.026</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>19958890</u>.
- Shah NA, Yaggi HK, Concato J, et al. Obstructive sleep apnea as a risk factor for coronary events or cardiovascular death. Sleep Breath. 2010; 14(2): 131–136, doi: <u>10.1007/s11325-009-</u> <u>0298-7</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>19777281</u>.
- Yaggi HK, Concato J, Kernan WN, et al. Obstructive sleep apnea as a risk factor for stroke and death. N Engl J Med. 2005; 353(19): 2034–2041, doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa043104</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>16282178</u>.
- Chin K. Obstructive sleep apnea-hypopnea syndrome and cardiovascular diseases. Intern Med. 2004; 43(7): 527–528, doi: <u>10.2169/</u> internalmedicine.43.527, indexed in Pubmed: <u>15335172</u>.
- Mascherbauer J, Kammerlander AA, Zotter-Tufaro C, et al. Presence of 'isolated' tricuspid regurgitation should prompt the suspicion of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. PLoS One. 2017; 12(2): e0171542, doi: <u>10.1371/journal.</u> <u>pone.0171542</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28199339</u>.
- Noda A, Okada T, Yasuma F, et al. Cardiac hypertrophy in obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Chest. 1995; 107(6): 1538–1544, doi: <u>10.1378/chest.107.6.1538</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>7781343</u>.
- Sarkar P, Mukherjee S, Chai-Coetzer CLi, et al. The epidemiology of obstructive sleep apnoea and cardiovascular disease. J Thorac Dis. 2018; 10(Suppl 34): S4189–S4200, doi: <u>10.21037/</u> <u>jtd.2018.12.56</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30687535</u>.
- Naughton MT, Rahman MA, Hara K, et al. Effect of continuous positive airway pressure on intrathoracic and left ventricular transmural pressures in patients with congestive heart failure. Circulation. 1995; 91(6): 1725–1731, doi: <u>10.1161/01.</u> <u>cir.91.6.1725</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>7882480</u>.
- Marrone O, Bonsignore MR. Pulmonary haemodynamics in obstructive sleep apnoea. Sleep Med Rev. 2002; 6(3): 175–193, doi: <u>10.1053/smrv.2001.0185</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>12531120</u>.
- 12. Kapur VK, Auckley DH, Chowdhuri S, et al. Clinical Practice Guideline for Diagnostic Testing for Adult Obstructive Sleep Apnea: An American Academy of Sleep Medicine Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Sleep Med. 2017; 13(3): 479–504, doi: <u>10.5664/jcsm.6506</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28162150</u>.
- Qaseem A, Dallas P, Owens DK, et al. Diagnosis of obstructive sleep apnea in adults: a clinical practice guideline from theAmerican College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med. 2014; 161(3): 210–220, doi: <u>10.7326/M12-3187</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>25089864</u>.

- Rudski L, Lai W, Afilalo J, et al. Guidelines for the Echocardiographic Assessment of the Right Heart in Adults: A Report from the American Society of Echocardiography. Journal of the American Society of Echocardiography. 2010; 23(7): 685–713, doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2010.05.010.
- Kulkas A, Duce B, Leppänen T, et al. Severity of desaturation events differs between hypopnea and obstructive apnea events and is modulated by their duration in obstructive sleep apnea. Sleep Breath. 2017; 21(4): 829–835, doi: 10.1007/s11325-017-1513-6, indexed in Pubmed: 28584939.
- Leppänen T, Kulkas A, Oksenberg A, et al. Differences in arousal probability and duration after apnea and hypopnea events in adult obstructive sleep apnea patients. Physiol Meas. 2018; 39(11): 114004, doi: <u>10.1088/1361-6579/aae42c</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30251964</u>.
- Raisinghani A, Jen R, Wilson J, et al. Obstructive sleep apnea effects on the right ventricle and beyond. Can J Cardiol. 2015; 31(7): 821–822, doi: <u>10.1016/j.cjca.2015.02.035</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>26112298</u>.
- Vitarelli A, Terzano C, Saponara M, et al. Assessment of Right Ventricular Function in Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome and Effects of Continuous Positive Airway Pressure Therapy: A Pilot Study. Can J Cardiol. 2015; 31(7): 823–831, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>cjca.2015.01.029</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>25980631</u>.
- Shivalkar B, Heyning CV, Kerremans M, et al. Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2006; 47(7): 1433–1439, doi: <u>10.1016/j.jacc.2005.11.054</u>.
- Dobrowolski P, Florczak E, Klisiewicz A, et al. Pulmonary artery dilation indicates severe obstructive sleep apnea in patients with resistant hypertension: the Resist-POL Study. Pol Arch Med Wewn. 2016; 126(4): 222–229, doi: <u>10.20452/</u> <u>pamw.3388</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>27129085</u>.
- 21. Guidry UC, Mendes LA, Evans JC, et al. Echocardiographic features of the right heart in sleep-disordered breathing: the Framingham Heart Study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001; 164(6): 933–938, doi: <u>10.1164/ajrccm.164.6.2001092</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>11587973</u>.
- 22. Tugcu A, Guzel D, Yildirimturk O, et al. Evaluation of right ventricular systolic and diastolic function in patients with newly diagnosed obstructive sleep apnea syndrome without hypertension. Cardiology. 2009; 113(3): 184–192, doi: <u>10.1159/000193146</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>19151552</u>.
- Dutta T, Aronow WS. Echocardiographic evaluation of the right ventricle: Clinical implications. Clin Cardiol. 2017; 40(8): 542– 548, doi: <u>10.1002/clc.22694</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28295398</u>.
- 24. Modin D, Møgelvang R, Andersen DM, et al. Right ventricular function evaluated by tricuspid annular plane systolic

excursion predicts cardiovascular death in the general population. J Am Heart Assoc. 2019; 8(10): e012197, doi: <u>10.1161/</u>JAHA.119.012197, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31088196</u>.

- 25. de Groote P, Fertin M, Goéminne C, et al. Right ventricular systolic function for risk stratification in patients with stable left ventricular systolic dysfunction: comparison of radionuclide angiography to echoDoppler parameters. Eur Heart J. 2012; 33(21): 2672–2679, doi: <u>10.1093/eurheartj/ehs080</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>22453651</u>.
- 26. Gupta S, Khan F, Shapiro M, et al. The associations between tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion (TAPSE), ventricular dyssynchrony, and ventricular interaction in heart failure patients. Eur J Echocardiogr. 2008; 9(6): 766–771, doi: 10.1093/ ejechocard/jen147, indexed in Pubmed: 18490286.
- Forfia PR, Fisher MR, Mathai SC, et al. Tricuspid annular displacement predicts survival in pulmonary hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2006; 174(9): 1034–1041, doi: <u>10.1164/</u> <u>rccm.200604-547OC</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>16888289</u>.
- Ozkececi G, Ulasli SS, Akci O, et al. Assessment of pulmonary arterial stiffness in obstructive sleep apnea. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016; 32(5): 799–805, doi: <u>10.1007/s10554-016-0841-</u> <u>0</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>26783146</u>.
- Hammerstingl C, Schueler R, Wiesen M, et al. Impact of untreated obstructive sleep apnea on left and right ventricular myocardial function and effects of CPAP therapy. PLoS One. 2013; 8(10): e76352, doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0076352</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>24146857</u>.
- 30. Fine NM, Chen L, Bastiansen PM, et al. Reference values for right ventricular strain in patients without cardiopulmonary disease: a prospective evaluation and meta-analysis. Echocardiography. 2015; 32(5): 787–796, doi: <u>10.1111/echo.12806</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>25323591</u>.
- Altekin RE, Karakas MS, Yanikoglu A, et al. Determination of right ventricular dysfunction using the speckle tracking echocardiography method in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Cardiol J. 2012; 19(2): 130–139, doi: <u>10.5603/cj.2012.0024</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>22461045</u>.
- 32. Zhou NW, Pan CZ, Kong DH, et al. A novel method for sensitive determination of subclinical right ventricular systolic dysfunction in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Clin Respir J. 2017; 11(6): 951–959, doi: <u>10.1111/crj.12447</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>26763188</u>.
- Kepez A, Niksarlioglu EY, Hazirolan T, et al. Early myocardial functional alterations in patients with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Echocardiography. 2009; 26(4): 388–396, doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8175.2008.00809.x, indexed in Pubmed: 19017316.

Eduardo Garcia-Pachon, Carlos Baeza-Martinez, Sandra Ruiz-Alcaraz, Justo Grau-Delgado

Department of Respiratory Medicine, Hospital General Universitario de Elche, Elche, Alicante, Spain

Prediction of three-month readmission based on haematological parameters in patients with severe COPD exacerbation

Abstract

Introduction: Approximately one-third of patients hospitalised for an exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) are readmitted to the hospital within 90 days. It is of interest to identify biomarkers that predict relapse in order to prevent readmission in these patients. In our prospective study of patients admitted for COPD exacerbation, we aimed to analyse whether routine haematological parameters can help predict the three-month readmission risk.

Material and methods: 106 patients were included, of whom 23 were female (22%). The age (mean \pm SD) was 73 \pm 10 years, and the forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁) was 44 \pm 15%. The haematological parameters were obtained from the first blood test result during admission. The variables were as follows: red cell distribution width, mean platelet volume (MPV), platelet (PLT) count, neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio, PLT to lymphocyte ratio, MPV to PLT ratio, and eosinophil count. Patients were differentiated into two groups for each haematological parameter according to median value, and the percentage of readmissions in each of the groups was recorded.

Results: Twenty-five patients (24%) were readmitted to hospital within three months of discharge. Only the difference in low-MPV and high-MPV patients was significant (37% vs 10%, p = 0.001). The predictive capacity for three-month readmission measured by the area under the curve (AUC) did not show clinically applicable values; the best result was for MPV (AUC 0.64). In the remaining values, the AUC was between 0.52 and 0.55.

Conclusion: Routine haematological parameters proposed as prognostic biomarkers in COPD obtained at the moment of hospital admission were not useful for predicting three-month readmission.

Key words: biomarkers, COPD, prognosis, readmission

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 501-504

Introduction

Severe exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), defined as those leading to hospitalization, are associated with high mortality, a negative impact on the quality of life, and a significant burden on the healthcare system [1]. Importantly, between 12–45% of patients hospitalised for exacerbations of COPD are readmitted to the hospital within 90 days [2, 3]. If patients at an increased risk can be detected, a personally tailored post-discharge plan may potentially reduce readmissions [4]. Consequently, it is of interest to identify biomarkers in order to prevent readmission of these patients [2]. However, although COPD exacerbation prediction tools have been proposed [5], no clear consensus exists on markers that can predict readmission [3].

A small number of studies, mainly retrospective, have evaluated the role of routine haematological parameters in different circumstances as prognostic biomarkers in COPD patients (including the prediction of the risk of readmission) with sometimes contradictory results. These easily accessible and inexpensive tests include: red blood cell distribution width (RDW), mean platelet volume (MPV), platelet (PLT) count, neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio, the PLT to lymphocyte ratio, the MPV to PLT ratio, and the number of eosinophils [6–11].

In a prospective study of patients admitted for COPD exacerbations, we aimed to analyse

Address for correspondence: Eduardo Garcia-Pachon, Department of Respiratory Medicine, Hospital General Universitario de Elche, Alicante, Spain; e-mail: egpachon@gmail.com DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0076 | Received: 04.01.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451–4934 | e-ISSN 2543–6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

Parameter	Median value	Low	High	P-value
Red cell distribution width [%]	15.5	18%	31%	0.103
Mean platelet volume [fL]	9.0	37%	10%	0.001
Platelets [× 10 ⁹ /L]	226	25%	23%	0.95
Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio	8.56	28%	21%	0.87
Platelet to lymphocyte ratio	0.21	26%	22%	0.97
MPV to platelet ratio	38.4	24%	25%	0.99
Eosinophils [cells/ μ L]	120	25%	23%	0.95

Table 1. Percentage of three-month readmission with haematological parameters

Low: Below or equal to median value. High: Above the median value

whether routine haematological parameters obtained at the time of admission can help to predict three-month readmission.

Material and methods

The study was approved by the local ethics committee and the patients signed an informed consent form (reference PI 31/2019). Our study initially included 115 consecutive patients admitted because of exacerbation of COPD in a respiratory ward of a university hospital over a 14-month period. Only the first episode was taken into consideration if more than one occurred for the same patient. Nine patients were excluded; six because of death, two because no follow-up was available, and one due to leukaemia. 106 patients completed the three-month follow-up since discharge and were included in the study. Of these participants, 23 were female (22%) and 83 were male (78%). The average age (mean \pm SD) was 73 ± 10 years, and the forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁) was 44 \pm 15% of predicted value. Of those patients, 63 (59%) had at least one admission in the previous year. The haematological parameters were obtained from the first blood test during admission, as per clinical practice. Blood analysis was performed in the centralized laboratory with the analyser model Vitros 5600 (Ortho Clinical Diagnostics, Raritan, NJ, USA). The variables included for evaluation were as follows: RDW, MPV, platelet (PLT) count, neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio, PLT to lymphocyte ratio, MPV to PLT ratio, and eosinophil count. Patients were differentiated into two groups for each haematological parameter: those with low values (below or equal to the median) and those with high values (above the median of the parameter). The percentage of three-month readmissions in each of the groups was recorded.

A chi-squared test was performed to compare categorical variables, and a Mann–Whitney U test was used to compare quantitative variables. The discriminating performance of the parameters was evaluated using receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves with corresponding areas under the curve (AUC). Statistical analysis was performed using the programs SPSS version 22 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, EEUU) and the R statistics package (*www.r-project.org*). A p-value below 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Twenty-five of the 106 patients (24%) were readmitted to hospital within three months of discharge for a new COPD exacerbation. Readmissions occurred in a median of 41 days (interquartile range [IR], 20-68 days). Of these 25 patients, 22 (88%) had at least one admission in the previous year. Of the remaining (non-readmitted) 81 patients, 41 (51%) had been admitted in the previous year (p < 0.001). Compared with those not requiring readmission, patients with readmission had a higher number of admissions in the previous year (median, IR: 3.0 [1.0-4.3] vs 0.0 [0.0–2.0, p < 0.001) and lower FEV_1 in terms of percentage of predicted value (36% [29-48] vs 45% [34–55], p = 0.048). There were no significant differences in age, gender, or duration of admission.

The percentage of patients who were readmitted in the first three months after discharge was calculated for each haematological parameter. As shown in Table 1, only the difference in low-MPV and high-MPV patients was significant. The predictive capacity for three-month readmission of each parameter measured by the AUC did not show clinically applicable values; the best result was for MPV (AUC 0.64, Figure 1).



Figure 1. Area under the curve for predicting three-month readmission with mean platelet volume

In the remaining values, the AUC was between 0.52 and 0.55.

Discussion

Numerous parameters of routine blood tests are considered to be underlying biomarkers of inflammation and potentially useful in establishing a prognosis in patients with COPD [12]. These tests have the advantage of being inexpensive and immediately available for clinicians. Therefore, the potential contribution of their possible clinical application is of great interest. In retrospective studies, RDW was an independent risk factor for readmission [6]. MPV, although less frequently evaluated, has shown inconclusive results [7]. The neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio and the PLT to lymphocyte ratio are both elevated in stable COPD patients, and their values further increased during exacerbations [9, 10]. These ratios have been identified as being able to predict COPD progression and outcomes such as hospital mortality [9, 10]. Eosinophil counts have been proposed as being predictors of the one-year risk of hospitalisation [11]. Consequently, we considered it necessary to study the possibility that these parameters would offer prognostic information in patients admitted for acute COPD. Theoretically, the values of these indices obtained in a blood test at the time of admission could indicate the risk of readmission in the three months after discharge and thus, enable specific therapeutic plans.

Unfortunately, in our prospective study of consecutive COPD patients, we have not been able to confirm any of the promising results of these parameters obtained at the moment of hospital admission. Only MPV showed significant differences between patients with and without readmission. However, in view of the AUC results, its values do not allow for its application in individual cases. MPV is a component of routine blood analysis that correlates highly with platelet activation and is linked to the pathophysiology of the inflammatory process during COPD exacerbations [7]. In fact, previous studies have shown that MPV may represent an inflammatory marker for multiple conditions such as vascular diseases, rheumatoid diseases, and diabetes mellitus [7]. Platelet distribution width (PDW) is an additional parameter with prognostic value, but was not available in our study [13]. In our series, as described in other studies [2], hospitalisation in the year prior to index admission was the key predictor of COPD-related readmission. Although conducted prospectively and applied in a real clinical setting, our work has the limitation of having been conducted in a single centre, so the results should be confirmed in other series. An additional limitation of this study is the absence of a definition of the probable causes of exacerbation (infectious vs non-infectious). This data could have allowed an analysis according to the cause of admission and would perhaps have detected subgroups in which biomarker analysis could be more useful. New research continues to be undertaken on biomarkers and factors that can help clinicians predict subsequent exacerbations of COPD.

Conclusions

The routine haematological parameters proposed as prognostic biomarkers in COPD, when obtained at the moment of hospital admission, were not useful for predicting three-month readmission.

Conflict of interest

Authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

References:

Halpin DMg, Miravitlles M, Metzdorf N, et al. Impact and prevention of severe exacerbations of COPD: a review of the evidence. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2017; 12: 2891–2908, doi: <u>10.2147/COPD.S139470</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29062228</u>.

- Njoku CM, Alqahtani JS, Wimmer BC, et al. Risk factors and associated outcomes of hospital readmission in COPD: A systematic review. Respir Med. 2020; 173: 105988, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>rmed.2020.105988</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33190738</u>.
- Kong CW, Wilkinson TMA. Predicting and preventing hospital readmission for exacerbations of COPD. ERJ Open Res. 2020; 6(2): 00325-2019, doi: <u>10.1183/23120541.00325-2019</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32420313</u>.
- Hegelund A, Andersen IC, Andersen MN, et al. The impact of a personalised action plan delivered at discharge to patients with COPD on readmissions: a pilot study. Scand J Caring Sci. 2020; 34(4): 909–918, doi: <u>10.1111/scs.12798</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31865631</u>.
- Adibi A, Sin D, Safari A, et al. The acute COPD exacerbation prediction tool (ACCEPT): a modelling study. Lancet Respir Med. 2020; 8(10): 1013–1021, doi: <u>10.1016/s2213-2600(19)30397-2</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32178776</u>.
- Epstein D, Nasser R, Mashiach T, et al. Increased red cell distribution width: A novel predictor of adverse outcome in patients hospitalized due to acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Med. 2018; 136: 1–7, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> rmed.2018.01.011, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29501240</u>.
- Ma Y, Zong D, Zhan Z, et al. Feasibility of mean platelet volume as a biomarker for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Int Med Res. 2019; 47(12): 5937–5949, doi: <u>10.1177/0300060519887886</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31774003</u>.

- Mallah H, Ball S, Sekhon J, et al. Platelets in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: An update on pathophysiology and implications for antiplatelet therapy. Respir Med. 2020; 171: 106098, doi: <u>10.1016/j.rmed.2020.106098</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32777683</u>.
- Paliogiannis P, Fois AG, Sotgia S, et al. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio and clinical outcomes in COPD: recent evidence and future perspectives. Eur Respir Rev. 2018; 27(147): 170113, doi: <u>10.1183/16000617.0113-2017</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29436405</u>.
- El-Gazzar AG, Kamel MH, Elbahnasy OK, et al. Prognostic value of platelet and neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio in COPD patients. Expert Rev Respir Med. 2020; 14(1): 111–116, doi: <u>10.1080/17476348.2019.1675517</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31577911</u>.
- 11. Couillard S, Larivée P, Courteau J, et al. Eosinophils in COPD exacerbations are associated with increased readmissions. Chest. 2017; 151(2): 366–373, doi: <u>10.1016/j.chest.2016.10.003</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>27746201</u>.
- Xiong W, Xu M, Zhao Y, et al. Can we predict the prognosis of COPD with a routine blood test? Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2017; 12: 615–625, doi: <u>10.2147/COPD.S124041</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28243079</u>.
- Białas AJ, Pedone C, Piotrowski WJ, et al. Platelet distribution width as a prognostic factor in patients with COPD — pilot study. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2017; 12: 2261–2267, doi: <u>10.2147/COPD.S131868</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28814854</u>.

Magdalena Maria Martusewicz-Boros¹, Wojciech Jerzy Piotrowski²

¹3rd Lung Diseases and Oncology Department, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Reasearch Institute in Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland ²Department of Pneumonology and Allergy, Medical University of Lodz, Lodz, Poland

Progressive fibrosis in interstitial lung diseases — proposed definition and management

Abstract

Interstitial lung diseases may have an unpredictably progressive course, which is manifested as progression of pulmonary fibrosis, causing an increasing impairment of lung function affecting a poor prognosis. The possibility of an effective antifibrotic treatment is a chance for patients to slow down the progression of the disease, perhaps even extend their life. For this reason, standardization of the definition as well as identification criteria for progressive fibrosis interstitial lung disease is a method for optimizing the management in this group of patients.

Key words: interstitial lung disease, progressive fibrosis, antifibrotic treatment

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 505-510

Introduction

Interstitial lung diseases (ILDs) are a heterogeneous group of diseases differing in aetiopathogenesis, clinical course and prognosis [1]. The common characteristic of some of them is the possible progressive nature of lesions that leads to advanced fibrosis that is not amenable (at a certain stage) to anti-inflammatory or immunomodulating causative treatment [2]. A classic example of progressive fibrosing interstitial lung disease (PF-ILD) is idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF). IPF is a disease of unknown aetiology (despite identification of potential risk factors) with lesions that have a morphology of usual interstitial pneumonia (UIP), which is diagnosed by ruling out other causes of the observed lesions [3, 4].

IPF has an unpredictably progressive course, which is manifested as progression of pulmonary fibrosis, causing an increasing impairment of lung function and inevitably leading to death [3–6]. The natural course of the disease is associated with a median survival (3–5 years) shorter than in the course of many types of cancer [7, 8]. Progressive pulmonary fibrosis is a characteristic encountered also in the course of other ILDs. It affects patients with hypersensitivity pneumonitis (HP), interstitial lung lesions associated with connective tissue diseases (CTD; in particular diffuse systemic sclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis, systemic myositis and other), idiopathic non-specific interstitial pneumonia (NSIP), sarcoidosis or unclassifiable idiopathic interstitial pneumonia (uILD). As demonstrated by studies in the recent years, identification of the PF-ILD phenotype and adequate therapeutic management may improve the prognosis in this patient group [9, 10].

Definition of PF-ILD

An initial attempt at defining PF-ILD with specification of its diagnostic criteria was made at the stage of clinical trials to select patients for conducting an assessment of the effect of antifibrotic treatment [9–11]. On the basis of those experiences, an international expert panel published proposed recommendations for both identification and management of patients with this phenotype of interstitial pulmonary fibrosis [2].

Until 2019, the usefulness of the antifibrotic effect in non-IPF interstitial disorders leading

Address for correspondence: Magdalena Maria Martusewicz-Boros, 3rd Lung Diseases and Oncology Department, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Reasearch Institute in Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland; e-mail: m.martusewicz@gmail.com

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0103 | Received: 14.07.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

to pulmonary fibrosis was only a hypothesis (presumption) [12, 13]. Numerous trials are now ongoing, but in some of the completed ones evidence was obtained that nintedanib can effectively slow down the progression of interstitial lesions in patients with systemic sclerosis (the SENSCIS trial) as well as with other ILDs where disease progression was observed despite the existing treatment (the INBUILD trial) [9, 10]. Different eligibility criteria for patients with progressive interstitial pulmonary fibrosis were adopted in clinical trials investigating the efficacy of antifibrotic treatment. At the current stage, on the basis of the evidence that already exists, it is considered that progressive fibrosis associated with an interstitial lung disease is a situation (phenotype) in which pulmonary lesions still progress despite conventional treatment. The definition of PF-ILD should take into account the combination of aggravating lesions in the radiological image (CT), decline of lung function and clinical symptoms experienced by the patient. The role of a multidisciplinary team is emphasised - both at the stage of diagnostic work-up, determining the proper, precise diagnosis of ILD and assessment of disease progression or the lack of efficacy of the first-line treatment used, dedicated to the given diagnosis. In the case of non-IPF PF-ILD, the antifibrotic therapy should be a type of second-line treatment when progression of fibrosis is evidenced despite the use of conventional treatment [2].

The diagnosis of PF-ILD requires confirmation of disease progression during the previous 24 months of follow-up, occurring despite the use of adequate therapy. However, it worth to point out that the observation period for the PF-ILD diagnosis is not established and in clinical trials the adopted observation time was different (6–24 months).

Disease progression was defined as meeting one of the following criteria:

- 1. ↓ forced vital capacity (FVC) by \ge 10% of the predicted value or
- 2. ↓ FVC by ≥ 5% of the predicted value with ↓lung transfer factor for carbon monoxide (TLCO) by ≥15% of the predicted value, or
- 3. \downarrow FVC by \geq 5% of the predicted value with \uparrow respiratory symptoms, or
- 4. ↓ FVC by ≥ 5% of the predicted value with ↑ extent of fibrosis in high resolution computed tomography (HRCT), or
- 5. Severe respiratory symptoms and ↑ extent of fibrosis in HRCT [2].

Scale of the problem

The question of how many patients in clinical practice have the progressive fibrosing phenotype preoccupies the researchers concerned with this issue.

The incidence of PF-ILD is an estimate based on retrospective analyses of groups of patients with interstitial pulmonary lesions with such a course of the disease. The disease outcomes vary, which is not surprising in view of different criteria of group selection and different criteria of assessment of fibrosis progression [14–17].

In an extensive international questionnaire survey with participation of 486 specialists (243 pulmonologists, 203 rheumatologists and 40 internists), the estimated prevalence of PF-ILD was 18–32% of patients diagnosed with ILD [18]. On the basis of the obtained data, 25–50% of patients with evidence of PF-ILD do not receive pharmacological treatment and the time from symptoms onset to death was assessed as 61–80 months [18]. Failure to initiate a therapeutic intervention was explained by different issues arising from disease advancement (both mild and too severe course), intolerance of medicines and also the lack of an effective treatment [18].

In a recently published review of literature concerning this issue, the prevalence of PF-ILD was estimated as 2.2–20.0 per 100,000 in Europe and 28.0 per 100,000 in the USA, with an estimated percentage of 13–40% of ILDs cases [19].

The clinical course — the rate of decline in pulmonary function — in non-IPF PF-ILDs is similar to that of IPF, which indicates an adverse prognosis in this patient group [20]. In the INBUILD study in patients with PF-ILD with pulmonary lesions of the UIP pattern, the rate of deaths in the placebo arm was identical to that found in patients with IPF in the placebo arm in the INPULSIS studies (7.8% in a one-year follow-up) [20].

The key issue, noted on many occasions, is the lack of the generally adopted (diagnostic and therapeutic) management standard in PF-ILD patients.

Efficacy of treatment of non-IPF PF-ILD with antifibrotic agents

In randomised placebo-controlled clinical trials, nintedanib (TOMMOROW, INPULSIS-1, INPULSIS-2) and pirfenidone (CAPACITY-004, CAPACITY-006, ASCEND) were found to effectively and significantly reduce the decline in
FVC, which translates into slowing down the IPF progression [21–24]. Both medicines have been approved for the treatment of IPF, and the positive effects obtained in clinical practice, along with the trends towards prolonged survival in the treated patients with an acceptable treatment tolerability, prompted further studies in indications extended to other interstitial diseases associated with fibrosis [25–29].

So far, on the basis of the existing results of clinical trials, only nintedanib obtained an extension of its approved indications by the treatment of patients with systemic sclerosis-associated ILD (the SENSCIS study) and patients with other non-IPF interstitial lung diseases with progressive pulmonary fibrosis in their course (the INBUILD study) [9, 10].

Nintedanib is an oral tyrosine kinase inhibitor with a multitarget mechanism of action that involves inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor receptors (VEGFR 1–3), platelet-derived growth factor receptors (PDGFR α and β) and fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR 1–3), which participate in the pathogenic process of fibrosis [21].

As demonstrated by post-hoc analyses of databases of marketing authorisation and post-marketing studies investigating nintedanib in IPF patients, the beneficial treatment effect is maintained in the long term, occurs regardless of disease advancement, and contributes to a reduction of the risk of sudden exacerbations and probably to extended survival of patients [25, 26, 30–35]. By analogy, similar effects against other PF-ILDs were expected.

Another antifibrotic agent — pirfenidon is also investigated in non-IPF ILDs, but so far is not registered for treatment in this indication [11].

Efficacy of nintedanib treatment of ILD associated with systemic sclerosis (SSc)

Systemic sclerosis (SSc) is a rare multiorgan autoimmune disease. It is characterised by blood vessels injury, the presence of autoantibodies and progressive fibrosis of the skin and internal organs. The clinical course may vary. It depends on the rate of development of organ complications in the individual patients [36]. Lung involvement, which unfortunately occurs in most patients, has a significant impact on the prognosis. Pulmonary fibrosis and pulmonary hypertension are the main causes of deaths related to disease progression [37]. Unfortunately, the existing anti-inflammatory and immunomodulating treatment is sometimes toxic and is not sufficiently effective — it does not stop over a long term the progression of interstitial lesions in the lungs [38–40].

In the randomised double-blind placebo-controlled SENSCIS study including a group of 576 SSc patients, nintedanib treatment (during a 52-week follow-up) was found to significantly reduce the rate of decline in pulmonary function [10]. Unfortunately, it was not found to have a beneficial effect on the skin lesions whose improvement was assessed as a secondary objective. Although in INPULSIS studies the decline in pulmonary function in the group that received placebo was more than a half lower than in the group of IPF patients treated with nintedanib (-93.3 mL vs -223 mL), the relative effect on the reduction of FVC decline was similar (-44% vs 49%, respectively). The absolute (numerical) difference in FVC decline may seem small (41 mL in favour of the nintedanib group) but it should also be considered that immunosuppressive treatment was allowed in the study group and almost a half of the patients received mycophenolate mofetil (MMF). An annual difference in FVC decline was visible in the placebo group that received MMF or not (-66.5 mL vs -119.3 mL) [10].

Antifibrotic treatment gave hope to SSc patients for slowing down the progression of ILD [41].

Efficacy of nintedanib treatment of ILD associated with non-IPF PF-ILD

Another double-blind placebo-controlled phase 3 study abbreviated as INBUILD included 663 patients at 15 sites around the world, with different non-IPF ILDs (including also SSc) who have developed progressive pulmonary fibrosis [9].

The inclusion criteria for the study became the basis for establishing the proposed PF-ILD definition [2]. The predominant basic diagnosis was HP, followed by autoimmune diseases, idiopathic NSIP, uIIP, and other ILDs (e.g. sarcoidosis). Also in this case a significant benefit for patients treated with nintedanib was demonstrated, in the form of a reduced FVC decline in a 52-week follow-up (-80.8 mL vs -187.8 mL in the placebo group). The inter-group difference was 107 mL/year (95% confidence interval [CI], 65.4-148.5; p < 0.001). For patients with the HRCT pattern of pulmonary lesions consistent with UIP, the difference was even larger than in the overall population and was 128.2 ml (95% CI, 70.8–185.6; p < 0.001) [9]. As demonstrated in a further analysis, regardless of the diagnosis, i.e. regardless of whether a patient with CTD-as-



Figure 1. Proposed algorithm of diagnostic and therapeutic management of patients with ILDs (developed by the authors).

ILD — interstitial lung disease, CTD — connective tissue disease, CTD-ILD — CTD-associated interstitial lung disease, HP — hypersensitivity pneumonia, BBS – Besnier-Boeck-Schaumann's disease, sarcoidosis, EP — eosinophilic pneumonia, LAM — lymphangioleiomyomatosis, PAP — pulmonary alveolar proteinosis, LCH – Langerhans cell histiocytosis, IIP — idiopathic interstitial pneumonia, IPAF — interstitial pneumonia with autoimmune features, IPF — idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, non-IPF — non-IPF diseases, PF-ILD — interstitial lung disease with a progressive fibrosing phenotype

*The procedure should follow the current recommendations regarding the treatment of a specific disease entity (in some situations it may be avoiding the causative factor, monitoring the progress of ILD, in others undertaking pharmacological treatment)

**The rheumatological consultation is necessary for each CTD-ILD, including an assessment of indications for treatment due to systemic disease. In the case of CTD-ILD with UIP pattern, with no indications for systemic treatment due to CTD, antifibrotic treatment can be considered as the first-line therapy.

sociated ILD, HP or with another form of PF-ILD was treated, all those patients had similar benefits from the treatment with nintedanib [42].

It seems justified to consider the antifibrotic treatment with nintedanib in all patients with PF-ILD in whom conventional treatment consistent with the standard of care dedicated to the underlying disease has failed or is contraindicated.

The proposed algorithm of diagnostic and therapeutic management is presented in Figure 1.

Safety of PF-ILD treatment with nintedanib

The antifibrotic treatment with nintedanib is associated with a risk of adverse drug reactions that nevertheless do not preclude the therapy in most cases, which has been known after the previous studies in groups of IPF patients [22, 26, 43–45].

The profile of adverse drug reactions in studies on non-IPF PF-ILDs was consistent with the previous observations. The most common adverse drug reaction was diarrhoea, observed in 66.9–75.7% of the patients [9, 10]. Elevated transaminases were found in 4.9% of the patients diagnosed with SSc in the SENSCS study and 13% of the patients in the INBILD study treated with nintedanib, and this reaction was mostly transient and reversible [9, 10]. No differences in the severity of adverse drug reactions were observed between patients with the UIP-like pattern of pulmonary lesions and patients with a different pattern [9].

The generally adopted rules that have been determined in studies and observations in patients with IPF should be used for patient selection and treatment monitoring. The possible treatment contraindications, comorbidities and potential interactions with other medicines should be taken into account. The standard therapeutic doses and methods of managing adverse drug reactions are similar as in the treatment of IPF (300 mg per day in two divided doses, and if adverse drug reactions occur, it is recommended to use symptomatic treatment and, if necessary, to reduce the medicine dose to 200 mg per day or to temporarily interrupt the treatment).

Conclusions

The existing observations indicate that PF-ILD may affect a significant percentage of patients with ILDs. The need for defining this patient group arises mainly from the practical aspect of the demonstrated efficacy of antifibrotic treatment (currently proven for nintedanib) in patients with non-IPF ILDs associated with progressive pulmonary fibrosis.

The standardisation of the diagnostic criteria of PF-ILD would enable easier identification and selection of an adequate patient group for antifibrotic treatment.

Conflict of interest

MMM-B and WJP reports fees for lectures, consultancy and travel to medical meetings from Boehringer Ingelheim and Roche outside the submitted work.

References:

- Travis WD, Costabel U, Hansell DM, et al. An official American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society statement: Update of the international multidisciplinary classification of the idiopathic interstitial pneumonias. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013; 188(6): 733–748, doi: <u>10.1164/rccm.201308-1483ST</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>24032382</u>.
- George PM, Spagnolo P, Kreuter M, et al. Progressive fibrosing interstitial lung disease: clinical uncertainties, consensus recommendations, and research priorities. Lancet Respir Med. 2020; 8(9): 925–934, doi: <u>10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30355-6</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32890499</u>.
- Raghu G, Remy-Jardin M, Myers JL, et al. Diagnosis of Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. An Official ATS/ERS/JRS/ALAT Clinical Practice Guideline. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2018; 198(5): e44–e68, doi: <u>10.1164/rccm.201807-1255ST</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30168753</u>.
- Piotrowski WJ, Bestry I, Białas AJ, et al. Guidelines of the Polish Respiratory Society for diagnosis and treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Adv Respir Med. 2020; 88(1): 41–93, doi: <u>10.5603/ARM.2020.0081</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32153010</u>.
- Kreuter M, Swigris J, Pittrow D, et al. The clinical course of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and its association to quality of life over time: longitudinal data from the INSIGHTS-IPF registry. Respir Res. 2019; 20(1): 59, doi: <u>10.1186/s12931-019-1020-3</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30876420</u>.
- Reichmann WM, Yu YF, Macaulay D, et al. Change in forced vital capacity and associated subsequent outcomes in patients with newly diagnosed idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. BMC Pulm Med. 2015; 15: 167, doi: <u>10.1186/s12890-015-0161-5</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>26714746</u>.
- Vancheri C, Failla M, Crimi N, et al. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: a disease with similarities and links to cancer biology. Eur Respir J. 2010; 35(3): 496-504, doi: 10.1183/09031936.00077309, indexed in Pubmed: 20190329.
- Richeldi L, Collard H, Jones M. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. The Lancet. 2017; 389(10082): 1941–1952, doi: <u>10.1016/s0140-6736(17)30866-8</u>.

- Wells AU, Flaherty KR, Brown KK, et al. Nintedanib in Progressive Fibrosing Interstitial Lung Diseases. N Engl J Med. 2019; 381(18): 1718–1727, doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa1908681</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31566307</u>.
- Highland KB, Distler O, Kuwana M, et al. Design of a randomised, placebo-controlled clinical trial of nintedanib in patients with systemic sclerosis-associated interstitial lung disease (SENSCIS[™]). Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2017; 35 Suppl 106(4): 75–81, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28664834</u>.
- Maher TM, Corte TJ, Fischer A, et al. Pirfenidone in patients with unclassifiable progressive fibrosing interstitial lung disease: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Respir Med. 2020; 8(2): 147–157, doi: 10.1016/ S2213-2600(19)30341-8, indexed in Pubmed: 31578169.
- Torrisi SE, Kahn N, Wälscher J, et al. Possible value of antifibrotic drugs in patients with progressive fibrosing non-IPF interstitial lung diseases. BMC Pulm Med. 2019; 19(1): 213, doi: 10.1186/s12890-019-0937-0, indexed in Pubmed: 31718637.
- Wells AU, Brown KK, Flaherty KR, et al. What's in a name? That which we call IPF, by any other name would act the same. Eur Respir J. 2018; 51(5), doi: <u>10.1183/13993003.00692-2018</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29773608</u>.
- Nunes H, Schubel K, Piver D, et al. Nonspecific interstitial pneumonia: survival is influenced by the underlying cause. Eur Respir J. 2015; 45(3): 746–755, doi: <u>10.1183/09031936.00148613</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>25537566</u>.
- Gimenez A, Storrer K, Kuranishi L, et al. Change in FVC and survival in chronic fibrotic hypersensitivity pneumonitis. Thorax. 2018; 73(4): 391–392, doi: <u>10.1136/thoraxjnl-2017-210035</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28883091</u>.
- Lee JiY, Jin SM, Lee BJ, et al. Treatment response and long term follow-up results of nonspecific interstitial pneumonia. J Korean Med Sci. 2012; 27(6): 661–667, doi: <u>10.3346/</u> jkms.2012.27.6.661, indexed in Pubmed: <u>22690098</u>.
- Goh NS, Hoyles RK, Denton CP, et al. Short-Term Pulmonary Function Trends Are Predictive of Mortality in Interstitial Lung Disease Associated With Systemic Sclerosis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2017; 69(8): 1670–1678, doi: <u>10.1002/art.40130</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28426895</u>.
- Wijsenbeek M, Kreuter M, Olson A, et al. Progressive fibrosing interstitial lung diseases: current practice in diagnosis and management. Curr Med Res Opin. 2019; 35(11): 2015–2024, doi: <u>10.1080/03007995.2019.1647040</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31328965</u>.
- Olson A, Hartmann N, Patnaik P, et al. Estimation of the Prevalence of Progressive Fibrosing Interstitial Lung Diseases: Systematic Literature Review and Data from a Physician Survey. Adv Ther. 2021; 38(2): 854–867, doi: <u>10.1007/s12325-020-01578-6</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33315170</u>.
- Brown KK, Martinez FJ, Walsh SLF, et al. The natural history of progressive fibrosing interstitial lung diseases. Eur Respir J. 2020; 55(6), doi: <u>10.1183/13993003.00085-2020</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32217654</u>.
- Richeldi L, Costabel U, Selman M, et al. Efficacy of a tyrosine kinase inhibitor in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2011; 365(12): 1079–1087, doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa1103690</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>21992121</u>.
- Richeldi L, Bois Rdu, Raghu G, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Nintedanib in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. N Eng J Med. 2014; 370(22): 2071–2082, doi: <u>10.1056/nejmoa1402584</u>.
- Noble PW, Albera C, Bradford WZ, et al. Pirfenidone in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (CAPACITY): two randomised trials. Lancet. 2011; 377(9779): 1760–1769, doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60405-4</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>21571362</u>.
- 24. Nathan SD, Albera C, Bradford WZ, et al. All-cause mortality rate in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Implications for the design and execution of clinical trials. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014; 189(7): 825–831, doi: 10.1164/ rccm.201311-1951OC, indexed in Pubmed: 24476390.
- 25. Lancaster L, Crestani B, Hernandez P, et al. Safety and survival data in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis treated with nintedanib: pooled data from six clinical trials. BMJ Open Respir Res. 2019; 6(1): e000397, doi: 10.1136/bmjresp-2018-000397, indexed in Pubmed: 31179001.

- Crestani B, Huggins JT, Kaye M, et al. Long-term safety and tolerability of nintedanib in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: results from the open-label extension study, INPUL-SIS-ON. Lancet Respir Med. 2019; 7(1): 60–68, doi: <u>10.1016/</u> <u>S2213-2600(18)30339-4</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30224318</u>.
- Cottin V, Koschel D, Günther A, et al. Long-term safety of pirfenidone: results of the prospective, observational PASSPORT study. ERJ Open Res. 2018; 4(4), doi: <u>10.1183/23120541.00084-</u> <u>2018</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30364407</u>.
- Fisher M, Nathan SD, Hill C, et al. Predicting Life Expectancy for Pirfenidone in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. 2017; 23(3-b Suppl): S17–S24, doi: <u>10.18553/</u> <u>jmcp.2017.23.3-b.s17</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28287347</u>.
- Martusewicz-Boros M, Górska K. Nintedanib efficacy, safety and practical aspects of treatment for patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Adv Respir Med. 2020; 88(6): 599–607, doi: <u>10.5603/ARM.a2020.0190</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33393653</u>.
- Raghu G, Wells AU, Nicholson AG, et al. Effect of Nintedanib in Subgroups of Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis by Diagnostic Criteria. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017; 195(1): 78–85, doi: 10.1164/rccm.201602-0402OC, indexed in Pubmed: 27331880.
- Kolb M, Richeldi L, Behr J, et al. Nintedanib in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and preserved lung volume. Thorax. 2017; 72(4): 340–346, doi: <u>10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-208710</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>27672117</u>.
- 32. Brown KK, Flaherty KR, Cottin V, et al. Lung function outcomes in the INPULSIS trials of nintedanib in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respir Med. 2019; 146: 42–48, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> rmed.2018.11.012, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30665517</u>.
- Richeldi L, Kolb M, Jouneau S, et al. Nintedanib plus Sildenafil in Patients with Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2018; 379(18): 1722–1731, doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa1811737</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30220235</u>.
- 34. Richeldi L, Kolb M, Jouneau S, et al. Efficacy and safety of nintedanib in patients with advanced idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. BMC Pulm Med. 2020; 20(1): 3, doi: <u>10.1186/s12890-019-1030-4</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31914963</u>.
- 35. Guenther A, Krauss E, Tello S, et al. The European IPF registry (eurIPFreg): baseline characteristics and survival of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respir Res. 2018; 19(1): 141, doi: <u>10.1186/s12931-018-0845-5</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30055613</u>.
- Kowal-Bielecka O, Fransen J, Avouac J, et al. Update of EULAR recommendations for the treatment of systemic sclerosis. Ann

Rheum Dis. 2017; 76(8): 1327–1339, doi: <u>10.1136/annrheum-</u> <u>dis-2016-209909</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>27941129</u>.

- 37. Elhai M, Meune C, Boubaya M, et al. Trends in mortality in patients with systemic sclerosis over 40 years: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2012; 51(6): 1017–1026, doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ ker269, indexed in Pubmed: 21900368.
- Tashkin DP, Elashoff R, Clements PJ, et al. Effects of 1-year treatment with cyclophosphamide on outcomes at 2 years in scleroderma lung disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2007; 176(10): 1026–1034, doi: <u>10.1164/rccm.200702-326OC</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>17717203</u>.
- Khanna D, Yan X, Tashkin DP, et al. Cyclophosphamide versus placebo in scleroderma lung disease. N Engl J Med. 2006; 354(25): 2655–2666, doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa055120</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>16790698</u>.
- Martinez FJ, McCune WJ. Cyclophosphamide for scleroderma lung disease. N Engl J Med. 2006; 354(25): 2707–2709, doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMe068095</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>16790705</u>.
- Fischer A, Distler J. Progressive fibrosing interstitial lung disease associated with systemic autoimmune diseases. Clin Rheumatol. 2019; 38(10): 2673–2681, doi: <u>10.1007/s10067-019-04720-0</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31423560</u>.
- 42. Wells AU, Flaherty KR, Brown KK, et al. Nintedanib in patients with progressive fibrosing interstitial lung diseases-subgroup analyses by interstitial lung disease diagnosis in the IN-BUILD trial: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group trial. Lancet Respir Med. 2020; 8(5): 453–460, doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30036-9, indexed in Pubmed: 32145830.
- 43. Hughes G, Toellner H, Morris H, et al. Real World Experiences: Pirfenidone and Nintedanib are Effective and Well Tolerated Treatments for Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. J Clin Med. 2016; 5(9), doi: <u>10.3390/jcm5090078</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>27598213</u>.
- 44. Antoniou K, Markopoulou K, Tzouvelekis A, et al. Efficacy and safety of nintedanib in a Greek multicentre idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis registry: a retrospective, observational, cohort study. ERJ Open Res. 2020; 6(1), doi: <u>10.1183/23120541.00172-</u> <u>2019</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32010718</u>.
- Brunnemer E, Wälscher J, Tenenbaum S, et al. Real-World Experience with Nintedanib in Patients with Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. Respiration. 2018; 95(5): 301–309, doi: <u>10.1159/000485933</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29490307</u>.

Ioannis Tsamis¹, Stavroula-Porfyria Chachali², Georgia Gomatou¹, Ioannis Trontzas¹, Maria Mitsogianni¹, Nikolaos Syrigos¹, Ioannis Vamvakaris³, Elias Kotteas¹

¹Oncology Unit, Third Department of Medicine, Sotiria General Hospital, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Messogion, Athens, Greece

²4th Department of Internal Medicine, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Medical School, Athens, Greece
³Pathology Department, Sotiria General Hospital, Messogion, Athens, Greece

Pulmonary blastoma: a comprehensive overview of a rare entity

Abstract

Introduction: Pulmonary blastoma is a rare malignancy, accounting for less than 0.5% of primary lung tumors. It belongs to the group of pulmonary sarcomatoid carcinomas, and it is typically characterized by a biphasic pattern of an epithelial and a mesenchymal component. Only a few hundred cases have been reported worldwide. The aim of this study is to review and critically assess the literature regarding pulmonary blastoma.

Material and methods: A narrative literature review of PubMed database from the inception of the database up to January 2021, limited to the English language, was conducted, using combinations of the following keywords: "pulmonary blastoma", "biphasic pulmonary blastoma", "sarcomatoid carcinoma".

Results: Pulmonary blastoma is composed of an epithelial and a mesenchymal malignant component. Regarding pathogenesis, the origin of the biphasic cell population remains elusive. Characteristic immunohistochemical stains are supportive of diagnosis. Clinically, the symptomatology is non-specific, while 40% of the cases are asymptomatic. It is diagnosed at a younger age compared to other types of lung cancer, and it is often non-metastatic at diagnosis allowing for surgical treatment. Data on management and survival are scarce and mainly come from isolated cases. Advances on targeted therapy may provide novel treatment options. Given the rarity of the cases, multicenter collaboration is needed in order to establish therapeutic guidelines.

Key words: pulmonary blastoma, sarcomatoid lung carcinoma, biphasic pulmonary blastoma

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 511-519

Introduction

Pulmonary blastoma (PB) is a rare malignancy that is estimated to account for 0.25 to 0.5% of all pulmonary neoplasms. It was seminally described in 1945 by Barrett and Barnard and was referred to as "embryoma"; however, in 1961, Spencer termed the tumor "blastoma" due to its histologic resemblance to the fetal lung at the 10–16-week stage of development (paraadenomal stage of lung development) [1]. Koss *et al.* (1991) classified pulmonary blastoma into 3 different subtypes: a) classic biphasic pulmonary blastoma (CBPB), b) pleuropulmonary blastoma (PPB) and c) well-differentiated fetal adenocarcinoma (WDFA) [2]. Pleuropulmonary blastoma predominantly presents in children and represents the most common primary pediatric pulmonary malignancy [3]. Classic biphasic pulmonary blastoma is typically characterized by a biphasic pattern consisting of a primitive mesenchymal stroma along with an epithelial component of fetal adenocarcinoma, while well-differentiated fetal adenocarcinoma is a monophasic tumor, presenting with immature adenocarcinoma as histologic characteristics [2]. Of note, since the WHO classification of lung tumors in 1999, pleuropulmonary blastoma is grouped with mesenchymal tumors, while fetal adenocarcinoma is classified as a subtype of lung adenocarcinoma [4]. Pulmonary blastoma is separately categorized as a type of sarcomatoid carcinoma of the lung

Address for correspondence: Georgia Gomatou, Oncology Unit, Third Department of Medicine, Sotiria General Hospital, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece; e-mail: georgia.gomatou@gmail.com

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0085 | Received: 05.04.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

[4, 5]. No significant changes have been made in the following versions, and therefore, the same terminology and categorization are adopted in the current WHO classification of lung tumors [6].

Only a few hundred cases of PB have been reported in the literature worldwide [7, 8]. Data on pathogenesis, epidemiology, management, and survival of pulmonary blastoma is scarce, and most evidence comes from case reports and case series. Additionally, the changes in the nomenclature of the tumor have led to confusion regarding the interpretation of earlier studies. Recently, the interest in rare pulmonary tumors has increased regarding both the pathogenetic and the clinical perspectives. To this end, the aim of this narrative review is to summarize updated data on pathogenesis, epidemiology, management, and outcome of pulmonary blastoma.

Pathogenesis

As far as the etiology is concerned, a correlation with smoking has been proposed with some cases demonstrating p53 mutation [9, 10]. Mutations in the gene of β -catenin have also been detected, similarly to other blastomas occurring in extrapulmonary sites, and those mutations are associated with the formation of morules in the tissue [11, 12]. Beta-catenin presents with a characteristic pattern of nuclear accumulation, which is unveiled with immunohistochemistry [11]. Of note, the mutations in β -catenin indicate a possible implication of the Wnt signaling pathway in the pathogenesis of PB [11]. In addition, a pathologic and molecular analysis of sixteen cases of PB demonstrated mutations in nine cancer-associated genes, namely BRCA2, ERBB4, ALK, MET, BRAF, RAF1, PTEN, EGFR, and PIK3CA [7].

PB belongs to the group of pulmonary sarcomatoid carcinomas, which are poorly differentiated non-small cell lung cancers (NSCLC), including a part of sarcoma-like elements or true sarcomatous areas [5, 6]. An interesting question regarding the pathogenesis of sarcomatoid carcinomas is whether the biphasic population of cells derives from a single ancestor cell or not. Two hypotheses have been proposed; the convergent hypothesis, suggesting that the different cancer cell types arise from different stem cells of epithelial and mesenchymal origin, and the divergent hypothesis proposing a single totipotential stem cell origin [13]. Moreover, the pathogenesis of sarcomatoid carcinomas has gained interest due to the potential involvement of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) resulting in the formation of a mesenchymal component in an otherwise epithelial tumor [5]. Regarding pulmonary blastoma, evidence supportive of a single cell origin has been derived from genetic studies [11, 14]. Additionally, a study exploring whole-genome allelic imbalance in a case of pulmonary blastoma demonstrated common alterations in both epithelial and mesenchymal components of the tumor [15].

Histology

Histologically, the tumor is composed of an epithelial and a mesenchymal component (Figure 1A, B). The epithelial element is morphologically characterized by irregularly branching glandular structures, lined by pseudostratified columnar cells with clear cytoplasm and little nuclear atypia. The appearance is similar to the gestational lung in the pseudoglandular phase [2]. An embryonic stroma with oval cells with a high nuclear-to-cytoplasmic ratio is present, but up to one-quarter of the cases contain foci of osteosarcoma, chondrosarcoma, and rhabdomyosarcoma [5]. Areas of necrosis and hemorrhage are commonly observed within the tumor [2]. Tissue sampling from multiple areas is essential to confirm the presence of both epithelial and mesenchymal malignant components and establish the diagnosis [16]. Formally, a definite diagnosis is not possible based on small biopsy or cytology specimens because it requires a sarcomatoid/sarcomatous component in at least 10% of the neoplasm. However, a diagnosis of "NSCLC with sarcomatoid/sarcomatous component, possible sarcomatoid carcinoma" is reasonable [6].

Due to diagnostic dilemmas, immunohistochemistry is largely used, and it is supportive in reaching the diagnosis of PB. On the one hand, epithelial components stain positive for Cytokeratin, CEA, epithelial membrane antigen (EMA), thyroid transcription factor-1 (TTF-1), and surface protein alpha [17]. On the other hand, the stromal components stain positive for vimentin, desmin, muscle-specific actin, myoglobin, and S-100 [14, 18–20]. It has been proposed that b-catenin accumulation in the nucleus could be used as an additional criterion for the diagnosis of pulmonary blastoma [21] (Figure 1C, D).

Clinical and radiographic characteristics

PB has both a local growth pattern invading adjacent structures and a hematogenous metastatic spread. The most common symptoms



Figure 1. Biphasic tumor consisting of areas of fetal adenocarcinoma (A) and a mesenchymal fibroblastic-like cells (B). Both epithelial and mesenchymal blastematous cells show accumulation of β -catenin (C, D)

that occur are cough, hemoptysis, shortness of breath, recurrent pneumonia, fever, and weight loss, but asymptomatic tumors, accounting for 40% of cases, may also be detected incidentally [22–25]. There is a similarity in the anatomical presentation of these tumors. Involvement of the upper lobes, restriction to only one lung, and mean tumor size of 7–10cm are some of them [8, 26–28]. Hematogeneous metastases in the brain, bones, and liver, similar to NSCLC, but also in the breast, ovaries, peritoneum have been reported [8, 29]. There is no established biomarker indicating the diagnosis of PB, however, alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) increase has been identified in a few cases [30, 31].

In computed tomography of the chest, PB is characterized by well-circumferenced lesions, with dense and vesical elements with varying contrast uptake and central necrosis. Invasion of the pleura is possible and endobronchial growth is present in 25% of cases [16, 22]. The proximity to the pleura renders the bronchoscopy and biopsy difficult in the majority of the cases. A CT-guided transthoracic biopsy may be more convenient for diagnosis [32].

Table 1 summarizes typical histologic, immunohistochemical, clinical, and radiographic characteristics of pulmonary blastoma.

Epidemiology

Pulmonary blastoma is typically diagnosed at a younger age compared to NSCLC, as the majority of the patients are diagnosed before 50 years old [33–59]. A bimodal age distribution with peaks of incidence in the 4th and 7th decade of life has been reported [18], however, this has not been confirmed in a recent epidemiological study [60]. Regarding the gender predilection of the neoplasm, the results are ambiguous. Some studies report a male predominance [18, 40, 61], while others describe equal prevalence or even predominance of female gender [32, 60]. It should

Pulmonary blastoma	Characteristics
Pathology	 Epithelial component: irregularly branching glandular structures, lined by pseudostratified columnar cells with clear cytoplasm and little nuclear atypia (fetal adenocarcinoma). Mesenchymal component: oval cells with a high nuclear-to- cytoplasmic ratio is present by definition, but up to one-quarter of the cases contain foci osteosarcoma, chondrosarcoma, and rhabdomyosarcoma
Immunohistochemistry	Epithelial component: Cytokeratin, CEA, epithelial membrane antigen (EMA), thyroid transcription factor-1 (TTF-1), and surface protein alpha Mesenchymal component: stromal components stain positive for vimentin, desmin, muscle-specific actin, myoglobin, and S-100
Clinical presentation	Cough, hemoptysis, shortness of breath, recurrent pneumonia, fever, and weight loss Asymptomatic tumors (40% of cases)
Radiographic presentation	Well-circumferenced lesions, with dense and vesical elements with varying contrast uptake and central necrosis

able 1. Histologic, immunohisto	hemical, clinical, and ra	adiographic characterist	ics of pulmonary blastoma
---------------------------------	---------------------------	--------------------------	---------------------------

be noted that earlier studies may have included fetal adenocarcinomas within the term of pulmonary blastoma, which may differ concerning the epidemiological features and thus, it needs to be considered when interpreting the data [55].

Prognosis of pulmonary blastoma has been considered poor, based on the reported survival of isolated case reports and case series [2, 39, 29]. Nevertheless, in the most recent epidemiological study, with data deriving from the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) database of the US population, it has been demonstrated that nearly half of the PB patients achieved long-term survival [60]. In fact, the 5- and 10-year survival rates in all PB patients were 58.2 and 48.5% [60].

Management and outcome

The majority of the patients with pulmonary blastoma are diagnosed at earlier stages, which allows for surgical treatment [29]. Similar to NS-CLC, lobectomy is the most frequent procedure performed [8, 27, 47]. A study of 5 patients with PB by Liman *et al.* between 1987 and 2000 reported long-term survival after radical surgery, in patients with small size tumors (< 5 cm) without nodal involvement [47]. Specifically, in this study, one patient presented with stage T1N0M0, one individual with T2N0M0, and three patients with T2N1M0. As it was anticipated, the subjects without nodal involvement had the most favorable outcome [47].

The efficacy of adjuvant therapy has not been established with clinical trials; however, several published cases are reporting good outcomes with the use of adjuvant chemotherapy with or without radiotherapy [29, 62, 32]. Cisplatin combined with etoposide has been proposed as a regimen for adjuvant chemotherapy based on a review of the literature [63]. In a more recent report by Lewis *et al.* (2018), two patients underwent surgical treatment and they received adjuvant cisplatin-based chemotherapy for four cycles followed by thoracic radiation. Both patients achieved long-term survival [62].

Additionally, a few reports have described cases in which the patients received neoadjuvant therapy for downstaging before surgical resection. Bosch-Barrera et al. (2015) reported a 25-yearold patient with unresectable locally advanced pulmonary blastoma who received neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy with two induction cycles of cisplatin plus etoposide, followed by concurrent weekly cisplatin and radiotherapy treatment. The tumor size significantly decreased, allowing for complete resection by pneumonectomy [59]. In another case, a 17-year-old male with a large tumor (12cm) with adjacent chest wall infiltration, which was considered unresectable initially, received preoperative chemotherapy with cisplatin plus etoposide. The reevaluation with chest CT scan after 3 cycles of chemotherapy demonstrated good regression of the mass. Therefore, the man underwent right upper and middle lobectomy followed by adjuvant local irradiation [57]. Moreover, in a patient who presented disease recurrence with a large mass, and although the original plan was for definitive radiation therapy with concurrent cisplatin and etoposide, the tumor regressed considerably after 2 weeks of treatment. Therefore, a preoperative course of radiation therapy and chemotherapy was decided and three weeks after completing therapy, he was reassessed with a chest CT showing impressive regression of disease, allowing for surgical treatment with right pmeumonectomy [67].

Regarding metastatic disease, treatment mainly includes chemotherapy; however, guidelines on regimens do not exist. Cutler et al. (1998) [63] and more recently Lewis et al. (2018) [62] have reviewed reports of patients who received chemotherapy. Historically, single-agent chemotherapy was initially tried with no clinical or objective response [62]. Vila et al. were the first to use combination chemotherapy with chlorambucil plus methotrexate in 1973 [33]. Over the following decades, oncologists applied various cytotoxic regimens, namely cisplatin-etoposide with or without ifosfamide and cyclophosphamide- and vincristine-based regimens. Other chemotherapeutic drugs that have been commonly used are carboplatin, doxorubicin, and paclitaxel [34, 52, 58, 65]. Moreover, two reports have been published of patients who received sorafenib; in one case the patient had a renal metastasis which responded well to sorafenib allowing for surgical treatment with radical nephrectomy [29, 50]. Interestingly, other four cases of metastasectomy have been reported, two of them involving metastatic tumors in the brain, in one case, a metastatic lesion in the breast, and finally, a case of metastatic PB to the ovary [48, 34, 62].

Only a few reports exist on the molecular alterations detected in PB, and even fewer that qualify for targetable therapies. Two cases have been published in which the tumor carried a ROS1 rearrangement. In the first case, fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) demonstrated a *ROS1* rearrangement in 7/50 tumor cells (14%) [20]. In the other case, the patient had a detectable CD74– ROS1 rearrangement and responded to crizotinib, providing a novel option for the treatment of PB [66]. The evidence remains scarce with regards to other molecular alterations; however, in the absence of established therapies and given the adenocarcinoma component of the tumor, it is reasonable to search for possible targetable mutations [26]. Finally, regarding immunotherapy, high expression of PD-L1 has been reported in some cases of PB, but no study has been published yet with the use of an immunotherapeutic agent [59].

Our literature review of recent (2000–2020) cases of patients with pulmonary blastoma who received chemotherapy in any setting (neoadjuvant, adjuvant, or metastatic) is shown in Table 2 [26, 28–30, 45, 47, 49, 50, 64, 66–71, 52, 54, 57–59, 62, 72–75]. Only English literature is included. Demographics characteristics, chemotherapeutics regimens, as well as reported survival, are summarized in the table.

Conclusion

Pulmonary blastoma is a rare tumor with unknown pathogenesis and aggressive behavior. It is diagnosed at a relatively young age, and it is frequently non-metastatic at diagnosis, allowing for surgical treatment. No guidelines exist regarding neoadjuvant or adjuvant therapy and concerning the optimal management of metastatic tumors. Due to the rarity of the cases, multicenter

Table 2.	Summary of published cases since 2000 of patients with pulmonary blastoma who received chemotherapy and
	kinase inhibitors in any setting (neoadjuvant, adjuvant, or metastatic)

Author	Year	Age/sex	Surgery	Chemo or radiation	Survival
Bini <i>et al</i> . [67]	2001	53/M	LL Lobectomy	After recurrence: Chemotherapy cisplatin-etoposide $ imes$ 3 cycles	12 m
Zaidi <i>et al</i> . [68]	2002	24/F	LU Lobectomy	Neoadjuvant vincristine, dactinomycin, ifosfamide, doxorubicin, etoposide, carboplatin	Alive at 35 m
Zaidi <i>et al.</i> [68]	2002	23/M	No	Vincristine, dactinomycin, cyclophos- phamide, cisplatinum, doxorubicin	8 m
Walker <i>et al.</i> [45]	2005	21/F	Thoracotomy with decortication	Chemotherapy due to residual disease after surgery	6 m
Liman <i>et al</i> . [47]	2006	27/F	RU Lobectomy	Vincristine and cyclophosphamide followed by ifosfamide and etoposide	17 m
Liman <i>et al</i> . [47]	2006	54/M	RL Lobectomy	Vincristine and cyclophosphamide	10 m
Oshika <i>et al.</i> [49]	2007	58/M	RU Lobectomy and mediastinal LN dissection	Adjuvant chemotherapy with cisplatin and etoposide; Radiation after recurrence	Alive 70 m postop

Author	Year	Age/sex	Surgery	Chemo or radiation	Survival
Mulamalla <i>et al</i> . [50]	2007	37/F	RU Lobectomy with LN dissection; Resection of local recurrence; Laparoscopic radical nephrectomy after response to sorafenib	Pemetrexed and bevacizumab \times 3 in combination with radiation (4800 cGy) Sorafenib	NA
He et al. [69]	2008	47/F	The mass was removed en bloc through radical left intrapericardial pneumonectomy	Adjuvant chemotherapy (carboplatin/etoposide/isofosfamide) × 3 ;radiotherapy	3 y postop alive- disease free
Yu <i>et al.</i> [70]	2009	38/F	Lobectomy, metastasectomy (abdominal hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy)	Adjuvant radiotherapy and chemothera- py (cisplatin and etoposide)	NA
Zagar <i>et al</i> . [64]	2010	24/M	RU Lobectomy, R pneumonectomy	Five years after lobectomy: Neoad- juvant radiation (60 Gy) followed by concurrent chemo-RT with cisplatin and etoposide (50 Gy total) in 2 Gy daily fractions; followed by adjuvant cisplatin and etoposide × 2 cycles	NA
Schwitter <i>et al.</i> [71]	2011	28/F	LU Lobectomy and LN dissection	Adjuvant Chemotherapy (initially ifos- famide, vincristin, actinomycin D and doxorubicin, later ifosmamide/cisplatin) Stereotactic Radiosurgery and whole brain RT (30 Gy)	Alive at 18 m
Van Loo <i>et al</i> . [29]	2011	77/M	RU Lobectomy with LN dissection	After recurrence: Sorafenib	12 m
Lindet <i>et al</i> . [52]	2011	22/F	R Pneumonectomy, pericardiectomy	After recurrence: 1st line: Ifosfamide, doxorubicin × 6 cycles then doxoru- bicin × 2 cycles followed by stereo- tactic radiotherapy (40 Gy); 2nd line: carboplatin, vincristine, 3rd line: cyclo- phosphamide; actinomycin-D, 4th line: docetaxel/gemcitabine	18 m
Sharma <i>et al.</i> [54]	2013	63/M	RL Lobectomy	After recurrence: Four cycles of cyclo- phosphamide, doxorubicin and vincris- tine (CAV)	NA
Muthu <i>et al</i> . [57]	2014	17/M	RU/RM Lobectomy; Tumorectomy along with excision of segments of fourth and fifth ribs	Neoadjuvant chemo with 3Cy Cis-VP Adjuvant RT, declined adjuvant chemo Declined chemo after 1st recurrence After 2nd recurrence → Cis-VP. The tu- mor was then de-bulked and its residue was irradiated; palliative radiation to	24 m

Table 2. Summary of published cases since 2000 of patients with pulmonary blastoma who received chemotherapy and kinase inhibitors in any setting (neoadjuvant, adjuvant, or metastatic)

Gallo <i>et al.</i> [72]	2015	43/M	No	Four cycles of cisplatin, ifosfamide, and etoposide (VIP) concurrently with 40 Gy external-beam radiation in 20 fractions	NA
Sakata <i>et al</i> . [58]	2015	63/M	LU Lobectomy and LN dissection	After recurrence: Carboplatin, Paclitaxel and bevacizumab	9.5 m
Bosch-Barrera <i>et al.</i> [59]	2015	25/F	Pneumonectomy (after neoadjuvant}	Neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy based on two induction cycles of cisplatin plus etoposide, followed by concurrent weekly cisplatin to 50.4 Gy radiotherapy	Alive 8 m postop
Kilic <i>et al</i> . [73]	2016	68/M	LUL lobectomy, Cranial metastectomy	After recurrence: Radiotherapy and chemotherapy	6 m
Liu <i>et al</i> . [28]	2017	53/M	Left lobe resection plus mediastinal LN dissection	Adjuvant: Paclitaxel combined with nedaplatin × 4 Recurrence: RT 42 Gy/21 f pemetrexed + cisplatin + bevacizumab	18 m

the spine

_

Author	Year	Age/sex	Surgery	Chemo or radiation	Survival
Caer <i>et al</i> . [74]	2018	71/F	RL Lobectomy	1 st : Cisplatin-vepesid, 2 nd : Carbo-etoposide; RT; Carbo-etoposide	Alive at 7 y postop
Meng <i>et al</i> . [66]	2018	44/F	No	Crizotinib first time used for PB (CD74– ROS1 rearrangement) → reduction in pleural effusion and 34.4% shrinkage of tumor size and improvement of symp- toms, after 3m PD with enlarged L lung lesion and L pleural effusion	3 m PFS
Lewis <i>et al.</i> [62]	2018	38/F	LU Lobectomy with chest wall resec- tion and mediastinal LN dissection, right parietal craniotomy, gamma knife radiosurgery (GKRS)	Adjuvant chemotherapy with cisplatin and vinorelbine , thoracic radiation with 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions.	Alive at 10 y postop
Lewis <i>et al</i> . [62]	2018	29/F	Thoracotomy and resection of the tumor Resection of the ovarian masses	Cisplatin, ifosfamide, vepesid, 59.49 Gy of radiation in 33 fractions	Alive at 10 y postop
Yang <i>et al</i> . [30]	2019	29/F	RM Lobectomy with LN dissection	Adjuvant Radiotherapy and nedaplatin	Alive at 6 m postop
Vossler <i>et al</i> . [75]	2019	66/F	Left Lobectomy	Palliative radiation and chemotherapy (cisplatin and etoposide)	6 m
Luo <i>et al.</i> [26]	2020	58/M	RU Lobectomy	Adjuvant: Nedaplatin plus paclitaxel After recurrence: two cycles of etopo- side-cisplatin and six cycles of peme- trexed, bevacizumab, and carboplatin. The chemotherapy was stopped due to toxicity. The patient was finally admin- istered anlotinib, a new oral multikinase inhibitor	Alive at 4 years

Table 2. Summary of published cases since 2000 of patients with pulmonary blastoma who received chemotherapy and kinase inhibitors in any setting (neoadjuvant, adjuvant, or metastatic)

F — female; M — male; R — right; L — left; RU — right upper; RM — right middle; RL — right lower; LU — left upper; LL — left lower; m — months; y — years; Gy — Grey; NA — not available

collaboration is sorely needed in order to provide databases, allow large clinical trials, and establish therapeutic guidelines.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

References:

- Pelosi G, Sonzogni A, De Pas T, et al. Review article: pulmonary sarcomatoid carcinomas: a practical overview. Int J Surg Pathol. 2010; 18(2): 103–120, doi: <u>10.1177/1066896908330049</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>19124452</u>.
- Koss M, Hochholzer L, O'Leary T. Pulmonary blastomas. Cancer. 1991; 67(9): 2368–2381, doi: <u>10.1002/1097-0142</u> (19910501)67:9<2368::aid-cncr2820670926>3.0.co;2-g.
- Knight S, Knight T, Khan A, et al. Current management of pleuropulmonary blastoma: A surgical perspective. Children (Basel). 2019; 6(8), doi: <u>10.3390/children6080086</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31349569</u>.
- Brambilla E, Travis WD, Colby TV, et al. The new World Health Organization classification of lung tumours. Eur Respir J. 2001; 18(6): 1059–1068, doi: <u>10.1183/09031936.01.00275301</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>11829087</u>.
- Baldovini C, Rossi G, Ciarrocchi A. Approaches to tumor classification in pulmonary sarcomatoid carcinoma. Lung Cancer (Auckl). 2019; 10: 131–149, doi: <u>10.2147/LCTT.S186779</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31824199</u>.

- Travis WD, Brambilla E, Nicholson AG, et al. WHO Panel. The 2015 World Health Organization classification of lung tumors: impact of genetic, clinical and radiologic advances since the 2004 classification. J Thorac Oncol. 2015; 10(9): 1243–1260, doi: 10.1097/JTO.000000000000630, indexed in Pubmed: 26291008.
- Zhao YY, Liu L, Zhou T, et al. A retrospective analysis of the clinicopathological and molecular characteristics of pulmonary blastoma. Onco Targets Ther. 2016; 9: 6915–6920, doi: 10.2147/OTT.S117097, indexed in Pubmed: 27877056.
- Brodowska-Kania D, Kotwica E, Paturej A, et al. What do we know about pulmonary blastoma?: review of literature and clinical case report. Nagoya J Med Sci. 2016; 78(4): 507–516, doi: <u>10.18999/nagjms.78.4.507</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28008207</u>.
- Bodner SM, Koss MN. Mutations in the p53 gene in pulmonary blastomas: immunohistochemical and molecular studies. Hum Pathol. 1996; 27(11): 1117–1123, doi: <u>10.1016/s0046-8177(96)90302-0</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>8912818</u>.
- Holst VA, Finkelstein S, Colby TV, et al. p53 and K-ras mutational genotyping in pulmonary carcinosarcoma, spindle cell carcinoma, and pulmonary blastoma: implications for histogenesis. Am J Surg Pathol. 1997; 21(7): 801–811, doi: 10.1097/00000478-199707000-00008, indexed in Pubmed: 9236836.
- Sekine S, Shibata T, Matsuno Y, et al. Beta-catenin mutations in pulmonary blastomas: association with morule formation. J Pathol. 2003; 200(2): 214–221, doi: <u>10.1002/path.1352</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>12754743</u>.
- 12. Macher-Goeppinger S, Penzel R, Roth W, et al. Expression and mutation analysis of EGFR, c-KIT, and β -catenin in pulmonary

blastoma. J Clin Pathol. 2011; 64(4): 349–353, doi: <u>10.1136/</u> jcp.2010.085696, indexed in Pubmed: <u>21292787</u>.

- Thompson L, Chang B, Barsky SH. Monoclonal origins of malignant mixed tumors (carcinosarcomas). Evidence for a divergent histogenesis. Am J Surg Pathol. 1996; 20(3): 277–285, doi: <u>10.1097/00000478-199603000-00003</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>8772780</u>.
- Hansen T, Bittinger F, Kortsik C, et al. Expression of KIT (CD117) in biphasic pulmonary blastoma. Novel data on histogenesis. Lung. 2003; 181(4): 193–200, doi: <u>10.1007/s00408-</u> <u>003-1021-2</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>14692559</u>.
- Takahashi K, Kohno T, Matsumoto S, et al. Clonality and heterogeneity of pulmonary blastoma from the viewpoint of genetic alterations: a case report. Lung Cancer. 2007; 57(1): 103–108, doi: <u>10.1016/j.lungcan.2007.01.026</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>17350138</u>.
- Nemeh F, Kuo AH, Ross J, et al. The radiologic and pathologic diagnosis of biphasic pulmonary blastoma. J Radiol Case Rep. 2017; 11(9): 10–21, doi: <u>10.3941/jrcr.v11i9.3153</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29299105</u>.
- Yousem SA, Wick MR, Randhawa P, et al. Pulmonary blastoma. An immunohistochemical analysis with comparison with fetal lung in its pseudoglandular stage. Am J Clin Pathol. 1990; 93(2): 167–175, doi: <u>10.1093/ajcp/93.2.167</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>2301281</u>.
- Larsen H, Sørensen JB. Pulmonary blastoma: a review with special emphasis on prognosis and treatment. Cancer Treat Rev. 1996; 22(3): 145–160, doi: <u>10.1016/s0305-7372(96)90000-</u> <u>6</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>8841388</u>.
- Archie PH, Beasley MB, Ross HJ. Biphasic pulmonary blastoma with germ cell differentiation in a 36-year-old man. J Thorac Oncol. 2008; 3(10): 1185–1187, doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e-<u>31818721fa</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>18827617</u>.
- Jenkins TM, Morrissette JJD, Kucharczuk JC, et al. ROS1 rearrangement in a case of classic biphasic pulmonary blastoma. Int J Surg Pathol. 2018; 26(4): 360–363, doi: <u>10.1177/1066896917749928</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29295663</u>.
- Nakatani Y, Miyagi Y, Takemura T, et al. Aberrant nuclear/ cytoplasmic localization and gene mutation of beta-catenin in classic pulmonary blastoma: beta-catenin immunostaining is useful for distinguishing between classic pulmonary blastoma and a blastomatoid variant of carcinosarcoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2004; 28(7): 921–927, doi: <u>10.1097/00000478-</u> <u>200407000-00012</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>15223963</u>.
- Dixit R, Joshi N, Dave L. Biphasic pulmonary blastoma: An unusual presentation with chest wall, rib, and pleural involvement. Lung India. 2014; 31(1): 87–89, doi: <u>10.4103/0970-2113.126002</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>24669096</u>.
- Vassilopoulos PP, Vrettou V, Smerniotis V, et al. Pulmonary blastoma presenting with massive hemothorax. Chest. 1992; 102(2): 649–650, doi: <u>10.1378/chest.102.2.649</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>1322815</u>.
- Ondo K, Ishida T, Yamazaki K, et al. Pulmonary blastoma in an adult. A case with rapid progression. Scand Cardiovasc J. 1998; 32(4): 247–249, doi: <u>10.1080/14017439850140058</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>9802145</u>.
- Shadrach BJ, Vedant D, Vishwajeet V, et al. Endobronchial pulmonary blastoma - an unusual presentation of a rare lung malignancy and review of literature. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis. 2020; 90(3), doi: <u>10.4081/monaldi.2020.1462</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32729706</u>.
- Luo Z, Cao C, Xu N, et al. Classic biphasic pulmonary blastoma: a case report and review of the literature. J Int Med Res. 2020; 48(10): 300060520962394, doi: <u>10.1177/0300060520962394</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33107372</u>.
- 27. Kim K, Gupta S, Gupta S, et al. Incidental early diagnosis of biphasic pulmonary blastoma in a patient with history of stage IV lung adenocarcinoma. Thorac Cancer. 2020; 11(10): 3029–3033, doi: 10.1111/1759-7714.13629, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32833349</u>.
- Liu Yi, Luo D, Du T, et al. Clinical and pathology analysis of 1 case of adult pleural pulmonary blastoma: A case report. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017; 96(50): e8918, doi: <u>10.1097/</u> <u>MD.000000000008918</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29390280</u>.
- 29. Van Loo S, Boeykens E, Stappaerts I, et al. Classic biphasic pulmonary blastoma: a case report and review of the litera-

ture. Lung Cancer. 2011; 73(2): 127–132, doi: <u>10.1016/j.lung-can.2011.03.018</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>21513998</u>.

- Yang M, Li B, Zhang C, et al. Classical biphasic pulmonary blastoma in a young woman: case report and review of literature. International journal of clinical and experimental pathology. 2019; 12(12): 4400–4404, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31933843</u>.
- Iwata T, Nishiyama N, Inoue K, et al. Biphasic pulmonary blastoma: report of a case. Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2007; 13(1): 40–43, indexed in Pubmed: <u>17392670</u>.
- Robert J, Pache JC, Seium Y, et al. Pulmonary blastoma: report of five cases and identification of clinical features suggestive of the disease. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2002; 22(5): 708–711, doi: <u>10.1016/s1010-7940(02)00529-8</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>12414034</u>.
- Vila R, McCoy JJ, McCall RE. Pulmonary blastoma, report of a case. Journal of the South Carolina Medical Association. 1973; 69(7): 251–6, indexed in Pubmed: <u>4515901</u>.
- Kennedy A, Prior AL. Pulmonary blastoma: a report of two cases and a review of the literature. Thorax. 1976; 31(6): 776–781, doi: 10.1136/thx.31.6.776, indexed in Pubmed: 1013949.
- Meinecke R, Bauer F, Skouras J, et al. Blastomatous tumors of the respiratory tract. Cancer. 1976; 38(2): 818– 823, doi: <u>10.1002/1097-0142(197608)38:2<818::aid-cncr2820380225>3.0.co;2-1</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>974998</u>.
- Kern WH, Stiles QR. Pulmonary blastoma. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1976; 72(5): 801–808, indexed in Pubmed: <u>979321</u>.
- Fung C, Lo J, Yonan T, et al. Pulmonary blastoma. An ultrastructural study with a brief review of literature and a discussion of pathogenesis. Cancer. 1977; 39(1): 153–163, doi: 10.1002/1097-0142[197701]39:1<153::aid-cn-cr2820390126>3.0.co;2-#, indexed in Pubmed: 188536.
- Roth JA, Elguezabal A. Pulmonary blastoma evolving into carcinosarcoma. A case study. Am J Surg Pathol. 1978; 2(4): 407–413, doi: <u>10.1097/00000478-197812000-00007</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>736214</u>.
- Jacobsen M, Francis D. Pulmonary Blastoma. Acta Pathologica Microbiologica Scandinavica Section A Pathology. 2009; 88A(1-6): 151–160, doi: <u>10.1111/j.1699-0463.1980.tb02480.x</u>.
- 40. Medbery CA, Bibro MC, Phares JC, et al. Pulmonary blastoma. Case report and literature review of chemotherapy experience. Cancer. 1984; 53(11): 2413–2416, doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(19840601)53:11<2413::aid-cncr2820531108>3.0.co;2-e, indexed in Pubmed: 6370414.
- Dienemann D, Hartmann CA, Minck C. Pulmonary blastomas. Immunohistochemical investigations of three cases. Pathol Res Pract. 1989; 184(3): 306–311, doi: <u>10.1016/S0344-0338(89)80091-3</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>2473453</u>.
- Kliem V, Bügge M, Leimenstoll K, et al. Pulmonary blastoma--a rare tumour. Clin Investig. 1992; 70(10): 927–931, doi: <u>10.1007/BF00180441</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>1333313</u>.
- Ohara N, Tominaga O, Oka T, et al. Pulmonary blastoma: report of a case. Surg Today. 1999; 29(4): 385–388, doi: <u>10.1007/</u><u>BF02483071</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>10211577</u>.
- 44. Asimakopoulos G, Krausz T, Smith PL. Radical resection of a pulmonary blastoma involving the mediastinum. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1999; 47(3): 197–199, doi: <u>10.1055/s-2007-1013143</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>10443527</u>.
- Walker RI, Suvarna K, Matthews S. Case report: pulmonary blastoma: presentation of two atypical cases and review of the literature. Br J Radiol. 2005; 78(929): 437–440, doi: <u>10.1259/</u> <u>bjr/45172814</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>15845939</u>.
- 46. Kawano R, Hata E, Ikeda S, et al. Pulmonary blastoma. Jpn J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2005; 53(11): 611–614, doi: <u>10.1007/</u> <u>s11748-005-0149-9</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>16363721</u>.
- Liman ST, Altinok T, Topcu S, et al. Survival of biphasic pulmonary blastoma. Respir Med. 2006; 100(7): 1174–1179, doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2005.10.026, indexed in Pubmed: 16332433.
- Kouvaris JR, Gogou PV, Papacharalampous XN, et al. Solitary brain metastasis from classic biphasic pulmonary blastoma: a case report and review of the literature. Onkologie. 2006; 29(12): 568–570, doi: <u>10.1159/000096708</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>17202827</u>.
- Oshika Y, Matsukuma S, Hashimoto H, et al. Biphagic pulmonary blastoma with a lesion of yolk sac tumor. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2007; 55(6): 243–247, doi: <u>10.1007/s11748-007-0112-z</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>17642278</u>.

- Mulamalla K, Truskinovsky AM, Dudek AZ. Pulmonary blastoma with renal metastasis responds to sorafenib. J Thorac Oncol. 2007; 2(4): 344–347, doi: <u>10.1097/01.</u> <u>ITO.0000263719.76944.0a</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>17409808</u>.
- Maeda R, Isowa N, Onuma H, et al. Biphasic pulmonary blastoma with rapid progression. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2009; 57(2): 104–107, doi: <u>10.1007/s11748-008-0327-7</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>19214452</u>.
- Lindet C, Vanhuyse M, Thebaud E, et al. Pulmonary blastoma in adult: dramatic but transient response to doxorubicin plus ifosfamide. Acta Oncol. 2011; 50(1): 156–157, doi: 10.3109/0284186X.2010.491087, indexed in Pubmed: 20670092.
- 53. Nakayama T, Ohtsuka T, Kazama A, et al. Classic pulmonary blastoma: a subtype of biphasic pulmonary blastoma. Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2012; 18(2): 125–127, doi: <u>10.5761/</u> <u>atcs.cr.11.01693</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>22001215</u>.
- Sharma A, O'Gorman K, Aman C, et al. A rare occurrence of biphasic pulmonary blastoma in an elderly male. Anticancer research. 2013; 33(9): 3911–3915.
- Smyth RJ, Fabre A, Dodd JD, et al. Pulmonary blastoma: a case report and review of the literature. BMC Res Notes. 2014; 7: 294, doi: <u>10.1186/1756-0500-7-294</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>24885892</u>.
- 56. Kawasaki K, Yamamoto K, Suzuki Y, et al. Surgery and radiation therapy for brain metastases from classic biphasic pulmonary blastoma. BMJ Case Rep. 2014; 2014, doi: <u>10.1136/ bcr-2014-203990</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>24895392</u>.
- 57. Muthu P, Unnikrishnan A, Jose WM, et al. A case of biphasic pulmonary blastoma showing good response to preoperative chemotherapy. Indian J Cancer. 2014; 51(4): 510–511, doi: <u>10.4103/0019-509X.175297</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>26842180</u>.
- Sakata S, Saeki S, Hirooka S, et al. A case of biphasic pulmonary blastoma treated with carboplatin and paclitaxel plus bevacizumab. Case Rep Oncol Med. 2015; 2015: 842621, doi: <u>10.1155/2015/842621</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>26075125</u>.
- Bosch-Barrera J, Holguin F, Baldó X, et al. Neoadjuvant Chemoradiotherapy Treatment for a Classic Biphasic Pulmonary Blastoma with High PD-L1 Expression. Anticancer Res. 2015; 35(9): 4871–4875, indexed in Pubmed: <u>26254381</u>.
- Bu X, Liu J, Wei L, et al. Epidemiological features and survival outcomes in patients with malignant pulmonary blastoma: a US population-based analysis. BMC Cancer. 2020; 20(1): 811, doi: <u>10.1186/s12885-020-07323-0</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32847556</u>.
- Wang YX, Zhang J, Chu XY, et al. Diagnosis and multi-modality treatment of adult pulmonary plastoma: Analysis of 18 cases and review of literature. Asian Pac J Trop Med. 2014; 7(2): 164–168, doi: <u>10.1016/S1995-7645(14)60015-8</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>24461533</u>.
- 62. Lewis JA, Petty WJ, Urbanic J, et al. Cure of oligometastatic classic biphasic pulmonary blastoma using aggressive tri-modality treatment: case series and review of the literature. Cu-

reus. 2018; 10(11): e3586, doi: $\underline{10.7759/cureus.3586},$ indexed in Pubmed: $\underline{30656089}.$

- 63. Cutler CS, Michel RP, Yassa M, et al. Pulmonary blastoma: case report of a patient with a 7-year remission and review of chemotherapy experience in the world literature. Cancer. 1998; 82(3): 462–467, doi: <u>10.1002/(sici)1097-0142(19980201)82:3<462::aid-cncr6>3.0.co:2-r</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>9452262</u>.
- 64. Zagar TM, Blackwell S, Crawford J, et al. Preoperative radiation therapy and chemotherapy for pulmonary blastoma: a case report. J Thorac Oncol. 2010; 5(2): 282–283, doi: 10.1097/ JTO.0b013e3181c420e1, indexed in Pubmed: 20101153.
- 65. Teixeira A, Vieira C, Sousa N, et al. [Biphasic pulmonary blastoma with germ cell differentiation: a challenge in diagnosis and treatment]. Acta Med Port. 2011; 24 Suppl 3: 685–688, indexed in Pubmed: <u>22856413</u>.
- 66. Meng Z, Chen P, Zang F, et al. A patient with classic biphasic pulmonary blastoma harboring CD74-ROS1 fusion responds to crizotinib. Onco Targets Ther. 2018; 11: 157–161, doi: <u>10.2147/</u> <u>OTT.S150001</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29343973</u>.
- Bini A, Ansaloni L, Grani G, et al. Pulmonary blastoma: report of two cases. Surg Today. 2001; 31(5): 438–442, doi: <u>10.1007/</u> <u>s005950170136</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>11381509</u>.
- Zaidi A, Zamvar V, Macbeth F, et al. Pulmonary blastoma: medium-term results from a regional center. Ann Thorac Surg. 2002; 73(5): 1572–1575, doi: <u>10.1016/s0003-4975(02)03494-x</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>12022552</u>.
- 69. He W, Jiang G, Xie B, et al. Radical resection of a pulmonary blastoma involving the pulmonary artery. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2008; 34(3): 695–696, doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejcts.2008.05.020</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>18579394</u>.
- 70. Yu L, Li X, Yang W. Pulmonary blastoma metastatic to the ovary. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2009; 28(1): 59–62, doi: 10.1097/ PGP.0b013e31817f8d00, indexed in Pubmed: 19047906.
- 71. Schwitter M, Potocnik P, von Moos R, et al. Dyspnoea and a lung mass in a young female 2 weeks after Caesarean delivery. Eur Respir J. 2011; 38(2): 465–467, doi: 10.1183/09031936.00187210, indexed in Pubmed: 21804162.
- Gallo K, Brickman A, Warren WH, et al. Unresectable middle mediastinal biphasic pulmonary blastoma. Anticancer Res. 2015; 35(11): 6325–6327, indexed in Pubmed: <u>26504071</u>.
- Kilic D, Yilmaz C, Tepeoglu M, et al. Biphasic pulmonary blastoma associated with cerebral metastasis. Turk Neurosurg. 2016; 26(1): 169–172, doi: <u>10.5137/1019-5149.JTN.10520-14.2</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>26768884</u>.
- 74. Le Caer H, Teissier E, Barriere JR, et al. Classic biphasic pulmonary blastoma: A case report and review of the literature. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2018; 125: 48–50, doi: <u>10.1016/j.critrevonc.2018.02.009</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29650276</u>.
- Vossler JD, Abdul-Ghani A. Pulmonary blastoma in an adult presenting with hemoptysis and hemothorax. Ann Thorac Surg. 2019; 107(5): e345–e347, doi: <u>10.1016/j.athoracsur.2018.09.008</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30365956</u>.

Venkata Nagarjuna Maturu¹, Raghavender Reddy Annela¹, Narendra Kumar Narahari²

¹Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Yashoda Hospitals, Somajiguda, Hyderabad, India ²Nizams Institute of Medical Sciences, Punjagutta, Hyderabad, Telangana, India

Bronchoscopic extraction of multiple endobronchial broncholiths in a patient with active pulmonary tuberculosis

Abstract

Broncholithiasis is an unusual clinical condition characterized by the presence of calcified or ossified material within the airways. Multiple endobronchial broncholithiasis during active infection with tuberculosis is an extremely uncommon presentation. Bronchoscopy plays an important role in the diagnosis and management of broncholithiasis. Currently, there are no specific guidelines for the management of broncholithiasis. Here, we present a case report where multiple broncholiths were successfully removed in a staged manner via rigid bronchoscopy.

Key words: broncholiths, broncholithiasis, rigid bronchoscopy, flexible bronchoscopy, lithoptysis

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 520-523

Introduction

The term broncholithiasis is used to denote the presence of calcified or ossified material within the bronchial lumen [1]. It is an unusual condition with an incidence of only 0.1-0.2% of all lung diseases [2]. Though calcification is often seen in chest imaging as a sequelae of mycobacterial, fungal granulomatous lymphadenitis and silicosis, symptomatic endobronchial broncholithiasis is uncommon [1]. Broncholiths are calcified peribronchial lymph nodes which usually impinge on the bronchus or erode into the airway lumen [3]. Broncholiths can be detected incidentally during routine bronchoscopy or during evaluation of hemoptysis, cough, or recurrent pneumonia. Asymptomatic patients can be managed conservatively, whereas surgical or bronchoscopic removal is required for symptomatic patients [2].

Broncholiths have been removed successfully using forceps, laser photocoagulation, or cryotherapy [4, 5]. Here, we present a case report about the successful bronchoscopic removal of multiple broncholiths in a staged manner via rigid bronchoscopy. Multiple endobronchial broncholithiasis during active infection with tuberculosis is an extremely uncommon clinical presentation. Bronchoscopy plays an important role in its management.

Case history

A 63-year man who had never smoked presented with progressive dry cough and dyspnea of six months duration. He also had low grade fever (sometimes reaching 101°F) for about a month. There was no chest pain, hemoptysis, or loss of weight or appetite. He did not have a history of infection with tuberculosis. He did not have any other comorbid conditions. At presentation, he was afebrile and tachypneic. Auscultation revealed decreased air entry in the left chest. His chest radiograph showed a left lung midzone consolidation with multiple calcified densities in bilateral paratracheal and parabronchial regions (Figure 1A). Contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CECT) of the chest showed bilateral areas of patchy consolidation (Figure 1B) with multiple calcified lymph nodes in pre-paratracheal, pre-vascular, subcarinal and right hilar regions (Figure 1C). There were also calcified nodes in the

Address for correspondence: Kumar Narahari, Nizams Institute of Medical Sciences, Punjagutta, Hyderabad, Telangana, India; e-mail: drnarendrajipmer@gmail.com

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0052 | Received: 01.12.2020 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.



Figure 1. A. Chest radiograph showing multiple calcified opacities (broncholiths) in the paratracheal and peribronchial locations (white arrows) and a large patch of consolidation in the left mid zone; B. Lung parenchymal window of computed tomography (CT) of the chest showing multifocal patchy consolidation and cavities in bilateral lung fields; C. Mediastinal window of CT of the chest showing calcified subcarinal, paratracheal and para-aortic nodes in the mediastinum (extraluminal broncholiths); D. Mediastinal window showing an intraluminal broncholith in the left main bronchus as well as extraluminal broncholiths adjacent to both main bronchi

lumen of the left main bronchus (LMB) (Figure 1D). Bronchoscopy revealed edematous mucosa, granulation tissue, and two broncholiths occluding the lumen of the LMB (Figure 2A). Bronchial washings were positive for acid fast bacilli (AFB) on smear and gene Xpert MTB/Rif.

Rigid bronchoscopy was performed in order to remove the broncholiths. Under general anesthesia, the patient was intubated using a rigid tracheobronchoscope (Efer Dumon series III, 13 mm OD) The proximal granulation tissue was removed using a flexible cryoprobe (Erbe cryoprobe, 1.9 mm OD), and then the broncholiths were crushed with rigid forceps and removed piecemeal (as the broncholiths could not be removed in-toto). However, all broncholiths could not be removed in the first sitting. Post-procedure, the air entry to the left lung improved and the patient was started on anti-tubercular therapy (ATT). The patient spontaneously coughed out three broncholiths (lithoptysis) in the following month. Repeat bronchoscopy showed one residual broncholith causing partial occlusion of the LMB (Figure 2B). There was also a fistulous tract seen arising from the proximal left main bronchus and ending in the subcutaneous plane near the xiphisternum (broncho-subcutaneous fistula). In the second session, an entire broncholith was removed en masse using rigid forceps via the rigid bronchoscope. There was significant improvement in cough and breathlessness following the procedure. The patient is currently improving on ATT and repeat bronchoscopy showed no recurrence of endobronchial broncholiths (Figure 2C).

Discussion

Broncholiths are classified into two groups based on their origin: a) Intrinsic calculi, developed from lungs, bronchi, and lymph nodes; b) extrinsic calculi, developed from aspirated foreign bodies, secretions, and dusts. Broncholiths are usually gray-white and variable in size and shape with spur like projections or sharp edges. The chemical composition is of calcium phosphate (85–90%) or calcium carbonate (10–15%) [1]. The broncholiths are also classified based on their location in the tracheobronchial



Figure 2. A. Bronchoscopic image showing two large broncholiths occluding the left main bronchus; B. Repeat bronchoscopy done after removal of one broncholith showing a fistulous opening, bronchial end of the bronchocutaneous fistula (white arrow); C. Image after removal of all intraluminal broncholiths; D. Broncholith after rigid bronchoscopic extraction

tree and can be intrabronchial, transbronchial, or extrabronchial [6]. The pathogenesis of broncholith formation can be explained by multiple mechanisms. A chronic long-standing infection or inflammation, usually of granulomatous etiology, brings calcium into airway walls or into adjacent lymph nodes. A calcified bronchial cartilage or a calcified necrotic lymph node then erodes into airways causing broncholiths. Another mechanism has been proposed to explain the presence of broncholiths without airway erosion/fistula formation. A necrotic/caseating lymph node discharges its contents in a liquid form into the bronchus and this caseating material calcifies on exposure to air leading to broncholith formation [1].

Broncholiths, by causing endobronchial obstruction, can lead to recurrent post-obstructive pneumonia and lung abscess formation [7]. They can also erode into airways causing fistulae and hemoptysis [8, 9]. Occasionally, they can be expectorated spontaneously leading to resolution of symptoms [10]. Most patients with broncholiths have a past history of tuberculosis, silicosis, or histoplasmosis. Occurrence of broncholithiasis during the acute phase of tuberculosis is less common, as was seen in the index case [11].

Treatment options include observation for asymptomatic cases, and bronchoscopic removal (flexible or rigid) or surgery in symptomatic cases depending on local expertise and resources [3, 12, 13]. With increasing experience in therapeutic bronchoscopy, most centers now recommend bronchoscopic extraction as the initial modality of therapy for patients with symptomatic endobronchial broncholithiasis [1]. Surgical removal is considered in cases of symptomatic purely extrabronchial broncholiths, fixed broncholiths (when bronchoscopy fails), or when there are complications like massive hemoptysis and/or broncho-esophageal fistulae [3].

Various bronchoscopic methods have been described for the removal of broncholiths. Forceps, laser photocoagulation, and cryoprobe extraction have all been shown to help in extracting broncholiths [4, 14]. Laser-assisted broncholithotripsy has also been described for removing impacted broncholiths [15]. Flexible bronchoscopic removal appears favorable in cases with loose or partially eroded broncholiths [13]. Rigid bronchoscopy is preferred over flexible bronchoscopy in cases of symptomatic large or fixed broncholiths. The size and location of the broncholith, mobility, relation to surrounding vascular structures, and distal parenchymal pathology impact the decision on which modality to choose. Cerfolio et al. presented an algorithm for the management of broncholiths based on symptomology and relationship of the broncholith to the airway (extrabronchial versus endobronchial, fixed vs mobile) [3].

The ability of the clinician to choose wisely using a combination of both rigid and flexible bronchoscopes along with various accessories like forceps, cryotherapy, or lasers is essential for a successful outcome. It is always recommended to have a thoracic surgeon on standby before attempting broncholith removal.

Conclusions

Multiple endobronchial broncholiths during active tuberculosis is an uncommon clinical presentation. Bronchoscopy plays an important role in the diagnosis and management of broncholithiasis. Rigid bronchoscopic removal of symptomatic broncholiths is a feasible and safe option. When bronchoscopic removal fails, surgical extraction remains the treatment of choice.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

References:

- Alshabani K, Ghosh S, Arrossi AV, et al. Broncholithiasis: A review. Chest. 2019; 156(3): 445–455, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>chest.2019.05.012</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31173766</u>.
- Anwer M, Venkatram S. Broncholithiasis: "incidental finding during bronchoscopy"-case reports and review of the literature. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol. 2011; 18(2): 181–183, doi: <u>10.1097/LBR.0b013e31821810ea</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>23169093</u>.
- Cerfolio RJ, Bryant AS, Maniscalco L. Rigid bronchoscopy and surgical resection for broncholithiasis and calcified mediastinal lymph nodes. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2008; 136(1): 186–190, doi: <u>10.1016/j.jtcvs.2007.09.084</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>18603074</u>.
- Campbell SN, Lala D, Rubio E. Cryotherapy: A viable tool to remove broncholiths under flexible bronchoscopy. Biomedicine (Taipei). 2016; 6(4): 24, doi: <u>10.7603/s40681-016-0024-2</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>27848115</u>.
- Go T, Kobayashi H, Takata M, et al. Endoscopic management for broncholithiasis with bronchoesophageal fistula. Ann Thorac Surg. 2007; 84(6): 2093–2095, doi: <u>10.1016/j.athoracsur.2007.06.071</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>18036946</u>.
- Lim SoY, Lee KJ, Jeon K, et al. Classification of broncholiths and clinical outcomes. Respirology. 2013; 18(4): 637–642, doi: <u>10.1111/resp.12060</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>23356409</u>.
- Summers SM. Broncholithiasis with post-obstructive pneumonia and empyema. J Emerg Med. 2013; 45(4): 612–614, doi: <u>10.1016/j.jemermed.2013.01.039</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>23664715</u>.
- Wiese TA. Mainstem to mainstem bronchial fistula from broncholithiasis. J Bronchology Interv Pulmonol. 2012; 19(1): 78– 80, doi: <u>10.1097/LBR.0b013e3182425532</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>23207272</u>.
- Ford MAP, Mueller PS, Morgenthaler TI. Bronchoesophageal fistula due to broncholithiasis: a case series. Respir Med. 2005; 99(7): 830–835, doi: <u>10.1016/j.rmed.2004.12.004</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>15893922</u>.
- Ozyurek BA, Bozbas SS. Broncholithiasis presenting with lithoptysis. Lung India. 2018; 35(4): 339–340, doi: <u>10.4103/</u> <u>lungindia.lungindia_304_17</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29970776</u>.
- WALSH JJ. Broncholithiasis; report of a case occurring in active pulmonary tuberculosis. Dis Chest. 1954; 26(2): 235–238, indexed in Pubmed: <u>13182967</u>.
- Jin YX, Jiang GN, Jiang L, et al. Diagnosis and treatment evaluation of 48 cases of broncholithiasis. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2016; 64(5): 450–455, doi: <u>10.1055/s-0034-1395388</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>25463358</u>.
- Olson EJ, Utz JP, Prakash UB. Therapeutic bronchoscopy in broncholithiasis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1999; 160(3): 766–770, doi: <u>10.1164/ajrccm.160.3.9810021</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>10471594</u>.
- Krishnan S, Kniese CM, Mankins M, et al. Management of broncholithiasis. J Thorac Dis. 2018; 10(Suppl 28): S3419– S3427, doi: <u>10.21037/jtd.2018.07.15</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30505529</u>.
- Aust M, Prakash U, McDougall J, et al. Bronchoscopic broncholithotripsy. Journal of Bronchology. 1994; 1(1): 37–41, doi: <u>10.1097/00128594-199401000-00011</u>.

Vikas Marwah, Robin Choudhary, Deepu Peter, Gaurav Bhati

Army Institute of Cardiothoracic Science, Armed Forces Medical College, Pune, India

A very unusual case of interstitial lung disease

Abstract

Cotton dust exposure has been implicated in causing diseases like byssinosis and obstructive airway diseases like COPD and asthma. Long-term exposure to cotton dust causing interstitial lung disease and pulmonary fibrosis has been sparsely reported in the literature. Here, we report a case of an individual with long-term cotton dust exposure who presented with typical symptoms of interstitial lung disease and was managed conservatively.

Key words: cotton dust, byssinosis, interstitial lung disease, pulmonary fibrosis

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 524-527

Introduction

Long-term exposure to cotton fibres has been classically associated mostly with byssinosis and airway diseases like chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma [1, 2]. The exposure constitutes of broken cotton fibres, bracts and pericarps, as well as to bacteria and fungi on the surface of these cotton products. Cotton-induced pulmonary fibrosis and pneumoconiosis has been rarely reported in the literature [3, 4]. Here, we report a case of a cotton mill worker who presented with an insidious onset of breathlessness and cough who was diagnosed with cotton-induced interstitial lung disease and was managed conservatively.

Material and methods

A 65-year-old male who was a non-smoker and had a history of working in a cotton mill for 30 years presented with a history of sudden onset, progressive breathlessness and dry cough that had been present for six months. His work history included working in a cotton mill for 8 hours per day, 5 days a week, for 30 years. He was initially evaluated at another hospital, was managed conservatively, and was even started on oral steroids. He had symptomatic improvement at first but later reported to our hospital with fever, increased cough, and breathlessness that had been present for a two-week duration. He stated that he used to feel better on holidays and weekends but that his symptoms had worsened as of late. There was no history of joint pains or any other connective tissue disease. Interestingly, he stated that he had noticed similar complaints in some of his co-workers. On examination, he was tachycardic (pulse — 110/min), tachypnoeic (respiratory rate - 30/min), and hypoxic (SpO₂ — 80% at room air). He had grade II clubbing in both hands. On auscultation, he had bilateral, symmetrical fine inspiratory crackles in the infrascapular and infra-axillary areas. There were no signs of any connective tissue disorders. On evaluation, his complete blood count, liver function tests, and renal function tests were within normal limits. His chest x-ray showed bilateral reticular opacities in both lower zones (Figure 1A). He underwent high-resolution computed tomography of the chest which showed multifocal areas of honeycombing with bi-basal predominance, extensive areas of interlobular septal thickening, a few areas of ground-glass attenuation in bilateral lung fields (Figure 1B, 1C), and discretely enlarged mediastinal lymph

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0050 | Received: 24.12.2020 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

Address for correspondence: Robin Choudhary, Army Institute of Cardiothoracic Science, Armed Forces Medical College, Pune, India; e-mail: robinch19@gmail.com

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.



Figure 1. A. Chest x-ray of the patient showing bilateral reticular opacities; **B. C.** Extensive interlobular and intralobular septal thickening, traction bronchiectasis, microcystic and macrocystic honeycombing in bilateral lung fields. Extensive ground-glass opacities along with areas of air trapping also seen scattered in the lungs bilaterally giving mosaic attenuation throughout the lung fields; **D.** High-resolution computed tomography of the chest showing bilateral pleural involvement with a shaggy pleural outline. Multiple discrete enlarged mediastinal lymph nodes seen

nodes (Figure 1D). His spirometry results were as follows: forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV_1) — 1.55 litres (68% of the predicted), forced vital capacity (FVC) - 1.65 litres (54% of the predicted), and a normal ratio of FEV₁/FVC - 93.94%. There was no post-bronchodilator reversibility and there was evidence of small airway obstruction. His diffusion capacity of the lungs for carbon monoxide (D_{LCO}) showed a moderate diffusion defect (50%). The results of the 6 minute walk test showed that he had a decreased walk distance of 120 metres with significant desaturation (10% fall of SpO₂ from baseline) (Table 1). His arterial blood gas at room air showed hypoxemia (pH — 7.40, pO $_2$ — 50 mm Hg, and $pCO_2 - 41 \text{ mm Hg}$). His connective tissue disorder profile (rheumatoid factor, anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide, anti-nuclear antibody, C-reactive protein, and extractable nuclear antigen antibody levels) was within normal limits. He was diagnosed with cotton dust-induced interstitial lung disease based on clinical, radiological, and spirometric criteria, and was managed with long acting bronchodilators and inhaled steroid inhalers with oxygen supplementation, while at the same time tapering the dose of oral steroids. He was advised and counselled about complete cessation of cotton dust exposure and even regarding potentially changing his profession. He is presently symptomatically better with improved exercise tolerance.

Discussion

Cotton dust exposure constitutes a major occupational health hazard in our country. The effect of cotton exposure can be varied and depends on the duration of exposure, site of exposure, effect of the specific component of cotton dust, presence of fungi, and presence of other factors such as smoking. The most common respiratory diseases associated with cotton dust exposure are byssinosis and airway diseases such as COPD and asthma [2, 4].

Table 1. The details of pulmonary function testing

Spirometry	Pre	Post
FEV ₁	1.55 L (68%)	1.58 L (69%)
FVC	1.65 L (54%)	1.78 L (56%)
FEV ₁ /FVC	93.94%	88%
DLCO	50%	9.4 mL/min/mm Hg
6MWT	120 m	With significant desaturation (> 10% from baseline)

 FEV_1 — forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC — forced vital capacity; $D_{\rm LC0}$ — diffusion capacity of the lungs for carbon monoxide; 6MWT — 6 minute walk test

Byssinosis can be acute or chronic. It generally presents with a history of cough, chest tightness, and breathlessness after long-term exposure to cotton dust. It classically has a history of increasing severity of symptoms after returning to work after holidays/breaks (Monday asthma) and typically worsens as the day progresses. Acute byssinosis has been characterized by symptoms occurring after a short duration of exposure and by a fall in FEV1 of more than 30% [2, 7].

The other most common diseases associated with cotton dust exposure are airway diseases like asthma and COPD. Early stages of byssinosis can have features of asthma like reversible airflow limitation and airway hyperresponsiveness. There can be large changes in pre- and postwork FEV1, which is also termed 'cross-shift drop' in FEV₁ [2]. These symptoms can become more severe and frequent with long-term exposure and patients can develop progressive breathlessness and cough with expectoration resembling COPD. These patients can have a post bronchodilator FEV₁/FVC (forced expiratory volume in 1 second to forced vital capacity) ratio < 0.7 [2, 4, 5].

Cotton dust exposure has rarely been reported to cause pneumoconiosis/interstitial lung disease and pulmonary fibrosis except for some case reports and post-mortem reports [1, 3, 4, 6]. Pneumoconiosis due to cotton dust is different than pneumoconiosis due to inorganic dust as it is likely due to hypersensitivity pneumonitis secondary to organic dust inhalation produced during processing of cotton in cotton industries. The pathogenesis may also involve production of nitric oxide from alveolar macrophages and type-2 epithelial cells from lipopolysaccharides (LPS) present in cotton dust (component of outer membrane of various Gram-negative bacteria) [3]. This nitric oxide reacts with superoxide to initiate the cascade of inflammatory cytokine production which may cause structural damage and fibrosis. The endotoxin has been implicated in causing airway inflammation, hyperreactivity, and airflow obstruction causing byssinosis [4]. Patients with cotton dust-induced pneumoconiosis generally present with insidious onset breathlessness with dry cough and a retrospective history of prolonged exposure to cotton dust. On examination, they are hypoxic at room air. On auscultation, they have bilateral inspiratory crackles, as was the case in our patient [3]. The diagnosis can be confirmed radiologically and chest radiographs of these patients typically show bilateral basal interstitial infiltrates with reduced lung volumes. In these patients, computed tomography of the chest can show fibrosis with peribronchiolar distribution, centrilobular nodules with a 'tree in bud' appearance, and areas of ground-glass opacities [1, 3, 7]. Our patient also had features of diffuse fibrosis with ground-glass opacities in bilateral lung fields.

Byssinosis generally causes a reversible decrease in FEV_1 but as the disease progresses, the changes can become irreversible. Patients with pneumoconiosis generally show a mixed defect. Our case also had a mixed defect on spirometry and had a diffusion defect which indicated the severity of the disease. These patients generally have exercise-induced hypoxemia. On the other hand, resting hypoxia indicates severe disease and fibrosis [2, 7].

Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) and lung biopsy have major roles in this disease as they can confirm the diagnosis. BAL differential cytology can help differentiate byssinosis from other differential diagnoses such as hypersensitivity pneumonitis (lymphocyte predominant). The cotton fibres deposited in the lungs can form byssinosis bodies which causes a foreign body reaction of the lung tissue [3, 4, 6, 7]. In our case, the diagnosis of cotton dust-induced interstitial lung disease was made on the basis of clinical. radiological, and pulmonary function tests. We did not perform a bronchoscopic procedure as the patient was hypoxemic at room air and had a significant history of exposure to cotton dust. Clinical findings and computed tomography of the chest confirmed interstitial lung disease. All secondary causes were excluded.

The treatment of pneumoconiosis consists mainly of cessation of exposure [3, 8]. According to a prospective cohort study consisting of 447 cotton textile workers and 472 unexposed silk textile workers with 25 years of follow-up and based on spirometry and respiratory questionnaire data, the authors confirmed that cessation of cotton dust exposure is associated with improvement in lung function and respiratory symptoms [8]. Patients should also be counselled about changing their profession. Corticosteroids also have a role in reducing inflammation. Supportive treatment includes supplementary oxygen, bronchodilators, and prompt treatment of secondary bacterial infections [3, 7, 8].

Conclusion

Cotton dust exposure-related diseases are a major cause of increased morbidity in developing countries. The manifestation of disease also depends on duration of exposure, site of exposure, effect of the specific component of the cotton dust, presence of fungi, and presence of other factors like smoking. The most common respiratory diseases associated with cotton dust exposure are byssinosis and airway diseases like COPD and asthma. Cotton dust-related interstitial lung disease has rarely been reported on in the literature and should be kept in mind by treating pulmonologists while managing patients with similar clinical presentations.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

References:

- Mittal R, Gupta P, Chhabra SK. Occupational bronchiolitis induced by cotton dust exposure in a nonsmoker. Indian J Occup Environ Med. 2016; 20(2): 118–120, doi: <u>10.4103/0019-5278.197550</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28194087</u>.
- Lai PS, Christiani DC. Long-term respiratory health effects in textile workers. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2013; 19(2): 152–157, doi: 10.1097/MCP.0b013e32835cee9a, indexed in Pubmed: 23361196.
- Gothi D, Joshi JM. An unusual interstitial lung disease. Ann Thorac Med. 2012; 7(3): 162–164, doi: <u>10.4103/1817-1737.98851</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>22924076</u>.
- Khan AJ, Nanchal R. Cotton dust lung diseases. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2007; 13(2): 137–141, doi: <u>10.1097/MCP.0b013e32802c-7ceb</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>17255805</u>.
- Beckett WS. Occupational respiratory diseases. N Engl J Med. 2000; 342(6): 406–413, doi: <u>10.1056/NEJM200002103420607</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>10666432</u>.
- Rüttner JR, Spycher MA, Engeler ML. Pulmonary fibrosis induced by cotton fibre inhalation. Pathol Microbiol (Basel). 1968; 32(1): 1–14, doi: <u>10.1159/000162041</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>5711260</u>.
- Jindal SK, Aggarwal AN, Gupta D. Dust-induced interstitial lung disease in the tropics. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2001; 7(5): 272–277, doi: <u>10.1097/00063198-200109000-00004</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>11584175</u>.
- Shi J, Hang JQ, Mehta AJ, et al. Long-term effects of work cessation on respiratory health of textile workers: a 25-year follow-up study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010; 182(2): 200–206, doi: 10.1164/rccm.200903-0329OC, indexed in Pubmed: 20339150.

Kengo Nishino, Yuika Sasatani, Gen Ohara, Katsunori Kagohashi, Hiroaki Satoh

Division of Respiratory Medicine, Mito Medical Center, University of Tsukuba-Mito Kyodo General Hospital, Japan

Nintedanib-mediated improvement in CT imaging in pulmonary fibrosis associated with systemic scleroderma

Abstract

Nintedanib is an antifibrotic drug that has an inhibitory effect on growth factor tyrosine kinases. In patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and systemic scleroderma-associated interstitial pneumonia (SSc-IP), nintedanib has been effective in suppressing the decline in forced vital capacity over time and the onset of acute exacerbation of interstitial pneumonia. Here, we report a SSc-IP patient who showed an improvement on CT images following nintedanib treatment. To our knowledge, this is the first report of such a case. Although SSc-IP patients are very rare, additional clinical experience and understanding will be required to prove the therapeutic benefit of nintedanib in these cases in relation to improved chest images.

Key words: systemic scleroderma, pulmonary fibrosis, nintedanib, computed tomography

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 528-531

Introduction

Systemic scleroderma-associated interstitial pneumonia (SSc-IP) is a collagen disease. It is characterized by organ fibrosis due to fibroblast proliferation and impaired blood circulation due to vascular endothelial cell proliferation in the skin and organs, such as the lung and kidney [1]. More than half of patients with SSc develop interstitial pneumonia (IP) due to inflammation and fibrosis in the lung interstitium [2, 3]. Acute or subacute progression of IP and pulmonary hypertension are serious pathological conditions that determine the prognosis of SSc patients [3].

The antifibrotic drug nintedanib has been shown to suppress the gradual decline in forced vital capacity (FVC) and the onset of acute exacerbation in idiopathic interstitial pneumonia (IPF) patients, and as such, has become one of the most reliable drugs for the treatment of IPF [4–6]. Similar clinical effects have recently been confirmed in patients with SSc-IP in a large-scale clinical trial [7]. While nintedanib-mediated suppression of progression and advance in prognosis have been broadly shown, an improvement on computed tomography (CT) imaging, however, has been reported in only a few IPF patients [8–10]. To the best of our knowledge, there have been no reports of a SSc-IP patient showing improvement on CT images. Here, we report on our treatment with nintedanib of a patient who exhibited improved CT imaging . Although this type of case is extremely rare, reporting it provides valuable suggestions for future treatment plans involving nintedanib.

Material and methods

A 73-year-old woman was referred to our hospital with ground-glass opacities in both lower lobes in a chest radiograph taken at mass screening. She had had slight dyspnea on exertion for several months. She was diagnosed as having SSc due to symmetrical thickening, tightening and induration of the skin of the fingers and the skin proximal to the metacarpophalangeal or metatarsophalangeal joints, reticular densities most pronounced in the basilar areas of the lungs on chest radiograph, and the presence of anti-centromere antibody. She had no smoking habit. The patient was pathologically diagnosed with primary biliary cholangitis 25 years ago.

Address for correspondence: Hiroaki Satoh, Division of Respiratory Medicine, Mito Medical Center, University of Tsukuba-Mito Kyodo General Hospital, Japan; e-mail: hirosato@md.tsukuba.ac.jp

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0072 | Received: 20.05.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.



Figure 1. Chest computed tomography (CT) scan 10 months (A) and 26 months (B) after the initial visit to our hospital showed expansion of subpleural ground-glass opacities with thickening of vascular bundle in bilateral lower lobes of the lung. Chest CT scan taken 8 months after the initiation of nintedanib revealed an improvement of diffuse subpleural ground-glass opacities (C)

Computed tomography taken at the first visit showed traction bronchiectasis, bronchial bundle thickening, and ground-glass opacities in the lower lobes of both lungs. Blood examination at the first visit revealed thrombocytopenia, which was refined to idiopathic thrombocytopenia after more testing results.

Therapy with prednisolone and tacrolimus was started as a treatment for idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura. The tacrolimus dose was 2 mg/day, commencing two years before the initiation of nintedanib. Prednisolone was reduced to 5 mg/day four months before the initiation of nintedanib, with this dose remaining constant ever since. Chest CT images taken 10 months and 26 months after the initial visit to our hospital showed the range of ground-glass opacities expanded and exacerbation was confirmed (Figure 1A and 1B).

At that time, nintedanib was reimbursed through health insurance in our country. Patients were thoroughly informed on the benefits and adverse effects of nintedanib before starting nintedanib treatment. In particular, the dose of nintedanib was explained in relation to the results of the SENSCIS study. Treatment started at 2×100 mg of nintedanib daily. One month after the administration of nintedanib, the patient noticed an improvement in her dry cough and dyspnea, and due to this amelioration in clinical symptoms and imaging, desired to continue on the same nintedanib dose. As a result, there was no dose increase. There were no side effects such as loss of appetite or nausea. After commencing nintedanib treatment, the patient was asked several times about the presence or absence of diarrhea, but there were no side effects of diarrhea, probably because the patient was taking codeine phosphate as an antitussive. Blood sampling examinations including liver function were performed regularly, but no abnormal values due to nintedanib were found. Chest CT was performed eight months after the start of nintedanib, and a regression of ground-glass opacities on chest CT scan was confirmed (Figure 1C). An improvement on chest CT scan was accompanied by a decrease in dry cough and dyspnea on exertion. One year after the start of nintedanib, treatment is ongoing.

Discussion

In many pulmonary fibrosis cases, including IPF and SSc-IP, fibrosis progresses due to an abnormal repair reaction to damage to the alveolar epithelium. During this abnormal fibrosis, alveolar epithelial cells differentiate into fibroblasts and myofibroblasts [11]. Lung fibroblast proliferation and migration is stimulated by fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and fibroblast transformation is induced by transforming growth factor- β 2 [11]. Nintedanib inhibits the action of growth factors on tyrosine kinases, mainly FGF, VEGF, and platelet derived growth factor (PDGF). In a phase III trial in IPF patients, nintedanib was effective in suppressing the decline in FVC over time and the onset of acute exacerbation of IP [4–6]. In SSc-IP patients, a large-scale clinical trial has recently been conducted [7], and the clinical effects observed in these subjects are similar to that observed in IPF patients [12]. There are only a few reported cases that show an improvement on CT images with nintedanib therapy, and all are patients with IPF [8-10].

A recent sub-study analysis of the SENSCIS trial examined the effect of nintedanib on HRCT markers of fibrosis [13]. It found only nine out of 52 SSc-ILD patients treated with nintedanib had a notable improvement in fibrotic changes on HRCT analysis, and none were classified as 'much better', which was defined by the authors as 'a moderate decrease in honeycombing and/or reticulation and/or fibrotic ground-glass opacity; a decrease was more than 10%'. According to this sub-study analysis, an improvement on CT was extremely rare.

To the best of our knowledge, no similar cases of HRCT improvement in SSc-ILD after nintedanib therapy have been published to date. Therefore, this is the first SSc-IP case who has showed an amelioration in CT images following nintedanib treatment, defined by a regression of ground-glass opacities and septal thickening on the chest CT scan. Our patient also showed an improvement in her dry cough as well as dyspnea on effort.

It is important to consider the possibility that mechanisms other than nintedanib might have contributed to the patient's improved CT images. Firstly, there is the possibility of spontaneous changes in SSc cases [14]. Spontaneous changes in skin lesions have been reported in SSc patients, but there have been no reports of improvement in opacities on chest CT images. Secondly, there is the potential effect of drugs other than nintedanib. The patient was also receiving corticosteroids and tacrolimus, which both commenced three vears before the initiation of nintedanib. The dose of tacrolimus had been constant for two years before the initiation of nintedanib. The dose of prednisolone was reduced four months before the introduction of nintedanib, and had not changed since. Chest CT scans were taken several times during the administration of these drugs, which showed a gradual exacerbation of ground-glass opacities over time, but no improvement. Therefore, the possibility of these drugs contributing to the improvement on CT images is low, and it was instead considered to be due to the effect of nintedanib.

Nintedanib has been reported to have gastrointestinal adverse effects (AEs) such as appetite loss, nausea and liver dysfunction [4–6]. In our patient, frequent examination did not find any severe AEs to prevent continuing treatment. In addition to CT images, therapeutic effects in SSc-IP patients can be observed in respiratory function and pathological evaluations. On exertion, there was no decrease in oxygen saturation, and an improvement in subjective symptoms such as dry cough and dyspnea was observed. However, as the patient did not wish to be examined, there were no assessment on pulmonary function and histopathological evaluation.

This case report has some limitations. One of them is the lack of pathological examination. The pattern shown on CT scans was probably nonspecific interstitial pneumonia, and this pattern might be reversible, if cellular component was present. Evaluation of tissue specimens obtained by transbronchial lung biopsy (TBLB) would be useful. If performing TBLB was difficult, analysis of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid would be helpful to understand why these changes were reversible. The other serious disadvantage was the lack of lung function data before and after treatment. Results of pulmonary function tests, including spirometry and diffusing capacity for carbon monoxide, and six-minute walk test before and after eight months of therapy with nintedanib, would be important to confirm a functional improvement corresponding to a CT amelioration of fibrotic changes. However, due to patient's refusal to perform any of these tests, as well as the circumstances associated with the outbreak of coronavirus disease in 2019 (COVID-19), they were not performed.

Conclusions

In conclusion, our observation suggests that nintedanib contributes to reducing regression of ground-glass opacities in SSc-IP patients. This indicates these rare patients could be expected to exhibit improved CT images with nintedanib therapy. It remains to be elucidated what characteristics of SSc-IP patients are related to improvement of the CT image, and the precise mechanism of action of nintedanib noting its inhibitory action on growth factors such as FGF, VEGF, and PDGF. Although careful consideration of side effects is required, if nintedanib can improve CT images in addition to the previously confirmed effects, it would be a desirable treatment option for SSc-IP patients. Additional clinical experience and knowledge will be required to prove our observation of the therapeutic effect of nintedanib on improving chest images.

Statement of ethics

This study was approved by the institutional ethics committee of each Hospital (Project approval number: NO16-66). Written comprehensive informed consent at the time of admission for obtaining pathological specimens was obtained from the patient.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

References:

1. van den Hoogen F, Khanna D, Fransen J, et al. 2013 classification criteria for systemic sclerosis: an American college of rheumatology/European league against rheumatism collaborative initiative. Arthritis Rheum. 2013; 65(11): 2737–2747, doi: 10.1002/art.38098, indexed in Pubmed: 24122180.

- Walker UA, Tyndall A, Czirják L, et al. Clinical risk assessment of organ manifestations in systemic sclerosis: a report from the EULAR Scleroderma Trials And Research group database. Ann Rheum Dis. 2007; 66(6): 754–763, doi: 10.1136/ard.2006.062901, indexed in Pubmed: 17234652.
- Elhai M, Meune C, Boubaya M, et al. EUSTAR group. Trends in mortality in patients with systemic sclerosis over 40 years: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2012; 51(6): 1017–1026, doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ker269, indexed in Pubmed: 21900368.
- Richeldi L, du Bois RM, Raghu G, et al. INPULSIS Trial Investigators. Efficacy and safety of nintedanib in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2014; 370(22): 2071–2082, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1402584, indexed in Pubmed: 24836310.
- Collard HR, Richeldi L, Kim DS, et al. INPULSIS Trial Investigators. Efficacy and safety of nintedanib in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2014; 370(22): 2071–2082, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1402584, indexed in Pubmed: 24836310.
- Crestani B, Huggins JT, Kaye M, et al. Long-term safety and tolerability of nintedanib in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: results from the open-label extension study, INPUL-SIS-ON. Lancet Respir Med. 2019; 7(1): 60–68, doi: 10.1016/ S2213-2600(18)30339-4, indexed in Pubmed: 30224318.
- Maher TM, Mayes MD, Kreuter M, et al. SENSCIS Trial Investigators. Effect of nintedanib on lung function in patients with systemic sclerosis-associated interstitial lung disease: further analyses of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2021; 73(4): 671–676, doi: <u>10.1002/</u> <u>art.41576</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33142016</u>.
- Ito Y, Tazaki G, Kondo Y, et al. Therapeutic effect of nintedanib on acute exacerbation of interstitial lung diseases. Respir Med Case Rep. 2019; 26: 317–320, doi: <u>10.1016/j.rmcr.2019.02.021</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30931251</u>.
- Nakano A, Ohkubo H, Fukumitsu K, et al. Remarkable improvement in a patient with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis after treatment with nintedanib. Intern Med. 2019; 58(8): 1141–1144, doi: <u>10.2169/internalmedicine.1890-18</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30568147</u>.
- Tomioka H, Takata H. Treatment with nintedanib for acute exacerbation of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respirol Case Rep. 2017; 5(2): e00215, doi: <u>10.1002/rcr2.215</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28096998</u>.
- Hilberg F, Roth GJ, Krssak M, et al. BIBF 1120: triple angiokinase inhibitor with sustained receptor blockade and good antitumor efficacy. Cancer Res. 2008; 68(12): 4774–4782, doi: <u>10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6307</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>18559524</u>.
- Fischer A, Distler J. Progressive fibrosing interstitial lung disease associated with systemic autoimmune diseases. Clin Rheumatol. 2019; 38(10): 2673–2681, doi: <u>10.1007/s10067-019-04720-0</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31423560</u>.
- 13. Hachula E, Hamblin M, Ogura T et al. Changes in imaging markers in patients with systemic sclerosis-associated interstitial lung disease (SSc-ILD) treated with nintedanib: Substudy of the SENSCIS Trial. Abstract Number: 1382, ACR Convergence 2020. <u>https://acrabstracts.org/abstract/changes-in-imaging-markers-in-patients-with-systemic-sclerosis-associated-interstitial-lung-disease-ssc-ild-treated-with-nintedanib-sub-study-of-the-senscis-trial/.</u>
- Schneider PD, Wise RA, Hochberg MC, et al. Serial pulmonary function in systemic sclerosis. Am J Med. 1982; 73(3): 385– 394, doi: <u>10.1016/0002-9343(82)90732-x</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>7124766</u>.

Ewa Łyżwa¹, Izabela Siemion-Szcześniak¹, Małgorzata Sobiecka¹, Aneta Kacprzak¹, Agnieszka Winiarska ², Małgorzata Szołkowska³, Krzysztof Karuś⁴, Witold Tomkowski¹

¹1st Department of Lung Diseases, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Research Institute, Warsaw, Poland ²Department of Radiology, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Research Institute, Warsaw, Poland ³Department od Pathology, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Research Institute, Warsaw, Poland ⁴Department of Thoracic Surgery, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Research Institute, Warsaw, Poland

Pulmonary actinomycosis complicated by fistula of the chest wall

Abstract

Actinomycosis is a rare disease caused by *Actinomyces* spp. The clinical and radiological picture of the disease is uncharacteristic, which delays the diagnosis and can lead to complications. We present a case of pulmonary actinomycosis complicated by a chest wall fistula in a 43-year-old man with advanced tooth decay. The patient was admitted to our Department due to a chest wall fistula with bloody discharge. A few months earlier, he was treated with antibiotics for pneumonia. Since then, weakness, exertional dyspnoea, and weight loss had been observed. On admission, increased inflammatory markers were found in laboratory tests. Chest computed tomography (CT) revealed right-sided encapsulated pleural fluid collection containing gas bubbles, pleural thickening, anterior thoracic wall soft tissues thickening and subcutaneous fat stranding. CT suggested an empyema or a breast either pleural malignancy. The picture suggested a breast or pleural tumour to differentiate with an empyema. Videothoracoscopy was performed, the histological examination of the collected samples revealed granulation tissue and bacterial colony of a morphology corresponding to *Actinomyces* spp. Pulmonary actinomycosis was diagnosed. Antibiotic therapy according to the guidelines was initiated and dental treatment was recommended. Healing of the fistula and significant regression of lesions in the right lung were achieved. Although it is a rare disease, actinomycosis should be considered in the differential diagnosis of any chronic infiltrative lung lesions.

Key words: actinomycosis, tooth decay, fistula of the chest wall, antibiotics

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 532-537

Introduction

Actinomycosis is a rare disease caused by Actinomyces spp., gram-positive anaerobic bacteria that normally live in the human oral cavity, digestive tract and urogenital system as commensals. A. israelli is considered to be the most common cause of the disease, followed by A. naeslundi and A. mayeari [1]. These bacteria usually coexist with other microorganisms that reduce the oxygen concentration in the environment and weaken the body defences, allowing Actinomyces to grow [2]. The disease can affect many organ systems. Infections of the craniofacial area are the most common, followed by gastrointestinal and respiratory disease [3]. It may also involve the central nervous system, bones and joints and the genitourinary system [4]. Lung infection occurs as a result of aspiration of infected contents from the oral cavity and the gastrointestinal tract [5]. Risk factors include lack of proper oral hygiene, alcoholism, chronic respiratory diseases such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, bronchiectasis, history of pulmonary tuberculosis, immunosuppression in the course of other diseases or treatment [4]. Males are more likely to be affected than females, which may be associated with less hygiene and more frequent facial injuries. Infection can occur at any age, but most often occurs in people aged 20–50 [5]. We present the case of a 43-year-old man suffering from actinomycosis complicated by a fistula of the chest wall. The aim of the study is to draw doctors' attention to the need for considering this disease at an early stage of differential diagnosis of ambiguous clinical cases.

Address for correspondence: Ewa Łyżwa, 1st Department of Lung Diseases, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Research Institute, Warsaw, Poland; e-mail: ewa.gorska.90@wp.pl DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0062 | Received: 20.02.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451–4934 | e-ISSN 2543–6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

Case report

A 43-year-old smoking man with no history of chronic diseases was admitted to the National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Research Institute due to a chest wall fistula. His problem started five months earlier with dyspnoea and chest pain, for which he was evaluated in a different hospital. Tests performed at that time revealed significantly increased blood inflammation markers and right-sided pleural effusion up to the 8th rib with accompanying lung consolidations on chest x-ray. Community-acquired pneumonia was diagnosed. The patient refused hospital admission, so ambulatory antibiotic therapy was initiated (amoxicillin with clavulanic acid and clarithromycin). Despite treatment, mild chest pain persisted, deterioration of exercise tolerance and gradual weight loss developed. A fistula appeared with time in the right nipple area, oozing bloody discharge. Fever was not observed.

On admission to the Department, the patient's blood pressure was 140/95 mm Hg, heart rate regular 104/min, oxygen saturation 98% on room air. Chest auscultation revealed a decrease in breathing sounds at the base of the right lung, no adventitious sounds were heard. There were two striking findings from inspection: advanced tooth decay and cellulitis with fistula in the right mammary area. Blood tests revealed increased inflammatory markers and abnormal coagulation parameters (Table 1). Chest X-ray showed a large amount of fluid in the right pleural cavity (Figure 1). Contrast enhanced CT with pulmonary angiogram excluded pulmonary embolism. It revealed right-sided encapsulated pleural fluid collection containing gas bubbles, pleural thickening and contrast enhancement and features of anterior thoracic wall involvement: soft tissues thickening, discreet rib destruction and subcutaneous fat stranding (Figure 2). CT suggested a pleural empyema or a breast either pleural malignancy. Thoracentesis was performed and trace amount of bloody fluid was obtained — pH 8, brown colour, erythrocytes 3.85 x 1012/L; haemoglobin 11,8 g/dL; the smear was dominated by leukocytes — 77%. The fistula swab cultures yielded the growth of Acinetobacter baumani complex. For diagnostic and therapeutic reasons, the patient was referred for video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS). A pleural empyema was evacuated, and the anterior chest wall was incised. Material for microbiological tests and histopathological evaluation was collected. Parvimonas micra was cultured on the pleural effusion in anaerobic conditions, and the culture

Table 1. Laboratory tests results

Parameter	Result	Norm
Leukocytes [× 10 ³ /mm ³]	12	4.23-9.07
C-reactive protein (CRP) [mg/L]	122	< 10
D- dimers [ng/mL]	1242	< 500
Activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT, formerly kaolin- -cephalin time) [s]	38	24–35
INR	1.45	0.8–1.2

INR — international normalized ratio

was sterile under aerobic conditions. The smear of pleural fluid was negative for acid-fast bacteria (final cultures were also negative), and there was no fungal growth. The patient was managed with pleural drainage and antibiotic therapy in accordance with antibiogram. Clinical improvement was achieved. As results of the histopathological examination of the chest wall phlegmon became available, they revealed a nonspecific granulation tissue with massive inflammatory infiltrate rich in neutrophils and plasma cells and with multiple colonies of densely packed bacteria. The colonies were covered by eosinophilic proteinous deposits (Splendore-Hoeppli reaction). Grocott methenamine-silver stain (GMS) revealed the filamentous structure of the bacteria. Morphology of microorganisms corresponded with Actinomyces spp. (Figure 3). The culture targeted at *Actinomyces* spp were negative. Based on histopathological analysis and corresponding clinical picture, the diagnosis of actinomycosis complicated by fistula of the chest wall was established. The antibiotic therapy was started in accordance with the guidelines for treating actinomycosis (intravenous therapy with amoxicillin with clavulanic acid for 2 weeks during hospitalisation followed by oral treatment with amoxicillin 3g/day at home) and dental treatment was recommended. During the initial treatment, the fistula was healed and the lesions in the right lung regressed significantly. In good general condition, the patient was discharged home. A follow-up hospitalisation was planned, but for economic reasons, it was not performed, and antibiotic therapy was discontinued approximately 3 weeks after discharge. The further course of the disease remains unknown.

Discussion

The clinical presentation of the respiratory system actinomycosis is not characteristic,



Figure 1. Posteroanterior chest radiograph shows a large amount of fluid in right pleural cavity



Figure 2. Axial contrast-enhanced CT image reveals right-sided encapsulated pleural fluid collection (arrow 1) containing gas bubbles (arrow 2), pleural thickening and contrast enhancement (arrow 3), anterior thoracic wall soft tissues thickening (arrow 4), subcutaneous fat stranding (arrow 5)



Figure 3. Microphotography of a colony of *Actinomyces*. **A**, **B**. Low-power of densely packed tangles of bacterial colony (*A*) surrounded by granulocytes (*gran*) and histiocytes (*hist*). **C**. High-power of bacterial colony (*A*) with eosinophilic deposits of proteinous exudate at the edge - so-called Splendore-Hoeppli phenomenon (*S-P*). **D**. GMS stain highlighted the filamentous structure of bacteria at the periphery of the colony (A and C — hematoxylin and eosin stain, magn. × 100 and 400; **C** and **D** — grocott methenamine silver stain — GMS, magn. × 100 and 400)

which is responsible for diagnostic difficulties and mistakes. It has been estimated that it takes approximately 3 months to make a proper diagnosis of pulmonary actinomycosis [6]. Initially, the disease may be asymptomatic. Later on, chronic cough, dyspnoea, chest pain, fever or lowgrade fever, deterioration of exercise tolerance, weight loss, sweating, and recurrent respiratory infections appear. There are reports of massive or recurrent haemoptysis requiring pulmonary embolisation as the main clinical manifestation [7, 8]. In our case, the first symptoms of the disease were dyspnoea and chest pain. On the basis of performed tests, pneumonia was diagnosed and antibiotic therapy was initiated. Despite the treatment, the patient observed a deterioration of exercise tolerance, weight loss and local chest skin changes, which prompted him to seek further medical assistance. First, chest CT was performed 5 months after the first symptoms. It indicated right-sided empyema and/or breast or pleural neoplasm. According to the literature, pulmonary

nodular infiltrates are the most frequent radiological findings at the initial stage of the disease. Other observations include cavitation within the nodular infiltrates, central necrosis, ground-glass opacities, subpleural consolidation, mediastinal lymph nodes enlargement, pleural thickening and effusion [1, 7]. At that stage, it is very difficult to differentiate actinomycosis from pulmonary tuberculosis, neoplasms, lung abscesses or fungal lesions. In further course of the disease, the lesions may progress locally and involve adjacent structures. The formation of fistulas (e.g., into the oesophagus or through the chest wall) and abscesses within the respiratory system is a rare form of the disease and it appears most commonly at the late stage when not properly treated [4]. For this reason, the presented case deserves special attention. Five months elapsed between first symptoms and the diagnostic work-up in our Department. This time was sufficient for the development of complications. This shows how important it is to consider actinomycosis at an early stage of the differential diagnosis, especially if no improvement is achieved with treatment targeted at the most common respiratory infection agents.

Diagnosis of the disease is based on the presence of Actinomyces spp in the microbiological examination and/or findings in the histopathological test. Bronchoscopy may be helpful, however, there is no bronchoscopic pattern characteristic of actinomycosis. Samples collected during the examination can be considered diagnostic only in the presence of pulmonary cavities [3, 4]. Otherwise, it is difficult to decide whether the bacteria are the causative factor or just a contamination. Suzuki et al. [7] reported a case where pulmonary actinomycosis was diagnosed by transbronchial lung biopsy, but it is to remember that the diagnosis was made based on the tissue histopathological examination, not the cultures. Ding *et al.* [5] and Tabarsi et al. [8] presented similar cases. In our patient, bronchoscopy was not performed because the disease process seemed to originate from the chest wall. Instead, urgent VATS was undertaken. The surgical intervention was the most appropriate, both for diagnostic and therapeutic reasons. Surgical or CT-guided lung biopsy is also recognised as an appropriate diagnostic tool for pulmonary actinomycosis [4]. Pleural fluid testing is reasonable, but it rarely yields positive results [3, 9]. Samples for *Actinomyces* spp cultures should be collected under anaerobic conditions and growth should last 15-20 days. However, positive results are obtained in less than 50% of cases. Reasons include recent antibiotic therapy, abundant growth of other microorganisms, complicated procedure of specimen collection and the necessity to use non-standard conditions [3, 8]. In our case, cultures for Actinomyces, collected during thoracentesis and VATS, were negative. It is difficult to say which of the above-mentioned reasons played a role here. Perhaps it was influenced by other microorganisms' growth (Acinetobacter baumani complex, Parvimonas micra). In the presented case, histopathological findings were crucial for the final diagnosis. Characteristic lesions in the histological examinations include inflammatory granulation tissue with necrotisis and colonies of gram-positive filamentous bacteria. Macroscopically, bacterial colonies form vellowish clumps, so-called sulfur granules of a diameter of 0.1-1 mm. It is important not to consider them pathognomonic as they can also occur in other diseases such as nocardiosis or mycoses [4]. The possibility of using molecular techniques in the diagnosis of actinomycosis has been reported [6].

The treatment scheme of pulmonary actinomycosis remains controversial. Antibiotics penetration to the infection site is poor due to low vascularisation of the lesions and a large number of fibrous lesions [6]. Therefore, high doses of antibiotics and prolonged time of treatment should be applied. Standard treatment regimen includes the use of intravenous penicillin (18-24 mln units/day) for 2 to 6 weeks followed by oral treatment for 6 to 12 months (amoxicillin 3 g/dav) [1, 4, 10]. Alternative treatments are based on the use of clindamycin or macrolides. [2, 4, 11]. Actinomyces spp do not produce β-lactamase, so there is no need to use their inhibitors, however, some authors describe effective therapy with them [12]. The treatment should be continued for at least 3 months to prevent local complications like fistulas or phlegmon of the chest wall and disease recurrence [4]. However, some authors advocate shortening the therapy to less than 6 months, including reducing the intravenous treatment phase to less than 14 days [10]. The argument for such approach is earlier detection of the disease nowadays than it was in the past, when the disease was often diagnosed at the late stage, with complications [10]. Zhang et al. [3] analysed 145 cases of actinomycosis and reported an average treatment duration of 4.5 months. All patients were considered cured. Kinner et al. [13] described 19 patients who were considered cured after an average treatment duration of 6 weeks. It is suggested to consider discontinuation of antibiotic therapy 1–2 months after disappearance of clinical and radiological symptoms of the disease. Surgical treatment may also allow for shortening the antibiotic therapy [10]. Indications for surgery are massive/recurrent haemoptysis, no improvement after antibiotic therapy or the need to supplement it in case of abscesses, fistulas or phlegmon. In addition, invasive procedures are performed to rule out neoplasms. In case of massive pleural effusion, drainage should be used [6]. Quickly applied, it can also shorten the time of antibiotic therapy. However, the small number of described cases does not allow to confirm this unequivocally.

Conclusions

Pulmonary actinomycosis is a rare disease, but it should be considered in all patients with progressing infiltrative lung/pleural pathology. Once the diagnosis is made, proper antibiotic therapy should be started immediately. Delay in diagnosis or incorrect treatment may lead to severe complications.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

References:

 Supriya BG, Harisree S, Savio J, et al. Actinomyces naeslundii causing pulmonary endobronchial - A case report. Indian J Pathol Microbiol. 2019; 62(2): 326–328, doi: <u>10.4103/IJPM.</u> <u>IJPM_706_17</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30971569</u>.

- Thomas M, Raza T, Langawi MAl. A 37-year-old man with nonresolving pneumonia and endobronchial lesion. Chest. 2015; 148(2): e52–e55, doi: <u>10.1378/chest.14-1963</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>26238838</u>.
- Zhang M, Zhang XY, Chen YB. Primary pulmonary actinomycosis: a retrospective analysis of 145 cases in mainland China. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2017; 21(7): 825–831, doi: <u>10.5588/</u> <u>ijtld.16.0773</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28633709</u>.
- Valour F, Sénéchal A, Dupieux C, et al. Actinomycosis: etiology, clinical features, diagnosis, treatment, and management. Infect Drug Resist. 2014; 7: 183–197, doi: <u>10.2147/IDR.S39601</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>25045274</u>.
- Ding X, Sun G, Fei G, et al. Pulmonary actinomycosis diagnosed by transbronchoscopic lung biopsy: A case report and literature review. Exp Ther Med. 2018; 16(3): 2554–2558, doi: 10.3892/etm.2018.6483, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30186488</u>.
- Scheifer C, Bor C, Debray MP, et al. A 27-year-old man with multiple cavitary lung lesions. Chest. 2019; 155(2): e43–e46, doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2018.07.034, indexed in Pubmed: 30121203.
- Suzuki M, Araki K, Matsubayashi S, et al. A case of recurrent hemoptysis caused by pulmonary actinomycosis diagnosed using transbronchial lung biopsy after bronchial artery embolism and a brief review of the literature. Ann Transl Med. 2019; 7(5): 108, doi: <u>10.21037/atm.2019.02.11</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31019958</u>.
- Tabarsi P, Yousefi S, Jabbehdari S, et al. Pulmonary actinomycosis in a patient with AIDS/HCV. J Clin Diagn Res. 2017; 11(6): OD15–OD17, doi: <u>10.7860/JCDR/2017/27593.10092</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28764230</u>.
- Khaliq M, Koirala A, Hesham M. Pulmonary Actinomycosis with empyema: a rare cause of thoracic empyema. Chest. 2018; 154(4): Supplement 4, doi: <u>10.1016/j.chest.2018.08.108</u>.
- Choi J, Koh WJ, Kim TS, et al. Optimal duration of IV and oral antibiotics in the treatment of thoracic actinomycosis. Chest. 2005; 128(4): 2211–2217, doi: <u>10.1378/chest.128.4.2211</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>16236876</u>.
- Otekeiwebia A, et al. Pulmonary Actinomycosis with endobronchial involvement: a case report. Chest. ; 154(4): 159A.
- Drozd-Werel M, Porzezińska M, Cynowska B, et al. Pulmonary actinomycosis - a case report. Pneumonol Alergol Pol. 2012; 80(4): 349–354, indexed in Pubmed: <u>22714080</u>.
- Kinnear WJ, MacFarlane JT. A survey of thoracic actinomycosis. Respir Med. 1990; 84(1): 57–59, doi: <u>10.1016/s0954-6111(08)80095-9</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>2371423</u>.

Characteristic imaging finding and spot radiological diagnosis in a young man with acute breathlessness and chest pain

Mayank Mishra¹, Subodh Kumar²

¹All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Rishikesh, India ²All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Gorakhpur, India

Septic pulmonary embolism (SPE) is a serious complication of fulminant bacteraemia, usually seen in immunocompromised persons or intravenous drug abusers. Prompt recognition is usually possible through classic imaging appearance in the relevant clinical background.

A 26-year-old, previously-healthy, immunocompetent male presented to the pulmonology outpatient centre with sudden onset of breathlessness, chest pain, dry cough and burning micturition of three days' duration. A week earlier he had consulted the orthopaedic outpatient centre for acute high-grade fever with a painfully swollen left knee, and was diagnosed as left distal femur acute osteomyelitis. Immediately prior to this presentation, he had developed a furuncle in the left external nostril that went unattended. There was no history of trauma, intravenous drug abuse or other addictions. Examination revealed a temperature of 101°F, blood pressure 126/82 mm Hg, pulse rate 124/min, respiratory rate 28/min and SPO₂ 89% on ambient air. The left knee joint was swollen and tender. Investigations were remarkable for a total leukocyte count of 29,100/mm³ and C-reactive protein 151 mg/dL. Blood and urine cultures were positive for methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), while sputum and synovial fluid cultures were sterile. Echocardiography was unremarkable, and chest radiograph showed bilateral ill-defined nodules (Figure 1A). Computed tomogram of the chest (Figure 1B) revealed multiple, bilateral, variably-sized, pleural-based and parenchymal nodules, few of them with cavitation. Some of the nodules had a distinct vessel branch directly entering it, suggestive of the classical feeding vessel sign (FVS).

The clinical picture and pathognomonic imaging features suggested a diagnosis of SPE secondary to left distal femur acute osteomyelitis-induced MRSA septicaemia. The patient was initiated on linezolid and cefepime intravenously as per the culture-sensitivity reports, which was followed by respiratory stabilization within 72 hours and complete clearing of pulmonary nodules after two weeks. He was subsequently transferred to orthopaedics for further care of his joint complaints.

SPE is an uncommon, potentially fatal complication of fulminant bacteraemia. It is usually seen in patients with right-heart infective endocarditis, indwelling devices and catheters, skin or soft tissue or bone infections, septic abortions, oro-dental infections and in immunocompromised persons. The occurrence of septic embolism in an immunocompetent host indicates severe infection that fails to remain contained at the primary focus and spreads to other sites. SPE arises due to hematogenous dissemination of infected microthrombi from an extrathoracic nidus. The thromboemboli produce microvascular occlusion within the lungs resulting in a host of insults that include ischaemic lung parenchymal damage, infarction, infective and inflammatory changes, and microabscess formation. These pathophysiological processes manifest as lung nodules on chest imaging.

A high clinico-radiologic index of suspicion is required as the diagnosis of SPE can be challenging due to diverse presentations and varying aetiologies. The most commonly reported clinical features include chest pain, dyspnoea and cough occurring in a febrile patient with a known extrathoracic site of bacteraemia. Blood cultures, chest imaging and echocardiography form the cornerstone of diagnosis of suspected SPE. Diagnosis relies greatly on the classical chest CT findings in an appropriate clinical setting. Typical CT imaging characteristics include bilateral, peripheral nodules (with or without cavitation), wedge-shaped pleural-based infarcts, FVS, pleural effusion, and mediastinal and/or hilar lymphadenopathy [1–3]. FVS is considered a highly suggestive imaging sign of SPE, with a reported prevalence of 67–100% [4]. It is also known as the feeding artery sign or fruits on the branch sign, and indicates a pulmonary artery branch that leads directly to the nodule. Other conditions where it may be commonly seen are lung metastases, pulmonary infarcts, vasculitis, and pulmonary arteriovenous malformations [5].

Management of SPE involves adequately addressing the primary focus of infection, prolonged course of broad-spectrum antibiotics, and other supportive measures as appropriate. Complications depend upon the

Address for correspondence: Mayank Mishra, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Rishikesh, India; e-mail: virgodrmayank@gmail.com Conflict of interest: None declared

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0073 | Received: 10.02.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.



Figure 1. A. Chest radiograph (posteroanterior view) showing bilateral, ill-defined, nodular parenchymal opacities, mainly in mid and lower lung zones (white arrows). B. Chest computed tomogram scan (axial section, lung window) showing multiple, bilateral, peripheral parenchymal nodules, few showing cavitation (red arrows), and some having a distinct vessel branch directly entering the nodule — the feeding vessel sign (yellow arrows)

quantum of lung parenchymal damage inflicted, and include empyema, lung abscess, chronic cavitary lung disease, pneumothorax, and acute hypoxemic respiratory failure.

To conclude, SPE is a serious condition that must be strongly considered in the appropriate clinical context. Thoracic CT imaging plays an invaluable role in diagnosis especially when characteristic imaging findings are present. Timely diagnosis and aggressive treatment of this entity can be life-saving. This clinical vignette is being reported to highlight the pathognomonic FVS that facilitates clinching of the diagnosis of this uncommon entity, and must incite its consideration even in young immunocompetent individuals without any comorbidities or risk factors.

References:

- 1. Kuhlman JE, Fishman EK, Teigen C. Pulmonary septic emboli: diagnosis with CT. Radiology. 1990; 174(1): 211–213, doi: <u>10.1148/</u> radiology.174.1.2294550, indexed in Pubmed: <u>2294550</u>.
- Cook RJ, Ashton RW, Aughenbaugh GL, et al. Septic pulmonary embolism: presenting features and clinical course of 14 patients. Chest. 2005; 128(1): 162–166, doi: <u>10.1378/chest.128.1.162</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>16002930</u>.
- Wong KS, Lin TY, Huang YC, et al. Clinical and radiographic spectrum of septic pulmonary embolism. Arch Dis Child. 2002; 87(4): 312–315, doi: <u>10.1136/adc.87.4.312</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>12244005</u>.
- Dodd JD, Souza CA, Müller NL. High-resolution MDCT of pulmonary septic embolism: evaluation of the feeding vessel sign. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2006; 187(3): 623–629, doi: <u>10.2214/AJR.05.0681</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>16928922</u>.
- 5. Yudin A. Feeding Vessel Sign or Fruits on the Branch Sign. In: Metaphorical Signs in Computed Tomography of Chest and Abdomen. Springer, Cham https://doi org/10 1007/978-3-319-04013-4, Cham 2014: 22–25.

Kengo Nishino, Kesato Iguchi, Norio Takayashiki, Hiroaki Satoh

Mito Medical Center, University of Tsukuba, Mito, Japan

V M

VIA MEDICA

Sclerosing pneumocytomas are one of the most common benign lung tumors. Although rare [1–4], some of them can be accompanied by dilated air-containing space.

A 61-year-old woman was referred to our hospital because of a nodule in the left lung detected in a chest radiograph mass screening program (Figure 1A). Chest computed tomography (CT) showed a well demarcated nodule with a peritumoral air-lucent zone in the lower left lobe. In chest radiograph taken at another medical institution 7 years ago, a nodule was detected in the left lung, which was diagnosed as a sclerosing pneumocytoma (Figure 1B). However, the patient did not wish further evaluation because she was asymptomatic. Eighteen months after the first visit to our hospital, she came to our institution because of hemoptysis. Chest CT taken at that time confirmed that the nodule with peritumoral air-lucent zone increased by a maximum diameter of 7 mm at this interval (Figure 1C). With the advent of hemoptysis, surgical resection was performed. The patient was pathologically diagnosed as having a sclerosing pneumocytoma, and the presence of a dilated air-containing space corresponding to the peritumoral air-lucent zone seen on CT was pathologically confirmed. When calculated using Schwartz's formula, the tumor doubling time was 5.9 years, and its onset was estimated to be more than 10 years ago.

Pulmonary sclerosing pneumocytoma is one of the most common benign tumors of the lung. It is pathologically composed of several components such as cartilage, connective tissue, muscle, fat, and bone. The tumor usually occurs at the age of 40 and 50. The majority of lung sclerosing pneumocytomas develop in the periphery of the lung [1–5]. They are typically well-circumscribed nodules or masses with either smooth or lobulated margins. Although rare, however, some of the patients with sclerosing hemangioma could be accompanied by dilated air-containing space [1–4]. Patients with this tumor are usually asymptomatic and they are found incidentally when imaging the chest for other reasons. However, it can occasionally present with hemoptysis, bronchial obstruction, and cough. It has been estimated that these benign tumors grow very slowly, however, to the best of our knowledge, there has been no report to reveal their volume doubling time.



Figure 1. A nodule in the left lung (arrow) in plain chest radiograph taken 7 years ago (A), and that taken at the first visit to our hospital (B). The nodule in chest computed tomo taken 18 months after the first visit (C)

Address for correspondence: Hiroaki Satoh, Mito Medical Center, University of Tsukuba, Miya-machi 3-2-7, 3100015 Mito, Japan; e-mail: hirosato@md.tsukuba.ac.jp DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0061 | Received: 02.02.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

No studies have examined the volume doubling time of this tumor with dilated air-containing space. Although rare, sclerosing pneumocytoma is showing CT images similar to "halo sign" and 'meniscus sign'that have been observed in our patient too. There have been reports suggesting the involvement of tumor-related bleeding in the pathological findings of such signs and space formation around the tumor. The current report presents the natural history of such a type of lung sclerosing pneumocytoma that presented as a slow-growing mass, which was determined by calculating its doubling time and volume changes.

This study was approved by the institutional ethics committee in our Hospital. Written comprehensive informed consent at the time of admission for obtaining pathological specimens was acquired from the patient.

Conflict of interest

No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

REFERENCES:

- Sagara Y, Hayashi K, Shiraishi Y, et al. The pulmonary air meniscus sign in a case of sclerosing pneumocytoma. Nihon Kyobu Shikkan Gakkai Zasshi 1994; 32:774-7. Nihon Kyobu Shikkan Gakkai Zasshi. 1994; 32(8): 774–777, indexed in Pubmed: <u>7807757</u>.
- Matsuyama W, Hirotsu Y, Mizoguchi A, et al. Pulmonary sclerosing hemangioma with specific CT findings. Nihon Kokyuki Gakkai Zasshi. 1998; 36(6): 564–567, indexed in Pubmed: <u>9754011</u>.
- 3. Nam JiE, Ryu YH, Cho SHo, et al. Air-trapping zone surrounding sclerosing hemangioma of the lung. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2002; 26(3): 358–361, doi: 10.1097/00004728-200205000-00007, indexed in Pubmed: 12016362.
- Bae K, Song DH, Jeon KN, et al. Pulmonary sclerosing pneumocytoma presenting a peritumoral halo and an intervening lucent zone on computed tomography: Radiology-pathology correlation. Thorac Cancer. 2019; 10(5): 1295–1296, doi: <u>10.1111/1759-7714.13069</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30964602</u>.
- 5. Pal P, Chetty R. Multiple sclerosing pneumocytomas: a review. J Clin Pathol. 2020; 73(9): 531–534, doi: <u>10.1136/jclinpath-2020-206501</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32317291</u>.

Unilateral multiple thoracic hydatid cysts: a rare presentation

El Hassane Kabiri^{1, 2}, Massine El Hammoumi^{1, 2}, Meryem Kabiri²

¹Department of Thoracic Surgery, Mohammed V Military Teaching Hospital, Rabat, Morocco ²Faculté de Médecine et de Pharmacie, Mohammed V University, Rabat, Morocco

Hydatidosis, when present in multiple thoracic locations, requires a synchronous or successive approach, which can lead to an increased risk of complications.

A 50-year-old female with a history of hepatic hydatid cyst surgery 30 years ago presented with chest pain and dyspnea. Chest X-ray revealed multiple homogeneous opacities of the right hemithorax (Figure 1A). Thoracic and abdominal computed tomography (CT) scans (Figure 1B, 1C, and 1D) showed multiple hydatid cysts in the right hemithorax [2, 3]. Hydatidosis serology (ELISA) was positive. After 2 weeks of preoperative Albendazole treatment, the patient underwent a posterolateral thoracotomy. Protection of the surgical field was maintained with packs immersed by a scolicidal solution and difficult pneumolysis. All the cysts were treated via cystectomies or pericystomies with capitonnage. There was no trans-diaphragmatic fistulation. The diagnosis was confirmed by pathological examination. The patient was discharged uneventfully on the 7th postoperative day. No further complications or recurrence occurred during 12 months of follow-up.



Figure 1. A. Chest x-ray showing multiple right thoracic opacities; B–D. Chest computed tomography showing multiple right thoracic hydatid cysts: chest wall (yellow arrow), diaphragmatic (white arrow), pericardial (black arrow), pleural (red arrow), and pulmonary (green arrow) regions

Address for correspondence: El Hassane Kabiri, Head of Department of Thoracic Surgery, Mohammed V Military Teaching Hospital, Hay Riad 10100, Rabat, Morocco, e-mail: hassankabiri@yahoo.com

Conflict of interest: None declared

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0096 | Received: 10.03.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.
Multiple thoracic hydatid disease is usually secondary to dissemination after spontaneous or preoperative rupture of the hepatic cyst into the thorax. Therefore, the right hemithorax is the most affected region [1, 2].

In terms of thoracic spread, the diaphragm is the first location affected. This occurs most often secondary to intraoperative contamination of the hepatic location due to precautions taken during surgery. This complication is usually asymptomatic, although symptoms can occur in complicated forms such as rupture or infection of the cyst or by compression of the neighboring organs. Imaging with CT gives important diagnostic information about the cysts (location, size, character, and relationship to surrounding vital structures) [2–4]. The treatment is based on successive or simultaneous surgery via excision of hydatid cysts. Preoperative medical treatment with albendazole is recommended by some authors because it sterilizes the contents of the cyst and prevents postoperative spread. Strict precautions and careful handling of the cyst are essential during surgery. Therefore, the operating field must be absolutely protected with scolicidal solutions such as hypertonic saline, povidone iodine, or hydrogen peroxide in all cases [1, 4]. Conservative treatment options such as cystotomy and pericystectomy with capitonnage of the residual cavities are the most effective procedures [3, 5], whereas radical surgery (lobectomy or more) is rarely indicated. The recurrence rate is reported to be higher with conservative surgery rather than radical surgery [4] due to failure to totally remove the smallest cysts and/or prevent spread during surgery. The follow-up after surgery must be extended to detect any recurrence or dissemination; this is especially true is for endemic areas of hydatidosis [2].

We concluded that a CT scan gives important diagnostic information and aids in therapeutic management of the cysts. The treatment is based on surgical conservative procedures associated with medical therapy.

- Kabiri EH, El Maslout A, Benosman A. Thoracic rupture of hepatic hydatidosis (123 cases). Ann Thorac Surg. 2001; 72(6): 1883– 1886, doi: 10.1016/s0003-4975(01)03204-0, indexed in Pubmed: 11789764.
- Kermenli T, Yalçınöz K, Polat ME. Intrathoracic multiple recurrence and bilateral endobronchial rupture of cyst hydatid disease; the rare cause of anaphylaxis. Respir Med Case Rep. 2017; 21: 113–115, doi: <u>10.1016/j.rmcr.2017.04.002</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28458996</u>.
- Singh J, Rana SS, Singh H, et al. Multiple intrathoracic hydatids. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann. 2010; 18(1): 88-89, doi: 10.1177/0218492309355197, indexed in Pubmed: 20124306.
- Saeedan MB, Aljohani IM, Alghofaily KA, et al. Thoracic hydatid disease: a radiologic review of unusual cases. World J Clin Cases. 2020; 8(7): 1203–1212, doi: <u>10.12998/wjcc.v8.i7.1203</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32337194</u>.
- Kabiri ElH, Traibi A, El Hammoumi M, et al. Parenchyma sparing procedures is possible for most pulmonary hydatid disease without recurrence and low complications. Med Arch. 2012; 66(5): 332–335, doi: <u>10.5455/medarh.2012.66.332-335</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>23097973</u>.

Antitubercular therapy — an uncommon side effect

Mayank Kapur, Nitesh Gupta, Neeraj Kumar Gupta, Shibdas Chakrabarti, Rohit Kumar, Pranav Ish

Vardhman Mahavir Medical College & Safdarjung Hospital, New Delhi, India

A 43-year-old female presented with complaints of chest pain, non-productive cough, shortness of breath, diarrhoea, loss of weight and appetite, and generalised malaise for a period of one month [3]. The chest X-ray demonstrated a massive right-sided pleural effusion. Subsequently, pleural fluid reports revealed an exudative effusion with predominantly mononuclear cells, negative malignant cytology and no growth in pyogenic culture as well as a Mycobacteria Growth Indicator Tube (MGIT) culture. Contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CECT) demonstrated a loculated pleural effusion with right middle lobe pneumonia. CECT of the abdomen revealed diffuse circumferential enhancing thickness of the terminal ilium and ileocecal junction with enlarged lymph nodes. The Mantoux test was positive (30 mm). The baseline haematologic and organ function tests were within normal ranges. The absence of sputum production and failure to induce sputum led to a request for bronchoscopy in order to obtain a microbiological diagnosis. Unfortunately, the patient did not provide consent to have this procedure. Thus, based on the clinic-radiological profile and the fact that the region was TB endemic, the patient was initiated on weight-based Antitubercular therapy (ATT) comprising of isoniazid (300 mg), rifampicin (600 mg), pyrazinamide (1600 mg), and ethambutol (1100 mg). However, within two days of therapy, the patient complained of general pruritus, especially over all four limbs, and exanthematous lesions in the extensor aspects. Symptomatic therapy comprising oral antihistaminic drugs and topical steroids provided partial relief. Investigations revealed a haemoglobin (Hb) level of 12.3 gram %, a total leucocyte count (TLC) of 9200/mm³ (comprising 36% eosinophils), and an absolute eosinophil count (AEC) of 3312/mm. A detailed work-up as a result of eosinophilia revealed normal spirometry results (testing for asthma) and a normal stool examination (testing for helminthic infection). Liver function tests also revealed transaminitis (Aspartate transaminase — 252 IU/L; Alanine transaminase — 240 IU/L). A diagnosis of ATT-induced drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS) was made. On discontinuing ATT, the AEC decreased to 380/mm³. The patient was also provided with symptomatic relief.

Drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS) syndrome is a severe adverse drug reaction characterized by an extensive skin rash associated with visceral organ involvement, lymphadenopathy, eosinophilia, and atypical lymphocytosis [1]. The syndrome is characterized by a latency period ranging from 3 weeks to 3 months after the introduction of the offending drug. The range of eosinophilia may determine the involvement of internal organs with pulmonary infiltrates. In general, eosinophilia may be observed about 1 to 2 weeks after the onset of the syndrome, or can even occur after the increase in liver enzymes has normalized [2]. Multiple diagnostic criteria have been proposed for the diagnosis of DRESS syndrome by organizations including the European Registry of severe cutaneous adverse reactions (*RegiSCAR*), the Japanese research committee on severe acute cutaneous reactions (J-SCAR), and by Bocquet et al. [3], which require that the three criteria of cutaneous involvement, eosinophilia, and systemic involvement (lymphadenopathy, transaminitis or nephropathy) are fulfilled. The index case had cutaneous eruptions, eosinophilia, and systemic manifestations (increased liver enzymes > 2 times greater than normal). There are only a few case reports of DRESS syndrome developing after taking ATT which all improved on cessation of therapy [4]. All ATT drugs have been implicated in causing DRESS, with isoniazid and rifampicin being most common [5]. The index case also demonstrated a reappearance of a rash and eosinophilia on attempted reintroduction of both drugs. As a result, the patient was eventually shifted to a modified therapy as per national guidelines. A large case series conducted over ten years documented only 67 cases of DRESS syndrome due to ATT with mortality in two patients [6]. Thus, DRESS is rare, but can also be life-threatening.

To conclude, a high index of suspicion and regular follow-up are the keys to an early diagnosis of DRESS syndrome in order for the offending drugs to be stopped early.

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0097 | Received: 22.03.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

Address for correspondence: Pranav Ish, Vardhman Mahavir Medical College & Safdarjung Hospital, New Delhi, India, e-mail: pranavish2512@gmail.com Conflict of interest: None declared



Figure 1. A, B. Computed tomography of the chest showing right middle lobe consolidation; C. Exanthematous rash over the right leg

- Kardaun SH, Sidoroff A, Valeyrie-Allanore L, et al. Variability in the clinical pattern of cutaneous side-effects of drugs with systemic symptoms: does a DRESS syndrome really exist? Br J Dermatol. 2007; 156(3): 609–611, doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2133.2006.07704.x</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>17300272</u>.
- 2. Kano Y, Ishida T, Hirahara K, et al. Visceral involvements and long-term sequelae in drug-induced hypersensitivity syndrome. Med Clin North Am. 2010; 94(4): 743–59, xi, doi: 10.1016/j.mcna.2010.03.004, indexed in Pubmed: 20609861.
- Bocquet H, Bagot M, Roujeau JC. Drug-induced pseudolymphoma and drug hypersensitivity syndrome (Drug Rash with Eosinophilia and Systemic Symptoms: DRESS). Semin Cutan Med Surg. 1996; 15(4): 250–257, doi: <u>10.1016/s1085-5629(96)80038-1</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>9069593</u>.
- 4. Jridi S, Azzeddine R, Bourkadi JE. [DRESS syndrome secondary to antituberculosis drugs: about a case]. Pan Afr Med J. 2017; 27: 37, doi: 10.11604/pamj.2017.27.37.11663, indexed in Pubmed: 28761613.
- Coster A, Aerts O, Herman A, et al. Drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS) syndrome caused by firstline antituberculosis drugs: Two case reports and a review of the literature. Contact Dermatitis. 2019; 81(5): 325–331, doi: 10.1111/ cod.13296, indexed in Pubmed: 31021423.
- Allouchery M, Logerot S, Cottin J, et al. French Pharmacovigilance Centers Network and the French Investigators for skin adverse reactions to drugs. Antituberculosis drug-associated DRESS: a case series. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2018; 6(4): 1373–1380, doi: 10.1016/j.jajp.2017.11.021, indexed in Pubmed: 29274824.

A young female with polycythemia: Pearls in the lung

Avneet Garg©, Vinita Jindal, Khushdeep Singla, Manjot Kaur

Adesh Institute of Medical Sciences and Research, Bathinda, Punjab, India

A 35 year-old female presented to the Pulmonary Medicine OPD with a history of progressive dyspnea, malaise, weakness and easy fatigability for the last 5-6 months. On examination, she had clubbing and redness on her face. She had stable vitals but low room air oxygen saturation on pulse oximetry (SpO₂ of 85%). Chest examination was normal. Laboratory parameters showed Hb — 19.2g/dl and hematocrit — 57%. Other hematologic and biochemical parameters were within normal limits. Her chest X-ray showed right upper lobe infiltrates (Figure 1A–B) and she was prescribed empirical anti-tubercular therapy (ATT) by an outside practitioner based on clinical and radiological findings. Echocardiography (ECHO) and an ultrasound of the abdomen were normal. Screening for polycythemia conducted during the initial evaluation revealed high erythropoietin levels, absent Jak-2 mutation, and no findings to suggest plasma volume contraction. She had no improvement of symptoms after 1 month of ATT. As a result, the patient was evaluated further. ABG measurements showed ph - 7.41, pCO₂ - 39, pO₂ - 49, and HCO₃ - 23. A contrast ECHO was ordered to rule out any blood shunting as infiltrates on chest X-ray were inconsistent with the degree of hypoxemia and polycythemia. ECHO revealed appearance of air bubbles in the left atrium after 3 cycles of heart beats. A subsequently performed contrast-enhanced computed tomography of the chest along with CT pulmonary angiography (Figure 1C-F) showed pulmonary arteriovenous malformations. A CT scan of the brain was normal. A colour doppler of bilateral upper and lower limbs (arterial and venous) did not show any thrombi. Hence, the final diagnosis was pulmonary arteriovenous malformations (PAVMs).

Pulmonary arteriovenous malformations are rare pulmonary vascular anomalies and are mostly asymptomatic but can cause dyspnea based on the degree of left-to-right shunting and the severity of hypoxemia [1]. Although uncommon, polycythemia can be a presenting manifestation of PAVMs due to chronic hypoxemia [2]. Paradoxical emboli can cause stroke or cerebral abscesses, particularly if previously undiagnosed. The most common cause of PAVMs is HHT (hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia). PAVMs may be solitary or multiple and lower lobes are most commonly affected. The right upper lobe is rarely involved [1]. In our case,



Figure 1. A. Chest X-ray posteroanterior view showing a lobulated opacity in the right upper zone. B. Magnified view showing curvilinear opacities extending from the hilum suggestive of a pulmonary arteriovenous malformations (AVM)

Address for correspondence: Avneet Garg, Adesh Institute of Medical Sciences and Research, Bathinda, Punjab, India; e-mail: dravneetgarg@gmail.com Conflict of interest: None declared

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0077 | Received: 04.04.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.



Figure 1. C. Axial chest computed tomography (CT) pulmonary window showing tubular branching opacities in the posterior segment of the right upper lobe. D. Axial CT mediastinal window showing a tuft of vessels. E. Coronal CT showing a pulmonary AVM with a feeding artery and draining vein. F. Sagittal CT showing a pulmonary AVM

the unusual location of this rare entity led to a false diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis. Chest radiographic features classically present are sharply defined non-specific round to oval opacities of uniform density that are frequently lobulated and range in size from 1-5 cm [3]. Contrast echocardiography is a highly sensitive tool for diagnosis, but CT pulmonary angiography remains the gold standard [4]. Treatment options include embolization and surgical excision [5].

The diagnosis of PAVM as a cause of polycythemia in a young female and its unusual location in the lungs leading to an incorrect diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis makes this case rare and interesting.

- 1. Prager RL, Law KH, Bender HW. Arteriovenous fistula of the lung. Ann Thorac Surg. 1983; 36(2): 231–239, doi: <u>10.1016/s0003-4975(10)60465-1</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>6349562</u>.
- Smith HL, Horton B. Arteriovenous fistula of the lung associated with polycythemia vera: report of a case in which the diagnosis was made clinically. Am Heart J. 1939; 18(5): 589–592, doi: <u>10.1016/s0002-8703(39)90882-3</u>.
- 3. Dines DE, Arms RA, Bernatz PE, et al. Pulmonary arteriovenous fistulas. Mayo Clin Proc. 1974; 49(7): 460–465, indexed in Pubmed: 4834927.
- Barzilai B, Waggoner AD, Spessert C, et al. Waggoner AD, Spesset C, Two-dimensional contrast echocardiography in the defection and follow up of congenital pulmonary arteriovenous malformations. Am J Cardiol. 1991; 68(15): 1507–1510, doi: <u>10.1016/0002-9149(91)90287-u</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>1746435</u>.
- 5. Dutton JA, Jackson JE, Hughes JM, et al. Pulmonary arteriovenous malformations: results of treatment with coil embolization in 53 patients. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1995; 165(5): 1119–1125, doi: <u>10.2214/ajr.165.5.7572487</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>7572487</u>.

Jelle Stans¹, Melina Delanghe

¹Institute for Globally Distributed Open Research and Education, Beringen, Belgium

Clinical studies regarding COVID-19 in Belgium

To the Editor

The severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), causing coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), arrived in Belgium early February 2020 [1]. This was the start of an epidemic that, by May 2nd, 2021, would be responsible for 993,434 confirmed cases; 70,384 hospitalisations and 24,258 fatalities [2]. After more than one year of research into the disease and its causative agent, a lot of progress has been made in management and treatment of COVID-19 [3]. As of December 21st, 2020, the Belgian Federal Agency for Medicines and Healthcare products (FAHMP) reported that 32 clinical drug trials, 6 clinical vaccine trials and 5 clinical studies with medical devices and/or in vitro diagnostics were authorized [4]. Continued research efforts are essential to tackling the persisting pandemic.

To obtain an insight into the clinical studies already performed in Belgium, the clinical trials database of FAHMP was searched for "covid-19". To identify additional studies not involving investigational medicinal products (IMPs), the clinicaltrials.gov database was searched for "COVID-19", "COVID" and "SARS-CoV-2". The results were filtered for studies in Belgium that were completed, suspended or terminated.

Thirty-three unique studies were retrieved from the FAHMP register (Supplementary materials, Table S1). Of these studies, 23 (69.70%) were being conducted at multiple sites in Belgium. This means that in a large majority of the studies, there was a cooperation between different institutions. Monocentric studies were often carried out in centres with specific expertise. Twenty-six (78.79%) studies utilized randomisation. Despite being only part of study design, this observation suggests that the urgency by which knowledge about COVID-19 is needed, did not negatively impact the scientific rigor of the research performed.

The number of studies per phase of development studies are shown in Figure 1. Five of the extracted studies (15,15%) were in phase I (human pharmacology). Most of these studies investigated the safety and immunogenicity of vaccine candidates. Nine (27.27%) studies were only in phase II (therapeutic exploratory). These studies investigated a wide variety of treatment strategies to tackle COVID-19, ranging from antiviral drugs to cell therapy. Phase III (therapeutic confirmatory) studies accounted for 6 (18.18%) of the total number of studies. These studies looked into the safety and efficacy of several treatments for disease management and prevention. Five (15.15%) studies were described being both phase II & III. Finally, 8 studies were in phase IV (therapeutic use). Based on these observations, it can be stated that COVID-19 research in all phases of the development process is being conducted in the Belgian territory.

Twenty-eight completed or terminated studies were conducted in Belgium according to the clinicaltrials.gov database (Supplementary materials, Table S2). Completed studies numbered 25 (89.29%) and terminated studies 3 (10.71%). The three terminated studies investigated hydroxychloroquine as a treatment, a COVID-19 vaccine and the performance of three sampling methods. Unfortunately, none of the completed studies had results available. From the identified studies, it is clear that a lot of different research interventions have been used for COVID-19 research, including ques-

Address for correspondence: Jelle Stans, Institute for Globally Distributed Open Research and Education, Beringen, Belgium; e-mail: jelle.stans@igdore.org

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0065 | Received: 03.06.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.



Figure 1. Number of studies approved by Federal Agency for Medicines and healthcare products (FAMHP) per phase

tionnaires and drug treatment. This is linked to the wide range of research topics of the studies, which ranged from discontinuation of fertility treatment to quality of life of oncology patients during the pandemic. A lot of aspects besides the purely medical and virological questions about the pandemic are being investigated.

Eleven (39.28%) of the studies were interventional while 17 were observational (60.71%). This means that several types of study design are used to investigate the COVD-19 pandemic.

In general, it is clear that a lot of research on COVID-19 has been conducted in Belgium. The studies are diverse in scope and methods. A more comprehensive analysis of the research conducted, could provide directions for further research. Additionally, systematic reviews and meta-analyses could synthesize the different studies already conducted.

Conflict of interest

The authors do not have a conflict of interest.

- 1. Coronavirus COVID-19. One repatriated Belgian has tested positive for the novel coronavirus. Available online: <u>www.</u> <u>info-coronavirus.be/en/news/one-repatriated-belgian-has-test-</u> <u>ed-positive-for-the-novel-coronavirus/.</u> [Last accessed at: <u>26.04.2021].</u>
- COVID-19 Epidemiologisch Bulletin Van 6 Juli 2021. Available online: <u>https://covid-19.sciensano.be/sites/default/files/Covid19/</u> <u>Meest%20recente%20update.pdf. [Last accessed at 02.05.2021].</u>
- Panovska-Stavridis I, Ridova N, Stojanoska T, et al. Insight in the Current Progress in the Largest Clinical Trials for COVID-19 Drug Management (As of January 2021). Pril (Makedon Akad Nauk Umet Odd Med Nauki). 2021; 42(1): 5–18, doi:10.2478/ prilozi-2021-0001.
- 4. Fagg. Federaal agentschap voor geneesmiddelen en gezondheidsproducten. Overzicht van de verschillende activiteiten van het FAGG in onderzoek en ontwikkeling rond COVID-19. Available online: www.fagg.be/nl/MENSELIJK_gebruik/geneesmiddelen/geneesmiddelen/covid_19/overzicht_van_de_verschillende_activiteiten. [Last accessed 26.04.2021].



Abhishek Tandon, Vedansh Chandra

¹Department of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Jodhpur, India ²Department of Internal Medicine. University of Maryland Capital Region Health, Maryland, USA

High-dose steroids for the treatment of severe COVID-19 pneumonia: the need of the hour?

To the Editor

Ever since the results of the RECOVERY trial [1] were made public, steroids became the mainstay of the treatment of patients with moderate to severe COVID-19 pneumonia needing oxygen support. As the pandemic progressed and patients with moderate to severe disease requiring oxygen were treated with 6 mg dexamethasone for 10 days, it soon came to light that the recommended dose did not show a significant mortality benefit. In clinical practice, high-dose steroids are used in disease processes involving high inflammatory activity such as auto-immune diseases, septic shock unresponsive to fluid resuscitation and vasopressors, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) exacerbation, severe asthma, and allergy. Therefore, to consider high-dose steroids for the management of severe COVID-19 pneumonia is not a novel concept.

Edara *et al.* [2] published a case series where they treated two patients who were deteriorating on conventional regimen of steroid therapy with high doses of methylprednisolone reaching up to 500–750 mg/day and reported a positive outcome. So *et al.* [3] treated seven patients with COVID-19 intubated secondary to acute respiratory distress syndrome with high-dose methylprednisolone 500–1000 mg/day and reported a positive recovery in all seven patients. A study from Iran [4] randomised sixty-eight hospitalised patients with confirmed severe COVID-19 into two groups with a ratio of 1:1, with one group receiving standard care with the addition of methylprednisolone pulse (intravenous injection, 250 mg/day⁻¹ for 3 days) and the second group receiving standard care alone (which included the conventional dose of the steroid). The number of patients with a clinical improvement was higher in the group receiving methylprednisolone pulse therapy as compared to the group receiving standard care (94.1% vs 57.1%), and the mortality rate was lower in the methylprednisolone group (5.9% vs 42.9%; p < 0.001). These studies, though not adequately powered, do raise a possibility of benefit to patients with severe disease when treated with high doses of steroid.

A question now arises on defining the subset of patients who would qualify for the high-dose steroid therapy. This query was answered by a recent study published by Spanish authors [5] to test whether high-dose corticosteroid pulse therapy (1.5 mg/kg/24h of methylprednisolone or dexamethasone equivalent) was associated with increased survival in Covid-19 patients at risk of hyper-inflammatory response. The group provided with the initial criteria using laboratory markers to stratify these patients. The parameters proposed were (IL-6 \geq 40 pg/mL, and/or two of the following: C-reactive protein $\geq 100 \text{ mg/L}$, D-dimer \geq 1000 ng/mL, ferritin \geq 500 ng/mL and lactate dehydrogenase \geq 300 U/L) and a positive outcome was noted in the subjects receiving the higher doses.

These are times where the scientific knowledge is being updated on a daily basis and guidelines are changing every day in the light of new evidence. Under such circumstances the sound data available showing a benefit of high-dose steroids in severe COVID-19 pneumonia and the

Address for correspondence: Abhishek Tandon, Department of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine. All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Jodhpur, India; e-mail: drabhishektandon07@gmail.com

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0084 | Received: 05.05.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

criteria where they should be instituted warrants further investigation in the form of adequately powered randomised control trials to answer this new but pressing question — is this the need of the hour?

Conflict of interest

None declared.

References:

 Horby P, Lim WS, Emberson JR, et al. RECOVERY Collaborative Group. Dexamethasone in hospitalized patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med. 2021; 384(8): 693–704, doi: <u>10.1056/</u> <u>NEJMoa2021436</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32678530</u>.

- Edara L, Suvvari TK, Kutikuppala LV. High dose steroid therapy to prevent severe hypoxia in COVID-19 patients: A potential solution for low resource clinical setting. Cureus. 2020; 12(12): e12330, doi: <u>10.7759/cureus.12330</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33520528</u>.
- So C, Ro S, Murakami M, et al. High-dose, short-term corticosteroids for ARDS caused by COVID-19: a case series. Respirol Case Rep. 2020; 8(6): e00596, doi: <u>10.1002/rcr2.596</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32514354</u>.
- Edalatifard M, Akhtari M, Salehi M, et al. Intravenous methylprednisolone pulse as a treatment for hospitalised severe COVID-19 patients: results from a randomised controlled clinical trial. Eur Respir J. 2020; 56(6), doi: 10.1183/13993003.02808-2020, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32943404</u>.
- López Zúñiga MÁ, Moreno-Moral A, Ocaña-Granados A, et al. High-dose corticosteroid pulse therapy increases the survival rate in COVID-19 patients at risk of hyper-inflammatory response. PLoS One. 2021; 16(1): e0243964, doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0243964</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33507958</u>.

Sahaj Rathi¹, Pranav Ish², Ashwini Kalantri³, Shriprakash Kalantri³

¹Post Graduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India ²Vardhman Mahavir Medical College&Safdarjung Hospital, New Delhi, India ³Mahatma Gandhi Institue of Medical Sciences, Sevagram, Maharasthra, India

Inhaled budesonide for mild COVID-19. Is there more to it than just airways?

To the Editor

As healthcare systems in many countries buckle under the immense pressure of rising COVID cases, a drug which can reduce emergency visits would be a huge boon. The results of the STOIC trial, therefore, are very uplifting [1]. Inhaled budesonide, a safe and simple intervention, seems to reduce hospital visits by almost 90% among mild COVID cases. None of the published, peer-reviewed trials have yet shown tangible benefits for this endpoint. In fact, seldom do therapeutic strategies show an effect size of this magnitude [2].

Therefore, it is only prudent to examine the data closely — is the effect of budesonide limited to reduction in emergency visits, or does it alter pathobiology of disease progression. Although the study excluded patients with recent use of inhaled or systemic glucocorticoids, there was a 15% prevalence of current or past asthma in both groups. Viral infections are known triggers of asthma, as acknowledged by the authors, which may present as worsening breathlessness leading to emergency visit. It is possible that it is only reversing the airway hyperreactivity in those already at risk, and not altering COVID pathophysiology. It would be interesting to know if the difference in outcomes is being disproportionately driven by this subset.

Patients in the treatment arm showed faster improvement in systemic symptoms, and lower antipyretic requirement. However, the biological

plausibility of this effect is unclear. Systemic effects of 800 μ g of inhaled budesonide are minimal, and it would be unusual to expect reduction in systemic inflammation. Unfortunately, the study did not collect data on inflammatory markers to explore this aspect. Moreover, the difference in respiratory symptom scores is not significant, while the difference in systemic symptom scores is. Also, the faster clinical recovery in the budesonide group plateaued after day-14, and the perceived difference in clinical recovery remained the same until day-28. Possibly there may be a bias in self-reporting due to the non-placebo-controlled nature of the study. Above all, the decision to terminate the trial early despite such a small number of events (3 in the treatment group vs 11 in the control group) raises strong concerns of chance association.

The situation of a COVID physician is no better than that of Coleridge's Mariner [3] — surrounded by a sea of over 100,000 studies, 100 clinical trials, and few dozen treatment options — yet only one or two drugs actually changing clinical outcomes [4]. In this situation, a 90% reduction in emergency visits is by itself an unparalleled feat. Such magnitude of effect is not seen with any other treatment, and the work of the authors is laudable. However, understanding exactly what drives this phenomenon is of utmost importance.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

Address for correspondence: Sahaj Rathi, Post Graduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh, India; e-mail: sahajrathi@gmail.com

D0I: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0082 | Received: 06.05.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

References:

- Ramakrishnan S, Nicolau D, Langford B, et al. Inhaled budesonide in the treatment of early COVID-19 (STOIC): a phase 2, open-label, randomised controlled trial. The Lancet Respiratory Medicine. 2021; 9(7): 763–772, doi: <u>10.1016/</u> <u>s2213-2600(21)00160-0</u>.
- 2. Rothwell JC, Julious SA, Cooper CL. A study of target effect sizes in randomised controlled trials published in the Health

Technology Assessment journal. Trials. 2018; 19(1): 544, doi: 10.1186/s13063-018-2886-y, indexed in Pubmed: 30305146.

- The Rime of the Ancient Mariner (text of 1834). <u>https://www.poetryfoundation.org/poems/43997/the-rime-of-the-ancient-mariner-text-of-1834</u> (May 5, 2021).
- Siemieniuk RAc, Bartoszko JJ, Ge L, et al. Drug treatments for covid-19: living systematic review and network meta-analysis. BMJ. 2020; 370: m2980, doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.m2980</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32732190</u>.

Airway management in personal protective equipment conditions

Zubaid Rafique¹, Luiza Szarpak², Francesco Chirico^{3, 4}, Łukasz Szarpak^{5, 6}

¹Henry JN Taub Department of Emergency Medicine, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

³Post-graduate School of Occupational Health, Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, Roma, Italia

⁵Institute of Outcomes Research, Maria Sklodowska-Curie Medical Academy, Warsaw, Poland

⁶Maria Skłodowska-Curie Białystok Oncology Center, Białystok, Poland

To the Editor

Airway management is one of the key skills that medical personnel should master, especially by emergency medical service teams. As shown by many studies, the effectiveness of endotracheal intubation in emergency medicine conditions is insufficient, ranging from 57.6% to 89.9% [1, 2]. However, in the situation of the current SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, medical personnel should treat each patient in pre-hospital conditions as a potentially infected patient, therefore they should perform medical procedures wearing personal protective equipment (PPE) for aerosol generating procedures (AGPs) [3, 4].

It is problematic that PPE-AGP, by limiting movement and visibility, may reduce the effectiveness of individual medical procedures and extend their time [5]. Maslanaka et al. in his meta-analysis he showed that anaesthesiologists wearing PPE-AGP could intubate patients more efficiently with the AirTraq videolaryngoscope compared to the Macintosh laryngoscope (85.6% vs 68.4%; p = 0.006) [6]. However, because of the lack of commonly available videolaryngoscopes in prehospital care conditions, alternative methods of securing the airways to direct laryngoscopy, including new types of laryngoscopes (i.e. Vie Scope®, or the use of supraglottic ventilation devices), are worth considering [7].

Ladny *et al.* stated in his study that blind intubation is highly effective when using the iGel mask and the laryngeal mask, as a guide for the endotracheal tube [8]. Therefore, it is worth considering this method of intubation in the conditions of using PPE-AGP because it does not require such specialized skills as direct laryngoscopy from the operator. Nevertheless, it is necessary to conduct a study confirming the usefulness of this method of endotracheal intubation in the aspect of patients with suspected SARS-CoV-2.

In summary, thanks to the development of medical technology, there is a wide range of respiratory protection methods alternative to direct laryngoscopy, which medical personnel should use when securing a patient with suspected or confirmed SARS-CoV-2.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

References:

- Sakles JC, Mosier JM, Patanwala AE, et al. The Utility of the C-MAC as a Direct Laryngoscope for Intubation in the Emergency Department. J Emerg Med. 2016; 51(4): 349–357, doi: <u>10.1016/j.jemermed.2016.05.039</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>27471132</u>.
- Mallick T, Verma A, Jaiswal S, et al. Comparison of the time to successful endotracheal intubation using the Macintosh laryngoscope or KingVision video laryngoscope in the emergency department: A prospective observational study. Turk J Emerg Med. 2020; 20(1): 22–27, doi: <u>10.4103/2452-2473.276381</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32355898</u>.
- Dzieciatkowski T, Szarpak L, Filipiak KJ, et al. COVID-19 challenge for modern medicine. Cardiol J. 2020; 27(2): 175–183, doi: 10.5603/CJ.a2020.0055, indexed in Pubmed: 32286679.
- Chirico F, Nucera G, Sacco A, et al. Proper respirators use is crucial for protecting both emergency first aid responder and casualty from COVID-19 and airborne-transmitted infections. Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89(1): 99–100, doi: <u>10.5603/ARM.</u> <u>a2021.0028</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33660253</u>.
- Malysz M, Dabrowski M, Böttiger BW, et al. Resuscitation of the patient with suspected/confirmed COVID-19 when wearing personal protective equipment: A randomized multicenter crossover simulation trial. Cardiol J. 2020; 27(5): 497–506, doi: <u>10.5603/CJ.a2020.0068</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32419128</u>.
- Maslanka M, Smereka J, Pruc M, et al. Airtraq® versus Macintosh laryngoscope for airway management during general anesthesia: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Disaster and Emergency Medicine Journal. 2021, doi: <u>10.5603/demj.a2021.0001</u>.

Address for correspondence: Łukasz Szarpak, Maria Skłodowska-Curie Medical Academy in Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland; e-mail: lukasz.szarpak@gmail.com

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0078 | Received: 02.06.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

²Institute of Outcomes Research, Polonia University, Częstochowa, Poland

⁴Health Service Department, Italian State Police, Ministry of the Interior, Milano, Italy

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

- Maslanka M, Smereka J, Czyzewski L, et al. VieScope® laryngoscope versus Macintosh laryngoscope during difficult intubation performed by paramedics: a randomized cross-over manikin trial. Disaster and Emergency Medicine Journal. 2020, doi: 10.5603/demj.a2020.0031.
- Ladny JR, Bielski K, Szarpak L, et al. Are nurses able to perform blind intubation? Randomized comparison of I-gel and laryngeal mask airway. Am J Emerg Med. 2017; 35(5): 786–787, doi: <u>10.1016/j.ajem.2016.11.046</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>27899211</u>.